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1. GLOSSARY OF GENERAL TERMS  
 
In this Listing Statement, the following terms shall have the meaning ascribed thereto as set out below: 

"ABCA" means the Business Corporations Act (Alberta), R.S.A. 2000, c. B-9, including the regulations 
promulgated thereunder, as amended from time to time; 

"affiliate" means an affiliated body corporate within the meaning of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta);  

"business day" means a day other than a Saturday or Sunday on which the principal commercial banks located in 
Denver, Colorado are open for business during normal banking hours; 

"CBD" means cannabidiol, the main non-psychoactive constituent of the cannabis plant, "CBD Infused" means 
products infused with CBD for medical, therapeutic or recreation adult use that are intended for use or consumption 
by means other than smoking, including but not limited to edible products, topical agents, dietary supplements, 
cosmetics, tinctures, vaporizers, drink additives and baking items and sweeteners; 

"Common Shares" means common shares in the capital of the Company; 

"Company" means International Cannabrands Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of 
Alberta, together with its subsidiaries as the context may require; 

"Company's Financial Statements" means the audited financial statements of the Company as at and for the years 
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, consisting of Statements of Financial Position, Statements of Comprehensive 
Loss, Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, Statements of Cash Flows and all notes thereto; 

"CSE" or "Exchange" means the Canadian Securities Exchange 

“DropLeaf” means DropLeaf, LLC, a limited liability company formed under the laws of the State of Nevada, 
which subsequently underwent a merger and conversion in connection with the Transaction; 

"FinCEN" means the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, a bureau of the United States Department of the 
Treasury that collects and analyzes information about financial transactions in order to combat domestic and 
international money laundering, terrorist financing and other financial crimes; 

"FINRA" means the Financial Industry Regulation Authority, a private corporation that acts as a self-regulatory 
organization (SRO). FINRA is the successor to the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (NASD) and the 
member regulation, enforcement and arbitration operations of the New York Stock Exchange; 

"Foreign Private Issuer" means “foreign private issuer” as defined in Rule 3b-4 under the U.S. Securities Act; 

"IFRS" means International Financial Reporting Standards, being the International Financial Reporting Standards of 
accounting, applicable as at the date on which such calculation is made or required to be made in accordance with 
such standards;  

"Listing Statement" means the filing statement prepared by the Company as at and for the year ended December 
31, 2019; 

"LVV Acquisition" means the acquisition by the Company of 51% of La Vida Verde, Inc. pursuant to the terms of a 
Purchase and Sale Agreement dated September 19, 2018;  

"person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, unincorporated syndicate, unincorporated organization, 
trust, trustee, executor, administrator or other legal representative; 

"Preferred Shares" means Series A Convertible Preferred Shares in the capital of the Company;  
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"SEC" means the U.S. Securities Exchange Commission, an independent agency of the United States federal 
government that is primarily responsible for enforcing federal securities laws, proposing securities rules, and 
regulating the securities industry, the nation's stock and options exchanges, and other activities and organizations, 
including the electronic securities markets in the United States; 

"THC" means Tetrahydrocannabinol, the main psychoactive constituent of the cannabis plant; and 

"U.S. Securities Act" means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

CAUTION REGARDING BUSINESS 

This Listing Statement relates to the securities of an entity that currently derives all of its revenues from the cannabis 
industry in certain U.S. states, which industry is illegal under U.S. federal law.  In accordance with the Canadian 
Securities Administrators Staff Notice 51-352 (Revised) dated February 8, 2018 – Issuers with U.S. Marijuana-
Related Activities (“CSA Notice 51-352”), this Listing Statement contains a brief summary of the Company’s 
cannabis activity in the United States and a discussion of the U.S. regulatory regime. See “CAUTION REGARDING 
BUSINESS” herein.  See "Risk Factors": "United States" and "Regulatory Scrutiny of Company's Interests in the 
United States" and " Risks Associated with Numerous Laws and Regulations." 

There are a number of risks associated with the business of the Company.  See section entitled “Risk Factors” for a 
detailed list of all relevant risk factors, including “Our business is dependent on laws pertaining to the marijuana 
industry,” “Marijuana remains illegal under Federal law,” “The Company has a limited operating history and 
operates in a relatively new industry”, “The success of the Company’s products is uncertain,” “The Company 
currently depends primarily on a limited number of brands for its revenue,” “The Company’s ability to manage 
growth is currently limited,” “The Company relies on key personnel,” and “The Company has a history of operating 
losses.” 

 

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS AND CURRENCY 

Forward Looking Statements 

This Listing Statement contains forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking statements and 
information can be identified by the use of words such as "plans", "expects" or "does not expect", "is expected", 
"estimates", "intends", "anticipates" or "does not anticipate", or "believes", or variations of such words and phrases 
or state that certain actions, events or results "may", "could", "would", "might" or "will" be taken, occur or be 
achieved.  Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which 
may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any 
future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Actual results 
and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or implied by the forward-
looking statements contained in this Listing Statement. Such forward-looking statements are based on a number of 
assumptions which may prove to be incorrect.  

Forward-looking statements and information in this Listing Statement include, but are not limited to, statements with 
respect to:  

 the ability of the Company to raise additional capital on acceptable terms or obtain required levels of 
revenue to sustain its business; 

 the business strategy of the Company; 

 expectations regarding the continued growth of the adult-use marijuana industry;  

 expectations regarding the continued trend towards legalization of marijuana in various jurisdictions;  

 expectations regarding the continued growth of the CBD products market; 
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 the positive impact on and the growth of our branded products; and 

 our plans to retain and recruit additional key personnel, consultants and service providers. 

Various assumptions are typically applied in drawing conclusions or making the forecasts or projections set out in 
forward-looking information. Those assumptions are based on information currently available to the Company, 
including information obtained by the Company from third-party sources. In some instances, material assumptions 
are presented or discussed elsewhere in this Listing Statement in connection with the forward-looking information. 
the Company cautions you that the following list of material assumptions is not exhaustive. The assumptions 
include, but are not limited to: 

 the availability of capital to fund planned growth and expenditures; 

 prevailing regulatory and tax laws and regulations; 

 the ability to secure necessary personnel, equipment and services; and 

 assumptions relating to the anticipated and unanticipated costs of the business of the Company. 

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements and information 
are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. the Company cannot 
guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. Consequently, there is no representation by 
the Company that actual results achieved will be the same in whole or in part as those set out in the forward-looking 
statements and information. Some of the risks and other factors, some of which are beyond the control of the 
Company which could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements and 
information contained in this Listing Statement are disclosed above and under the heading, "Risk Factors".  

Actual results, performance or achievement could differ materially from the forward-looking information expressed 
herein. While the Company anticipates that subsequent events and developments may cause its views to change, the 
Company specifically disclaims any obligation to update these forward-looking statements except as required by 
applicable securities laws. These forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing the 
Company's views as of any date subsequent to the date of this Listing Statement. Although the Company has 
attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or results to differ materially from 
those described in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause actions, events or results not to 
be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that forward-looking statements will prove to be 
accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. 
Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The factors identified above 
are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors that could affect the Company.  

The forward looking statements contained in this Listing Statement are expressly qualified by this cautionary 
statement. Forward-looking statements are made based on management's beliefs, estimates and opinions on the date 
the statements are made and, except as required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise 
publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, after 
the date on which the statements are made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Readers are cautioned 
against attributing undue certainty to, and placing undue reliance on, forward-looking statements. 

Currency:  The Company reports its financial statements in United States dollars. 

2. CORPORATE STRUCTURE 
 
Name and Address 

The Company name is currently International Cannabrands Inc., dba Radiko Holdings.  The Company intends to 
change its name to Radiko Holdings Inc. at its next annual general meeting to be held June 29, 2020.  Its head office 
is located at 12655 W Jefferson Blvd, Los Angeles, CA, 90066.  The registered and records office is located at 1250, 
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639 – 5 Avenue SW, Calgary, AB T2P 0M9.  The Company is a reporting issuer in the provinces of Alberta, British 
Columbia and Ontario and the Common Shares are listed for trading on the CSE under trading symbol "RDKO".  

The Company was originally incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) as Gold Ridge Exploration 
Corp. on May 3, 2011. On September 20, 2011, the Company amended its Articles of Incorporation to remove the 
private company restrictions from its articles. On November 2, 2011, the Company became extra provincially 
registered in the Province of British Columbia under the assumed name "Gold Ridge Hill Resources Ltd."  On 
August 8, 2016, the Company amended its Articles to consolidate its common shares on a 1:5 basis and change its 
name to GEA Technologies Ltd. On September 20, 2017, the Company amended its Articles to create the class of 
Preferred Shares and on November 22, 2017, the Company amended its Articles to change its name to “International 
Cannabrands Inc.” 

On September 21, 2017, the Company completed a reverse acquisition with DropLeaf, a private limited liability 
company formed under the laws of Nevada, which was effected pursuant to share exchange agreement entered into 
between the Company, DropLeaf LLC and the members of DropLeaf LLC. Pursuant to the share exchange 
agreement, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of DropLeaf (the "Transaction").  As part 
of the Transaction DropLeaf LLC underwent a merger and conversion to become International Cannabrands Ltd. 
and changed its name to Radiko, Inc. on April 22, 2020 ("Radiko Sub").   

Intercorporate Relationships 

The Company currently has six wholly owned subsidiaries:  (1) ICL Finance Inc., an Alberta corporation formed 
November 8, 2018; (2) LVV Holding Company Ltd., a Nevada corporation formed on September 19, 2018; (3) 
Radiko, Inc., a Nevada corporation formed from Articles of Merger and Conversion on September 21, 2017; (4) 
Radiko Holdings, Inc., a Nevada corporation formed April 24, 2020; (5) RDKO Nevada, Inc., a Nevada corporation 
formed on May 8, 2020; and (6) Flora Wellness, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, formed December 
12, 2019.  The Company also has one 51% owned subsidiary, La Vida Verde, Inc., a California corporation formed 
from Articles of Incorporation and Conversion on December 7, 2017.   

The chart below represents the corporate structure of the Company.  
 



6 

 

 

 

Fundamental Change or Proposed Acquisition 

None. 

3. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 
 
History 

International Cannabrands Inc. (the "Company") is a public company that has been listed on the CSE since 
September 2017 and trades under the symbol "RDKO".  Prior thereto the common shares were listed on the NEX 
Board of the TSX Venture Exchange. Below is a summary of historical events that have shaped the Company.   

The Company became a reporting issuer in the Provinces of Alberta and British Columbia and Alberta by virtue of 
filing a prospectus dated February 27, 2012, as amended, in connection with an initial public offering. The principal 
business of the Company from its incorporation in 2011 to 2013 was ownership of mining leases to potentially 
become a mining exploration company. In July 2013, the Company acquired an interest in oil and gas assets. In 
2016, the Company identified a potential opportunity in wireless technology.   

On June 21, 2017, the Company entered into a share exchange agreement to acquire DropLeaf, a limited liability 
company governed by the laws of Nevada, which is the genesis of the Company’s current business. DropLeaf had 
raised approximately $1,350,000 in a number of private equity financings which has been used to establish the initial 
sales, marketing and advertising strategies, protect intellectual property (such as trademarks) and establish 
DropLeaf’s operations in Denver. The parties to the Transaction were at arm’s length to one another. The 
Transaction constituted a reverse take-over under applicable securities laws.  The transaction closed September 21, 
2017.  The common shares of the Company were listed and posted for trading on the CSE September 25, 2017, and 
as a result the Company also became a reporting issuer in Ontario.  Immediately after the completion of the 
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Transaction, on a non-diluted basis, the former holders of DropLeaf owned a combination of common shares and 
Preferred Shares that together represented approximately 95% of the shares of the Company. The existing holders of 
the Company owned 5% of the Company. A deemed value of $0.06 per share was placed on the common shares 
issued in connection with the transaction, resulting in total consideration paid to the holders of DropLeaf Shares of 
approximately US$10 million.  

DropLeaf had the exclusive rights to grant licenses to producers and processors to develop branded strains of 
cannabis, infused and edible cannabis consumables, as well as ancillary products under the Julian Marley, JuJu 
Royal™ brand.  In November 2014, DropLeaf began licensing growers, oil extractors, vape manufacturers, edible 
manufacturers and merchandise companies to produce products bearing the trademark Julian Marley, JuJu Royal. 
These early agreements were structured with an initial upfront licensing fee and ongoing royalty payments. The 
initial business model did not gain the desired traction and did not generate sufficient revenues.  In 2018, the 
Company shifted to its business model to directly engage third party licensed cultivators (to grow four signature 
strains), oil extractors, vape manufacturers, edible manufacturers and merchandise companies to produce and 
distribute products on its behalf bearing the trademark Julian Marley JuJu Royal in the U.S. where cannabis has 
been legalized at the state level, as well as products containing cannabidiol (CBD) (a non-psychoactive chemical 
compound found in cannabis) in the U.S. and internationally. On September 18, 2019, the Company determined to 
cease any further funding for the development of the Julian Marley JuJu Royal brand and the license was terminated 
on October 5, 2019.  

On July 16, 2018, The Company hired a new CEO, Steve Gormley and a strategic and financial advisor, Neal 
Pomroy, with a view to implementing a new business strategy for the growth of the Company.  In August 2018, the 
Board of Directors formally approved a strategy with the following three elements: 

• aggregating emerging brands who sell consumer packaged goods in the cannabis industry, 

• identifying and acquiring regional distribution companies, and  

• acquiring select, highly profitable value chain investments, including modest-size cultivation and/or 
manufacturing and distribution businesses.  

Effective August 29, 2018, the Company made its first investment in a value chain investment in the Washington 
cannabis sector with its investment of $500,000 or 20.6% in Riotus Sodo LLC, a series LLC structured to provide 
services for cannabis cultivation in Washington State. 

In the first nine months of 2018, the Company completed non-brokered private placements and issued an aggregate 
of 6,993,529 common shares and 3,496,758 warrants for gross proceeds of $909,159; issued 808,708 common 
shares pursuant to the exercise of warrants at a price of Cdn$0.18 per share for gross proceeds of $145,567.44; and 
issued an aggregate of 48,161,890 units consisting of common shares and warrants at prices ranging from $0.10 to 
$0.21 for aggregate gross proceeds of $3,519,828. 

On September 19, 2018, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement to acquire a controlling interest in 
La Vida Verde, Inc., a corporation existing under the laws of the State of California ("LVV").  The transaction 
closed on January 3, 2019.  See "Significant Acquisitions or Dispositions".   

The Company entered into a non-binding agreement dated August 8, 2018, with for a draw-down equity facility of 
up to CDN$10,000,000 over a term of 24 months with Alumina Partners LLC, a New York based private equity 
firm. The Company utilized this facility in August 2018, issuing an aggregate of 23,454,886 common shares and 
11,727,442 warrants for gross proceeds of CN$1,450,000; in April 2019, issuing an aggregate of 3,174,603 common 
shares and 3,174,603 warrants for gross proceeds of CN$250,000; and in August 2019, issuing an aggregate of 
2,000,000 common shares and 2,000,000 warrants for gross proceeds of CN$100,000.  The agreement was 
terminated in November 2019. 

In September 2018, the Company restructured its share capital which resulted in the conversion of all the 
outstanding preferred share class and the cancellation of both common and preferred shares representing an 
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aggregate of 115,766,613 voting shares.  The Company’s stock trading symbol was changed from “JUJU.A” to 
“JUJU” reflecting the cancellation of the class of preferred shares. 

Following an acceleration notice, on October 29, 2018, the Company issued 7,780,000 common shares pursuant to 
the exercise of warrants at a price of Cdn$0.10 per share for gross proceeds of Cdn$778,000, and 500,000 common 
shares pursuant to the exercise of warrants at a price of Cdn$0.08 for proceeds of Cdn$40,000.  

In October 2018, the Company announced a brokered financing co-led by Gravitas Securities Inc. and Canaccord 
Genuity Corp., and despite tough market conditions, successfully closed on a number of private placements in 
December 2018 (Cdn$1.7 million) and January 2019 (Cdn$3.1 million) for aggregate proceeds of approximately 
Cdn$4.8 million. 

In May 2019, the Company raised an aggregate of Cdn$784,531 through a series of non-brokered private placements 
and in connection with the exercise of warrants. The Company issued an aggregate of 5,079,365 common shares at a 
price of $0.07875 per share, 1,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.08 and an aggregate of 3,867,064 units at a 
price of $0.07875 consisting of 3,867,064 common shares and 3,768,253 share purchase warrants. Each warrant 
entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of $0.13125 per share for a period of 2 years, subject to 
the ability of the Company to accelerate the expiry date to 30 days should the common shares trade at $0.2625 for 
10 consecutive trading days following expiry of the hold period.  During July and August, the Company raised an 
aggregate of CN$362,500 through two non-brokered private placements. The Company issued an aggregate of 
5,252,000 common shares at a price of $0.06 per share, and an aggregate of 2,000,000 units at a price of CN$0.05 
consisting of 2,000,000 common shares and 2,000,000 share purchase warrants. Each warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase one common share at a price of CN$0.05 per share for a period of 5 years. 

On July 11, 2019, the Company announced that it had entered into an engagement letter with Gravitas Securities Inc. 
and Canaccord Genuity Corp. to act as agents, on a commercially reasonable “best efforts” agency basis, to offer for 
sale unsecured convertible debentures of the Company to raise gross proceeds of up to CN$5 million.  The Company 
determined not to proceed with the offering and it was formally cancelled in November 2019. 

On July 26, 2019, the Company announced it entered into a binding letter agreement with Sea Otter Global 
Ventures, LLC (“Sea Otter”) whereby Sea Otter has agreed to fund up to CN$6,250,000 by way of an ongoing share 
purchase commitment in tranches of CN$100,000 up to CN$250,000 over a period of 24 months.  The Issuer agreed 
to file a short form shelf prospectus in order to qualify the distribution of the securities issuable to Sea Otter, which 
will be priced in the context of the market and at discounts permitted under the rules of the Canadian Securities 
Exchange. The Company issued a combination of common shares and warrants as consideration for providing the 
equity line of credit consisting of 3,500,000 common shares and 200,000 warrants.  Each warrant entitles the holder 
to purchase one additional common share for a period of 2 years at a price of CN$0.072 per share. The Company 
determined not to proceed with the equity line of credit and it was formally cancelled in November 2019. 

In September 2019, and November 2019, the Company received default notices from the founding shareholders of 
LVV relating to the promissory notes due March 31, 2019, and October 31, 2019, and that, the Company’s interest 
in LVV had been reduced below 51%. The Company’s position, which had been communicated to LVV, was that 
the attempted seizure of the shares of LVV by the LVV stockholders was not supported by law.  Of the $2 million in 
promissory notes the Company had paid $800,000.  In addition, the Company had not paid the remaining working 
capital contribution of $650,000.  The Company followed with an announcement that given the disappointing results 
for LVV, that the Company must restructure the LVV acquisition and re-price the transaction so that the cost to the 
Company was more in line with the financial performance LVV to date. On November 26, 2019, the Company filed 
A Complaint for Compensatory and Punitive Damages in the United States Court, Northern District of California. 
The Company sought $5 million from the stockholders of LVV, relief from any more amounts due and return of 
LVV stock. The Company sought a judicial declaration stating that what the Company has paid to date for its 51% 
interest in LVV is more than sufficient.  The shareholders of LVV filed their own law suit claiming the amounts 
owed to them.  See details below regarding settlement of this legal dispute.    

In November the Completed a non-brokered private placement of 7,920,000 units at a price of CDN $0.05 per unit 
for gross proceeds of US $300,000, with each unit consisting of one common share and one share purchase warrant. 
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Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire a common share at a price of $0.05 per share for a period of 5 years.  On 
November 4, 2019, the Company changed its ticker symbol from “JUJU” to “INCB”.   

In February 2020, the Company announced the official launch of its newly developed CBD brand ‘Baseline’ and 
related direct-to-consumer ecommerce store. 

The Company changed its symbol again to its current symbol “RDKO” in April 2020, in connection with the 
rebranding initiative and commenced doing business as Radiko Holdings. 

On April 22, 2020, the Company announced the settlement and withdrawal of the respective legal actions between 
the Company and LVV.  The settlement agreement dated April 21, 2020, provided for the rescission of the 
September 19, 2018, agreement and defined the path forward for the two companies. The Company’s 51% 
ownership interest of LVV was confirmed and the Company renewed its commitment to invest a total of 
US$700,000 in the capital of LVV (the “Capital Investment”) over the course of the next several months, with the 
final payment US$300,000 to be made by September 30, 2020.  In lieu of the outstanding notes of US$1.2 million 
due to LVV shareholders, the shareholders of LVV agreed to an earnout, and will obtain this compensation as a 
percentage of LVV's future earnings as cash flow permits.  As security for the payment of the Capital Investment, 
the Company agreed to pledge approximately 16% of shares it hold in LVV.   

On April 24, 2020, the Company posted Notice of its Annual General and Special Meeting on SEDAR with the 
Meeting to be held June 29, 2020, with a record date of May 20, 2020.   

During the period January 1, 2020, to June 30, 2020, the Company raised an aggregate of Cdn$921,000 through the 
issuance of promissory notes (Cdn$327,000) and non-brokered private placements (Cdn$594,000). The Company 
issued three promissory notes as follows:  (i) US$25,000 bearing in interest at 15% per annum and due December 
31, 2024; (ii) US$200,000 due July 6, 2020, and bearing interest at 15% per annum; (iii) Cdn$30,000 due December 
31, 2021, and bearing interest at 15%, with interest payable quarterly commencing  January 31, 2021.  The 
Company issued an aggregate of 11,880,000 units at a price of $0.05 consisting of 11,880,000 common shares and 
11,880,000 share purchase warrants. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of 
$0.05 per share for a period of 5 years from the date of issue.  In addition, the Company issued an aggregate of 
44,040,000 common shares and 1,260,000 share purchase warrants in a number of transactions for non-cash 
consideration.  Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of $0.05 per share for a 
period of 5 years from the date of issue.  See also details below regarding common shares issued in connection with 
acquisitions. 

On May 11, 2020, the Company completed its transaction announced on February 13, 2020, with BioNeva 
Innovations of Carson City, LLC (“BioNeva”), Sierra Superfoods, LLC (“Sierra”) and DB3 Management, LLC 
(“DB3”).  The Company acquired Sierra and DB3, as well as the right to acquire BioNeva.  The Company issued an 
aggregate of 28,805,833 common shares and obtained a vendor take-back loan with a principal amount of US$3.25 
million (the "VTB Loan"). The VTB Loan bears interest at the rate of 5% per annum and the principal amount is 
payable in a lump sum payment due on December 31, 2024. The VTB is secured by a pledge of the various LLC 
interests acquired.  There are no principal or interest payments on the VTB Loan for the first two years, after which 
point interest only is payable quarterly through the issuance of common shares of the Company at a price equal to 
the volume-weighted average closing price of the common shares for the 20 trading days prior to each quarterly 
interest payment date.  The Nevada Department of Taxation, the entity that regulates the cannabis industry in 
Nevada, announced on October 17, 2019, that it had implemented an extended review process and that it would not 
be processing any existing or new applications that relate to the transfer of licenses and change of 
ownership/interests while the extended review is in place.  The acquisition of BioNeva will be completed as soon as 
practicable following termination of the extended review period.    

On May 19, 2020, the Company announced that LVV had entered into an agreement with the Company’s wholly 
owned subsidiary DB3 Management, LLC relating to the operation of the Carson City, Nevada cultivation (the 
“Facility”) effective immediately.  The agreement provides for a phased approach with LVV initially being 
responsible for sales of cultivated products beginning with the first harvest (currently underway). After the LVV 
team becomes more familiar with the operation, they will provide management consulting services in order to 
optimize production and operations, as well as oversight of genetic selection, marketing and branding of products, 



10 

 

 

and go-to-market strategy. The final phase is expected to see LVV assume full responsibility for the Facility in all 
aspects.  Additionally, on May 19, 2020, the Company completed the final piece of its acquisition of the Carson City 
cultivation, namely the land leased by the cultivation operations.  The Company entered into an agreement to 
purchase approximately one acre of land on which the cultivation operations reside, as well as a right of first refusal 
on an adjoining one acre parcel in Carson City, NV, that will provide the opportunity for further expansion of the 
operation as growth demands. The Company issued 17,727,866 common shares and agreed to pay US$150,000 in 
cash over six months starting July 15, 2020.  The common shares will remain in escrow until the final payment is 
received by the vendors. 

Significant Acquisitions or Dispositions 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the LVV Acquisition constituted a significant acquisition for the Company. 
On January 3, 2019, the Company acquired a 51% equity interest in LVV for $6 million (comprised of $3.0 million 
in common shares of the Company and $3 million in cash – paid by way of the issuance of promissory notes).  In 
addition, the Company agreed to invest $2 million of working capital into LVV. The capital investments in LVV 
supported an expansion of sales and operations staff, inventory required by rapid growth and to expand 
manufacturing capacity. The Company issued 25,225,161 Common Shares of the Company on January 3, 2019, at a 
price of Cdn$0.155 per share and issued promissory notes for an aggregate of $2,000,000 due as to 50% on March 
31, 2019 and October 31, 2019. The notes carried interest at a rate of 5% per annum and were secured by a pledge of 
a portion of the securities purchased. 

Trends 

While the use of cannabis appears to be substantially increasing at the state-legalized level in the United States, the 
status of Federal legalization of cannabis in remains uncertain. It is likely that the States which have legalized 
marijuana for medical and/or recreational uses will fight any prohibition on the production, sale and use of cannabis, 
as they are receiving significant amounts of tax revenue in connection with these activities. The rescission of the 
Cole Memorandum (as defined below) creates uncertainty to the market for the Company’s products.  

On December 20, 2018, the Agriculture Improvement Act of 2018 (the “2018 Farm Bill”) was passed into law.  
Marked as genuinely historic for the cannabis industry, the passing of the 2018 Farm Bill has removed all confusion 
associated with “industrial hemp”. While the Issuer has always utilized organically sourced US Dept. of Agriculture 
approved industrial hemp in its CBD products, on the date that the 2018 Farm Bill was signed into law, the FDA 
released a statement from then-Commissioner Scott Gottlieb reaffirming its position that products containing CBD 
may not be sold as food or dietary supplements. The FDA has issued similar statements from time to time, including 
most recently on March 5, 2020. The FDA’s position may create additional barriers to lawfully selling CBD and 
CBD-based products in the United States.   

The safety of CBD and cannabis related products will remain of paramount importance for the Company and will 
continue to be a focus for consumers and regulators alike. Regulation of the industry is expected to increase, 
including new regulations anticipated from the FDA. Despite these challenges and a general lack of access to 
banking, the cannabis industry has so far enjoyed access to capital markets. The situation is constantly evolving and 
there is a great degree of uncertainty over how matters will be settled, however, it is likely that these US states that 
have legalized cannabis will fight any prohibition on its use as they are receiving significant amounts of tax revenue 
from the sale of cannabis.  See “CAUTION REGARDING BUSINESS – United States Federal Overview.” 

4. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 
 
Overview  

The Company's head office is located at PO Box 13039, Des Moines WA 98198. The Company operates at Suite 
#04-131, 12655 W Jefferson Blvd, Los Angeles, CA. 90066.  Radiko is a hemp and cannabis focused brand 
portfolio, leveraging the potential of the plant by offering best of breed products that naturally complement today’s 
consumer lifestyles. The Company is focused on aggregating, building, and marketing a diversified portfolio of 
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CBD, hemp, and cannabis brands, with strategic manufacturing and distribution partnerships to support better 
EBITDA and margins. 

The THC portfolio currently comprises three brands: 

 La Vida Verde™ 

 Skunk Feather Cannabis™ 

 Blank Brand™ 

The CBD portfolio currently comprises of one brand: 

 Baseline 
 

The cultivation portfolio currently comprises of one licensed cultivator (BioNeva Innovations of Carson City, LLC 
(“BioNeva”) in Carson City, NV) managed by DB3 Management, LLC (“DB3”) and a management agreement held 
by DB3 to manage a licensed cultivator  in Washoe County, NV: 

 BioNeva  

 DB3 
 

The Company expects to develop additional CBD brand initiatives, including a potential collaboration with 
renowned Beverly Hills plastic surgeon and Radiko’s Chief Medical Officer, Dr. David Rosenberg. Currently in the 
R&D stage, this branded line would be developed specifically for outpatient cosmetic procedures.  

The Company additionally has interest in other supportive businesses in order to ensure supply-chain control, 
product consistency and to generate income. The Company negotiates transfer pricing between entities in order to 
optimize margins. Currently, the additional interest includes:  

 Riotus LLC – Series SODO – A Washington based entity of which we own 20.6% and that provides 
services to a cannabis cultivation operation. 
 

Radiko’s Strategy & Business Model 

The Company’s strategy centers on acquiring mid-size CBD, hemp, and cannabis (THC) brands, in addition to 
developing “in-house” CBD, hemp, and cannabis brands. The Company also looks to acquire interest in strategic 
manufacturing, distribution, and retail businesses in order to support better EBITDA, margins, and distribution for 
its brands. 

The Company's business model is to generate revenue from CBD, hemp, and cannabis brands (with products 
including flower, edibles, concentrates, supplements, and topicals), as well as strategic cultivation interests and 
ancillary products. The Company markets products with THC content where that practice has been legalized at the 
state level through either medicinal or full recreational use. The Company also markets products containing CBD in 
the U.S. The Company believes as the CBD, hemp, and legal cannabis markets evolve, high-quality, unique branded 
products will increasingly capture market share and provide a valuable platform for growth. 

The Company currently generates revenue through the sale of its branded products and expects to receive monthly 
disbursements from its investment in Riotus. 
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The Company is working with La Vida Verde to further develop and expand the La Vida Verde brands and pursue 
the other elements of its business strategy. Additionally, The Company is generating sales through its direct-to-
consumer CBD brand, Baseline. 

The Company acquired BioNeva and DB3 to expand its interest in ancillary businesses that ensure product quality, 
supply continuity, and development agility while providing better EBITDA margins for our brands. Profit from 
BioNeva’s cultivation and DB3 management agreement should show starting in Q3 2020. 

The Company currently derives, and expects to derive for the foreseeable future; all of its revenue from U.S. 
cannabis-related (CBD and THC) activities and so 100% of its balance sheet and operating statement are exposed to 
U.S. cannabis-related activities. See “U.S. Regulatory Overview and Risk”. 

The Company has identified the following objectives for the next twelve months, with an emphasis on its strategic 
direction of aggregating emerging CBD, hemp, and cannabis (THC) brands; developing “in-house” CBD, hemp, and 
cannabis brands; and acquiring interesting in select, supportive, highly profitable value chain investments: 

 Brand Development: Further develop and launch additional tightly targeted CBD and/or hemp brands with 
an emphasis on direct-to-consumer and mainstream retail friendly product offerings in Q3 & Q4 2020. 
Launching CBD product lines is much less capital intensive than launching THC lines. (THC is the core of 
La Vida Verde's business and management believes that further investing in La Vida Verde’s THC brands 
will become a priority in the coming quarters.)  

 Additional Acquisitions: The Company may acquire 1-2 operations to support brand growth, enhance 
margins and bolster cash flow. Targets include the addition of select cultivation (canopy ft2) and/or 
manufacturing and distribution capacity. The Company intends to increase control of product 
quality/testing seed-sale and add select new brands to fill out the product portfolio. 

 Realize the benefits from the Acquisition of 51% of La Vida Verde: This includes geographic expansion 
into southern California and Nevada, direct-to-consumer delivery and monetization of digital properties, 
development of distribution partnerships and multi-state sales through licensing. 

 Enter New Markets and Expand Existing THC Product Lines: Entering into additional distribution 
agreements will allow the Company to enter new markets and also offer new and innovative products in 
markets where it currently offers products. The Company sees an opportunity to expand each of the THC 
brands into newer and emerging US-based cannabis markets and expects that consumers in these emerging 
markets will respond to the broad appeal of Santa Cruz culture as captured by LVV. 

Addressable Market 

Cannabis (both THC and CBD) have broad appeal, and cannabis products speak to a range of consumers. 
Management believes that the counterculture, young adults over 21 years of age, college students, professionals, and 
socially conscious artists are the individuals dictating current trends, styles, and fads. The Company broadly targets 
these audiences and segments of Generation X (born between 1965 and 1976), Generation Y and Millennials (born 
between 1977 and 1995), and the originators of the counterculture movement; Baby Boomers (born between 1946 
and 1964). 

More specifically, the Company targets consumers who are willing to invest in health, wellness, and recreation. This 
audience deals with anxiety, stress, overwhelm, and associated ailments like depression and insomnia. They may 
also be dealing with age-related ailments and seeking ways to combat inflammation and pain. They may also view 
cannabis as a healthier alternative to alcohol and other recreational substances. They tend to be tech- and design-
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savvy and are highly engaged and loyal with the brands they love. They value their health and are seeking natural, 
non-pharma solutions. They have varying experience with cannabis but are generally curious about it, and whether 
or not they’ve tried it they’ve heard or read about it and want to know more. 

The Company must be proactive, using research and data, to anticipate future market changes. The current market 
and trends in this particular industry are inspired by styles and music that originate from the 60’s generation, current 
styles, fashion trends, art movements, environmental issues, human rights issues, and world politics. 

Hemp-Derived CBD 

The CBD and/or hemp market has seen exponential growth since the 2018 “Farm Bill” was passed. Legalization and 
regulations are still evolving, but currently CBD sourced from industrial hemp plants is legal in all 50 states, 
providing it contains less than 0.3% THC. These products can also be marketed and sold online and internationally, 
however, on the date that the 2018 Farm Bill was signed into law, the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) 
released a statement from then-Commissioner Scott Gottlieb reaffirming its position that products containing CBD 
may not be sold as food or dietary supplements, and the FDA has issued similar statements from time to time, 
including most recently on March 5, 2020. The FDA’s position may create additional barriers to lawfully selling 
CBD and CBD-based products in the United States.  See “RISK FACTORS – CAUTION REGARDING BUSINESS – 
United States Federal Overview – FDA Regulation” below. 

According to the Green Market Report1 (Sept 2019; which references a BDS Analytics report), 2018 CBD sales hit 
$1.9 billion. BDS predicts that these sales will grow 49% annually. The report went on to say, "Further, sales of 
hemp-derived CBD (as opposed to CBD from marijuana) in U.S. general retail stores are expected to make up $12.6 
billion of the $20 billion in CBD sales forecast for 2024." This is a big point – it shows that estimated 60% of hemp-
derived CBD will move through traditional retail vs. dispensaries and low volume specialty retailers. 

Additionally, according to a June 2019 article on The Motley Fool, 2014 global CBD sales were approximately $3.4 
billion. By 2018 that number was up to $11 billion. They also showed that year-over-year CBD product sales growth 
in the United States of 706% in 2019 to around $5 billion - not a typo - and sales of $23.7 billion by 2023. 
Comparatively, about $620 million worth of CBD products were sold last year in the United States (based on 706% 
growth to $5 billion). Growing CBD revenue from about $620 million in 2018 to $23.7 billion by 2023 works out to 
(drum roll) a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of a whopping 107%! 

BDS Analytics Consumer Insights research revealed: "That consumers primarily use CBD as a ‘natural' remedy for 
pain, stress, anxiety, and depression. Further, CBD consumers are divided 45% female, 55% male with an average 
age of 43, 40% are higher-educated and 50% are employed full-time." 

Cannabis (THC) 
 
The legal US cannabis market continues to grow rapidly. Eleven states and Washington, DC, have now legalized 
marijuana for recreational use for adults over 21, and 33 states have legalized medical marijuana. According to 
polls, 66% of Americans support making marijuana use legal2 and around 90% support for allowing medical 
marijuana3, 
 

                                                           

1 https://www.greenmarketreport.com/new-bds-analytics-report-forecasts-cbd-sales-to-reach-20-billion-by-2024/ 
2 https://news.gallup.com/poll/243908/two-three-americans-support-legalizing-marijuana.aspx 
3 https://poll.qu.edu/national/release-detail?ReleaseID=2453 
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From 2016 to present, cannabis has seen a 28% compound annual growth rate (CAGR). Growth estimates are 
materially increasing, and while the industry is currently valued at $9 billion that number will likely to grow to $100 
billion within coming years. Despite this momentum and growth, there remains a broad spread of expectations about 
how large the global and US cannabis market can become. The Company strongly believes that the US market potential 
is materially larger than many sources currently believe and that we will witness a number of upward revisions in the 
coming years.  

At the beginning of the year, ArcView Market Research released a report projecting global legal cannabis to grow to 
$57 billion by 2027 with North America representing growth from $9.2 billion in 2017 to $47.3 billion by 2027. 
New Frontier estimates US legal cannabis revenues as a $30.6 billion market by 2025 when likely new state entrants 
are included. A new set of high-profile financial institutions are now weighing in as well. The venerable Bernstein 
Research released a report this week with a $70 billion US cannabis market estimate which they then walk back, as 
the total “errs on the optimistic because per capital spending in legal states is driven by tourism”. They then 
randomly adjust their estimate down 43% to $40 billion to account for this affect and, in their opinion, no evidence 
of any impact on alcohol consumption! The global investment bank Credit Suisse reportedly has set a $96 billion US 
target. Obviously, there are numerous other sources as well. 

So in summary, we are seeing estimates of $30 billion to $100 billion for the US market over the coming decade. 
International Cannabrands believes these estimates may be understated by 100% and that the US market may exceed 
$100 billion to $150 billion over the coming years. As cannabis becomes mainstream, it is entering non-traditional 
categories from beauty products to beverages to supplements. The basis for our more aggressive market perspective 
is that research analysts are taking a too narrow view on how cannabis use may disrupt consumer product categories 
and growth and will: (1) replace more traditional pharmaceutical categories, (2) cannibalize alcohol sales and (3) 
grow faster amongst less recognized consumer segments such as women, professionals and the pre-
retirement/retired community. 
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Market Opportunity 

The Company believes the potential for market disruption and a much greater role for hemp-derived CBD and 
cannabis (both recreational and medical) supports a dramatically higher US market size perspective. How fast 
growth happens and how high it goes will be revealed over the coming years. We recognize that change or non-
change in US Federal regulations, new state adoptions, banking changes and other macro factors will have 
substantial impact on both size and speed of legal cannabis growth. However, we believe that ultimately the “green 
wave” that has been released in the US will wash over many obstacles and become a larger business than the current 
conservative estimates. 

In an article published in February 2020, Paul Demko of Politico wrote, "Marijuana has been classified as a 
Schedule 1 controlled substance since 1970, placing it alongside LSD and heroin as the most dangerous drugs. In a 
stark reversal from the War on Drugs waged for decades under Republican and Democratic administrations, 
presidential candidates are now embracing full legalization." 

In short, cannabis has surfaced as a major platform issue in this election, with nearly every democratic candidate 
calling for full federal legalization and expungement of past cannabis-related criminal convictions. As we move 
closer to federal acceptance in the US, companies that demonstrate strategic advantages will be well positioned for 
exponential growth. 

Cannabis and hemp research is under-developed, although this is rapidly being addressed through an increase in 
studies ranging from concussion protocols to oncology to Tourette’s syndrome to cardiac disease and others. There 
are a number of other large treatment categories that also may favor cannabis over traditional prescription 
alternatives. The University of Georgia conservatively estimates that cannabis may capture more than $4 billion of 
pharma sales in the interim term 

An article from Harvard medical school states, “The fact that opioid overdose deaths appear to be falling in states 
with medical marijuana laws complements this new research that suggests that fewer opiates are being prescribed.” 

The US “sleep market” is estimated to be worth $28.6 billion in 2017 and forecast to exceed $35 billion by 2023. 
The prescription brand giants – Ambien, Lunesta and Belsomra – are declining as they come off patent and are 
being replaced by cheaper generics and an explosion in over-the-counter solutions. The Center for Disease Control 
and Prevention estimates 4% of US adults use a prescription sleep aid with prescriptions topping $2.8 billion. 
IBISWorld estimates that in 2017, sleep labs generated $7.1 billion in revenue and is forecast to exceed $10 billion 
by 2020. Research to clinically establish the commonly held belief that THC/CBD and CBD only contributes to 
improved sleep are reportedly underway. 

In the US, estimates are that up to 40 million adults or 18% of the population suffers from an anxiety disorder. This 
total includes PTSD, OCD, panic disorders, social anxiety and phobias. The prescription drugs Paxil and Zoloft are 
the 7th and 8th most prescribed medications in the US. Similar to the pain and sleep categories, there are reportedly 
a number of cannabis-related studies planned to establish its potential role to alleviate symptoms for specific 
syndromes and consumers. 

These large markets hold real opportunity to alleviate issues for consumers and generate associated revenues. A 
recent report by Chicago-based High Yield Insights found that cannabis consumers used 27% less over the counter 
pain medications and 22% less sleep aids. 

Second, the impact of how alcohol consumption moderates after the introduction of legal cannabis is still in its early 
stages. As context, the US alcohol market is estimated at $231 billion in 2017. Obviously the substantial investment 
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by Constellation in Canopy Growth and reported options being considered by Diageo confirm that where “there’s 
smoke there may be fire”. The same High Yield report mentioned above noted cannabis consumers’ use 21% less 
alcohol spirits and 20% less beer versus states that have not legalized adult-use marijuana. A University of 
Connecticut study of medical marijuana counties in the years up to 2015 experienced a 12% reduction in alcohol 
consumption. While data and studies emerge, there is a commonsense basis that personal budget and recreational 
patterns may support the theory that cannabis use may reduce alcohol use. 

Third, new consumer segments are rapidly expanding. The recognition of CBD and THC/CBD as part of a “health 
and wellness” lifestyle is gaining traction. Millennials now exceed Baby Boomers as a percentage of the US 
population and more fully accept cannabis as a lifestyle alternative with 84% supporting legalization. As but one 
other example, BDS Analytics recently released a study revealing that 12% of consumers 50 years and older had 
used cannabis in the previous six months and that another 40% were considering it. The primary reasons were pain 
relief and to relax. Eighteen percent of respondents say they personally know someone who uses marijuana for 
medical purposes. “I’d say this is a tipping point for medical marijuana,” noted Alison Bryant, SVP of research at 
AARP in a recent article. “As more of a person’s acquaintances use it, it becomes more normalized.” 

Finally, the international legal cannabis market is expanding. Uruguay, Canada, South Africa and Israel are leading 
the way, and a number of countries in Europe and South America are not far behind. Currently hemp-derived CBD 
has few restrictions when being shipped from the US to other countries, typically as long as they’re extracted from 
industrial hemp and generally contain less than 0.2 percent THC, although some countries do still restrict it, 
including Canada. Management of the Company believes that opportunities are on the rise outside of the United 
States for strong brands. 

Baseline Profile 

Baseline CBD is a product line held in a wholly owned US-focused, consumer packaged goods (CPG) company 
operating in the hemp industry in the state of California since February 2020. The brand consists of 4 SKUs, in 
capsule form, direct-to-consumer on its ecommerce platform, “baseline-wellness.com”.  Baseline is manufactured 
for the Company by an internationally based third party. Baseline products undergo rigorous in-house and 
independent third-party lab testing, with a Certificate of Analysis provided for each batch. Additionally, the products 
are non-GMO and GMP Certified. 

Baseline Products 
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Radiko developed Baseline to specifically address market gaps within the crowded CBD landscape. Baseline was 
created as a daily supplement to naturally support the endocannabinoid system, which supports many vital functions 
and maintains homeostasis in the body. 

Each of the four formulations include full spectrum, hemp-derived CBD infused with whole plant ingredients and 
adaptogens.  

The Company believes the product line is uniquely differentiated by: 

● A daily supplementation approach  
 

○ Baseline formulations are designed for daily use to naturally supplement and provide cumulative 
benefits. 
 

● Need State Specific Formulations 
 

○ The Baseline team developed four variances addressing common modern-day ailments:  Day Shift 
to promote energy, Fog Lifter to support focus, Ground Control to relieve stress, and REM Ritual 
to promote effective sleep. 
 

● A Commitment to Bioavailability  
 

○ Baseline products are created using proprietary dry liposome preparation in which liposomal 
technology is used to encapsulate active ingredients and increase bioavailability, which 
significantly increases the effects in the body. 

Baseline Outlook 

Baseline has growth prospects through its direct-to-consumer marketplace and expansion into national retail chains 
in Q3 of 2020.  

La Vida Verde (51% subsidiary) – Company Profile 

La Vida Verde (“LVV”) is a US-focused, consumer packaged goods (CPG) company operating in the California 
cannabis industry since 2015. LVV holds a manufacturing license issued by the California Department of Public 
Health and a distribution license issued by the California Bureau of Cannabis Control. With these licenses, it 
continues to build its infrastructure of retailers and has a broker and distribution network in California to bring its 
proprietary brands to market.  LVV has an agreement with one of California’s largest Type 11 distributors with 
state-wide reach who currently distributes to over 90% of the retailers in California. In July 2019, LVV became a 
multi-state operator and announced expansion into Nevada through a long-term licensing agreement with Flower 
One, the largest cannabis cultivator, producer and full-service brand fulfilment partner in the state.  See “RISK 
FACTORS – CAUTION REGARDING BUSINESS – State Level Overview – California Law and – Nevada Law.” 

LVV currently has extraction, manufacturing and distribution capability. Additionally, LVV has expanded its 
manufacturing capability and has installed state-of-the-art technology to further meet demand. 

La Vida Verde Products 

La Vida Verde (LVV) comprises three distinct brands, each with a unique product offering:  
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 La Vida Verde™: A range of THC and CBD infused edibles and tinctures, geared towards a health- and 
wellness-conscious consumer. All products use only healthy fats, are vegan, organic, gluten-free, paleo 
friendly and low glycemic. La Vida Verde believes the best medicine starts with the food you eat, and they 
take pride in creating products for those seeking a natural, healthy way to nurture their body. 

 Skunk Feather™: A range of wholesale flower, packaged flower, pre-rolls, and concentrates that captures 
the spirit of Santa Cruz and an aspirational surf, skate, and outdoor culture. They source terpene rich 
cannabis trim and flower to artfully craft some of the finest crumbles, sugars, shatters, and distilled 
cannabis oil on the market. They utilize sustainable cultivation methods, science, and innovation, and 
products are pharmaceutical grade and free of any pesticides, microbial contaminants, heavy metals or 
additives. Skunk Feather is well known for their concentrates, and their potent, aromatic, and flavorful 
flower and their extracts have attracted a cult following. 

 Blank Brand™: A range of high quality, value-priced, cannabis infused chocolates, gummies, and 
capsules in unique and chef-created flavors and varieties. 

The Company expects that with the appropriate resources, these authentic lifestyle brands will expand its reach far 
beyond northern California and develop deeply loyal consumers in southern California and Nevada marketplaces. 
Additionally, the Company expects to gain an advantage when looking to capture shelf space by offering multiple 
brands to retailers, and by ensuring consistency of quality and supply through vertical integration. 

La Vida Verde Outlook:  Returning to Showing Growth 

LVV has growth prospects through its family of brands. After losing a major customer in 2018 (out of business) and 
replacing an underperforming distributor in Q1, LVV is now returning to their in-house sales efforts and 
distribution. We expect to see further growth as the benefits of these efforts will continue to accrue and to re-engage 
with a statewide distributor once salespeople penetrate and expand LVV’s footprint in southern California.  

Manufacturing and distribution licenses provide infrastructure to service the growing cannabis lifestyle and wellness 
market. The combined synergies of both licenses facilitate control of the quality of proprietary products while 
ensuring products go to market quickly and efficiently. 

Further growth efforts extend well beyond, and include:  
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● Geographic expansion into Southern California. With an expanded executive and sales force based in 
Southern California, LVV expects to see a continued increase in retail cannabis locations throughout the 
region. 

● Multi-state sales through licensing. In May of this year, La Vida Verde announced expansion into Nevada 
through a licensing agreement with Flower One, the largest cultivator in the state. The agreement further 
diversifies the cannabis offerings made available to Nevada’s cannabis retailers and consumers and the 
announcement marks LVV’s first out-of-state expansion. 

 
BioNeva Company ProfileIDIARY) COMPANY PROFILE 

BioNeva is a cannabis cultivator located in Carson City, Nevada. BioNeva holds two Nevada state-issued marijuana 
licenses to operate in the State of Nevada as a medical and recreational cultivator.  Under applicable laws, the 
licenses permit the Company to cultivate, manufacture, process, package, sell, and purchase cannabis pursuant to the 
terms of the licenses, which are issued by the NDOT under the provisions of Nevada Revised Statutes section 453A. 
BioNeva holds a municipal business license to allow for the operation of a recreational marijuana cultivation 
facility.  See “RISK FACTORS – CAUTION REGARDING BUSINESS – State Level Overview – Nevada Law.” 

BioNeva is fully operational, however, the Company wishes to invest approximately $350,000 in additional capital 
for buildout. The facility is currently growing product and is expected to begin producing revenue towards the end 
of Q2 2020. BioNeva currently holds cultivation facility licenses for both medical and recreational marijuana issued 
by the State of Nevada. Its cultivation operations are conducted in an 8,250 ft2 cannabis indoor facility situated on 
approximately one acre of land near Carson City, NV. The flowering canopy is currently 4,000 ft2 and incorporates 
a highly efficient greenhouse roof glazing material, as well as auxiliary lighting systems that require minimal power 
consumption.  

The BioNeva acquisition included this indoor facility as well hard assets and equipment associated with the 
BioNeva cultivation facility as well as the land upon which the facility is situated.  

DB3, the manager of the facility acquired by the Company, also derives revenue from a management agreement for 
a cannabis cultivation and manufacturing facility in nearby Washoe County.  The agreement provides for a 
minimum of USD$15,000 per month (with a potential for 30% of net profits). The facility is designed for 20,000 ft2 
of indoor grow and a best in class extraction/production lab. The Washoe facility is still under construction but is 
expected to be operational in Q4 of 2020 and generating revenue by Q1 of 2021. 

BioNeva Outlook 

The BioNeva assets represent an opportunity for near term cash flow as well as potential to optimize current 
operations, and plan for newly developed operations as well.  In May 2020, BioNeva entered into an operating 
agreement with LVV.  The agreement provides for a phased approach with LVV initially being responsible for sales 
of cultivated products beginning with the first harvest (currently underway). After the LVV team becomes more 
familiar with the operation, they will provide management consulting services in order to optimize production and 
operations, as well as oversight of genetic selection, marketing and branding of products, and go-to-market strategy. 
The final phase is expected to see LVV assume full responsibility for the facility in all aspects. 
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Competition 

The Company believes it will benefit from the authentic resonance of the brands within our portfolio. We are in 
direct competition with every cannabis product in each of the major categories of the industry: flower, concentrates, 
edibles, capsules and tinctures. 

The La Vida Verde family of brands is closely competing with brands within our categories such as: Island, Lowell 
Herb Co, Cookies, Raw Garden, and Kiva. The Company believes however, that through our highly competitive 
price points we are positioned to be more accessible which we expect to see higher revenues and greater market 
share as a result. Additionally, LVV received both its Annual Manufacturing License and its Annual Distribution 
License in California. The Company believes that the barrier to entry for temporary licenses in California is very 
low as only local authorization is required, and that the bar for annual licenses is much higher as it requires intense 
disclosures, validation of processes, and multiple inspections by state officials. It is the Company’s expectation that 
many of the companies that received temporary licensing will not make it through to obtaining an annual license.  

In terms of market share, our current CBD brand, Baseline and forthcoming CBD brand (Brand A)  will broadly 
compete with market leaders such as Charlotte’s Web, Select CBD (Cura), Green Roads, and MedTerra. Baseline, a 
CBD supplement brand, is competing more directly with CBD lifestyle and wellness brands such as; Prima, Plant 
People, Papa & Barkley, Reset, Feals, and Headery, and may indirectly compete with other consumer lifestyle 
brands such as; Ritual, Care/of, HUM Nutrition, Moon Juice, Elysium, and Bulletproof.   

The recreational market in which BioNeva operates in Nevada has fewer barriers to entry and more closely reflects 
free market dynamics typically seen in mature retail and manufacturing industries, however, the growth of this 
market poses a risk of increased competition. BioNeva’s indoor cultivation is in an early stage of development and 
the Company’s  market share is at a higher risk than companies with a larger footprint.  BioNeva faces competition 
from other companies that have a higher capitalization, more experienced management or may be more mature as a 
business. The vast majority of both manufacturing and retail competitors in the Nevada market consists of localized 
businesses (i.e., doing business in only a single-state market). There are also multi-state operators that BioNeva will 
compete with in Nevada. Aside from this direct competition, out-of-state operators that are capitalized well enough 
to enter Nevada through acquisitive growth are also part of the competitive landscape. 

Intellectual Property 

The promotion and protection of our brands is a key aspect of the Company’s business.  Management believes that 
an opportunity exists to expand  our total addressable market and create new consumer segments by developing new 
products that include cannabis and cannabinoids as ingredients.   By way of an example, the Baseline products are 
created using third party proprietary dry liposome preparation in which liposomal technology is used to encapsulate 
active ingredients and increase bioavailability.   

Employees  

The Company, including all of its subsidiaries, had 9 employees as of December 31, 2019. 
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5. SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Summary of Annual Results 

Years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company reported a total of $5,180,756 in revenue (LVV- 
$5,111,238; JuJu Royal Brand – $69,518) as compared to $106,584 for 2018 (solely from the JuJu Royal brand).  

Selected financial information for the Company for the indicated periods is provided below: 

 

The gross margin loss was $1,603,936 for the year ended December 31, 2019 (LVV- $1,355,203; JuJu Royal Brand - 
$248,733), compared to $174,353 in 2018 and $138,346 in 2017, when revenue was derived solely from the JuJu 
Brand. The increase was due to negative gross margin generated by LVV since the date of acquisition to the end of 
2019.   

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019, were $8,914,746 compared to $6,327,622 in 2018 and 
$1,126,252 in 2017.  The increase of $2,587,124 in 2019 was mainly a result of impairment of LVV intangible assets 
of $1,475,300 (brands, customer lists and distribution licenses) recognized in 2019, due to issues with LVV sales in 
2019 described above. Other factors included increased payroll, management fees, expenses for market maker, 
accounting and legal expenses due to the closing of the acquisition of LVV on January 3, 2019, and as a result 
overall increase in business activity and costs. Operating expenses includes expenses for LVV of $3,446,795.  See 
also “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in the MD&A for a discussion on operating losses.  

The following is a summary of operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019, and 2018.  Details of the 
changes between periods are described in the notes to the table below. 

2019 2018 2017
Total sales 5,180,786$                106,584$                   138,346$                   
Net loss and comprehensive loss (16,302,827)               (5,965,110) (1,397,859)
Basic and fully diluted loss per unit (0.06)                          (0.05)                          (0.06)                          

As at As at As at
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Total assets 2,717,560$                4,015,120$                520,881$                   
Total liabilities 4,709,535                  2,581,637                  1,212,750                  
Total equity (deficit) (1,991,975)                 1,433,483                  (691,182)                    

Years Ended December 31, 
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Notes:   

(1) Amortization of intangible assets increased by $406,700. This increase is related to the acquisition of LVV on January 3, 
2019. 

(2) Impairment of intangible assets increased by $1,475,300. This increase is related to the acquisition of LVV on January 3, 
2019. 

(3) General and administrative and other expenses decreased by $470,009. The decrease is related to reduced expenses. 
(4) Marketing, investor and public relations and promotion increased by $370,636. The increase was  

due to increased activity. Marketing costs of the current period relate to the engagement of a public relations firm to 
promote the Company’s products and marketing programs at LVV. 

(5) Legal increased by $324,030. The increase related to legal fees associated with the acquisition of  
LVV, increased fees for assistance with the capital raises, and other general corporate matters.   

(6) Wages and benefits increased by $869,875 and management fees increased by $416,557. The increase was due to 
increased personnel, including a Chief Marketing Officer, Vice President of Sales and Chief Operating Officer and the 
addition of LVV personnel. 

(7) Share-based payments decreased by $1,224,368 in 2019 as compared to 2018. Share-based payments in 2018 were 
higher due to more stock options and performance warrants issued and vested in 2018 as compared to 2019. 

(8) Selling expenses increased by $159,159 and licenses and regulatory expenses increased by $135,545 due to 
commissions on sales, licenses, penalties and other regulatory expenses incurred by LVV.   

 

The net loss for year ended December 31, 2019, was $17,063,322 as compared to $5,965,110. The increase in loss in 
2019 is primarily due to impairment of goodwill – LVV of $7,271,974, in addition to the increase in operating 
expenses for the reasons discussed above. 

 The net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2019, was $0.06 as compared to $0.05 for 2018. The impact 
of the higher net loss was reduced by higher weighted average number of voting securities outstanding for the 
period. The weighted average number of voting shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2019 was 
284,570,562 as compared to 130,253,996 for 2018. 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

The following table highlights selected financial information for the years ended December 31, 2019, and 2018. 
The Company expects its operating results to vary significantly from quarter to quarter and therefore they should 
not be relied upon to predict future performance.   

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Accounting and filing fees $ 126,612                      $ 53,295                           
Amortization of intangible assets 406,700                      -                                 
Amortization of property and equipment 26,485                        389                                
General and administrative expenses 858,425                      1,328,434                      
Impairment of intangible assets 1,475,300                   -                                 
Juju expenses 24,287                        
Legal fees 511,404                      187,374                         
Licenses and regulatory 135,545                      -                                 
Management fees 899,476                      482,919                         
Marketing, investor and public relations 582,281                      211,645                         
Selling expenses 159,159                      -                                 
Share-based payments 2,741,485                   3,965,852                      
Wages and benefits 967,589                      97,714                           
Total $ 8,914,746                   $ 6,327,622                      
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Also, see three months ended December 31, 2019 above for comments on adjustments made in the fourth quarter 
of 2018 and 2019.  

 

For the above noted periods, the Company reported no discontinued operations or extraordinary items. See 
“Management’s Discussion & Analysis.” 

Dividends 

There are no restrictions in the Company's articles or elsewhere which could prevent the Company from paying 
dividends, however, there are certain potential taxation consequences. See "Risk Factors- Potential Adverse Tax 
Consequences from the Payment of Dividends on the Company Shares".  The Company does not contemplate paying 
any dividends on any shares of the Company in the immediate future, as it anticipates investing all available funds to 
finance the growth of the Company's business. The board of directors of the Company will determine if, and when, 
to declare and pay dividends in the future from funds properly applicable to the payment of dividends based on the 
Company's financial position at the relevant time. All of the Company Shares will be entitled to an equal share in 
any dividends declared and paid on a per share basis. 

6. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
The Company's Management's Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") of financial results, prepared as of June 30, 
2020, and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, are attached as Appendix “B” to this Listing 
Statement and are intended to assist in the understanding of the trends and significant changes in the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company for the years ended December 2019 and 2018.  The MD&A 
herein should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 
2019 and 2018 and the notes thereto, attached as Appendix “A” to this Listing Statement. 

7. MARKET FOR SECURITIES 
 
The Common Shares are listed and posted for trading on the CSE under the symbol "RDKO".    

8. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 
 
The following table shows the current share capital of the Issuer, on a consolidated basis since December 31, 2019. 

Designation of Security 
Amount 

Authorized  

Amount outstanding as at  
December 31, 2019  

(audited) 
US$ 

Amount outstanding as at  
June 30, 2020  
(unaudited) 

Common Shares Unlimited 334,406,762 439,278,565 

Preferred Shares 1,836,000 Nil nil 

Stock Options N/A 25,955570 15,933,613 

Warrants N/A 90,910,045 107,363,017 

Performance Warrants N/A 86,849,222 71,299,222 

Long-Term Debt N/A 469,551 219,130 

Qt 4 2019 Qt 3 2019 Qt 2 2019 Qt 1 2019 Qt. 4 2018 Qt 3 2018 Qt 2 2018 Qt 1 2018
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue 627,481         1,490,850      1,839,178      1,223,277                  (9,486)               6,090             64,863             45,117 
Interest income -                                    -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -   
Operating expenses 5,820,285                826,153        1,088,253        1,180,055        4,901,762           689,952           415,412           320,496 
Net loss and comprehensive loss (5,971,535)          (4,442,695)      (2,157,794)      (3,730,803)      (3,005,272)      (1,682,578)         (756,458)         (520,802)
Loss per share - basic               (0.01)               (0.02)               (0.01)               (0.02)               (0.02)               (0.01)               (0.01)               (0.01)
Loss per share - diluted               (0.01)               (0.02)               (0.01)               (0.02)               (0.02)               (0.01)               (0.01)               (0.01)
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Notes: 
(1) For a further discussion regarding the options of the Company, please see Note 17 to the audited financial statements of the 

Company for the year ended December 31, 2019, which are attached hereto in Appendix "A". 
(2) The Company’s subsidiary is indebted in the amount of $800,000 to one of its former officers, who is also a shareholder. 

See Appendix “B” “Management’s Discussion & Analysis - Related Party Transactions”.  
(3) As of December 31, 2019, the Company's balance sheet disclosed a deficit of $2,717,560 (2018 – $4,015,120). 

 

9. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 
 
On June 30, 2020, the Company had an aggregate of 15,933,613 options to acquire the Common Shares to officers, 
directors and consultants of the Company, being exercisable at prices ranging from Cdn$0.06  to Cdn$0.35 per 
Common Share for terms with five years expiring at dates ranging to August 14, 2024. As at June 30, 2020, the 
following options to purchase the Company common shares were held by the following parties:  

Category of 
Optionee 

# of 
Optionees Date of Grant 

Number of 
Common 

Shares 

Market 
Value of 

Shares on 
Date of 
Grant 
CDN$ 

Market 
Value of 

Shares as of 
June 30, 2020

CDN$ 

Exercise 
Price  
CDN$ Expiry Date 

Executive 
Officers 

1 06/01/17 535,322 0.06 0.03 $0.06 05/31/22 

1 01/31/18 250,000 0.33 0.03 0.33 01/04/23 

1 07/16/18 12,292,969 0.07 0.03 0.07 07/16/23 

Directors who 
are not also 
Executive 
Officers 

1 04/22/17 220,000 0.06 0.03 0.06 
 

04/11/22 

1 01/04/18 250,000 0.35 0.03 0.35 01/04/23 

Employees 2 05/05/19 1,100,000 0.10 0.03 0.10 05/31/22 

Consultants 2 06/01/17 535,322 0.06 0.03 0.06 05/31/22 

2 01/04/18 500,000 0.35 0.03 0.35 01/04/23 

 1 08/14/19 250,000 0.07 0.03 0.07 08/14/24 

Total   15,933,613     

 
All of the options of the Company are governed by the Option Plan.   

Stock Option Plan 

The stock option plan of the Company will continue to be the Option Plan of the Company.  The Company has in 
place a rolling stock option plan whereby the Directors of the Company may allocate a maximum of 10% of the 
issued and outstanding shares from time to time for issuance under the Option Plan. The Option Plan was last 
approved by the Shareholders at the annual and special meeting of Shareholders held on June 1, 2016. There have 
not been any amendments made to the Option Plan since that time, other than administrative amendments that do not 
affect the rights conveyed under the Option Plan. 

The highlights of the Option Plan are as follows: 

(a) Options  may  be  granted  to  Directors,  employees,  management  company  employees  and consultants; 
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(b) the exercise price of Options granted shall be determined by the Board in accordance with the policies of the 
applicable stock exchange; 

(c) the Directors may allocate up to a maximum of 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares for the issuance of 
Options; no single participant may be issued Options representing greater than five (5%) percent of the 
number of outstanding Shares in any 12 month period; the number of Shares reserved for issuance to any one 
consultant of the Company may not exceed two (2%) percent of the number of outstanding Shares in any 12 
month period; 

(d) the aggregate number of Options granted to persons employed in investor relation activities must not exceed 
one (1%) percent of the outstanding Shares in any 12 month period unless the applicable stock exchange 
permits otherwise.  Options issued to consultants providing investor relations services must vest in stages 
over 12 months with no more than one quarter of the Options vesting in any three month period;  

(e) the Board may determine the term of the Options, but the term shall in no event be greater than ten years 
from the date of issuance;  

(f) generally, the Options expire 90 days from the date on which a participant ceases to be a Director, officer, 
employee, management company employee or consultant of the Company; and 

(g) terms of vesting of the Options, the eligibility of Directors, officers, employees, management company 
employees and consultants to receive Options and the number of Options issued to each participant shall be 
determined at the discretion of the Board, subject to the policies of the applicable stock exchange. 

10. DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 
 
The authorized share capital of the Company consists of unlimited common shares without par value and 1,837,000 
preferred shares, with such rights privileges, restrictions and conditions as may be fixed by the board of directors of 
the Company. As of the date of this Listing Statement, 439,278,565 Common Shares and nil Preferred Shares were 
issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable shares. 

Common Shares 

The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote at all meetings of the 
shareholders of the Company and each Common Share shall confer the right to one vote in person or by proxy at all 
meetings of the shareholders of the Company. The holders of Common Shares, subject to the prior rights, if any, of 
any other class of shares of the Company, are entitled to receive such dividends in any financial year as the Board of 
the Company may by resolution determine. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the 
Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive, subject to the 
prior rights, if any, of the holders of any other class of shares of the Company, the remaining property and assets of 
the Company.  

Preferred Shares 

The holders of the Preferred Shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote at all meetings of the 
shareholders of Common Shares and each Preferred shareholder shall have the right to one vote for each Common 
Share into which such Preferred Share could then be converted (one hundred (100) Common Shares) in person or by 
proxy at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company. The holders of Preferred Shares are entitled to receive 
such dividends as may be granted to holders of Common Shares in any financial year as the Board of the Company 
may by resolution determine, on an as-converted basis. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of 
the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of Preferred Shares are entitled to receive the remaining 
property and assets of the Company together with the holders of Common Shares, on an as-converted basis.  The 
Preferred Shares each have a restricted right to convert into one hundred (100) Common Shares. The ability to 
convert Preferred Shares is subject to a restriction that the aggregate number of Common Shares and Preferred 
Shares held of record, directly or indirectly, by residents of the United States (as determined in accordance with 
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Rules 3b-4 and 12g3-2(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, may not exceed forty percent 
(40%) of the aggregate number of Common Shares and Preferred Shares issued and outstanding after giving effect 
to such conversions. In addition, Preferred Shares will be automatically converted into Common Shares in certain 
circumstances, including upon the registration of the Common Shares under the United States Securities Act of 
1933, as amended.   

The aforementioned is only a summary of the terms of the Preferred Shares.  Readers are encouraged to refer to 
Schedule “C” to the Share Exchange Agreement, a copy of which has been filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  

Prior Sales 

There following is a list of common shares issued by the Company since April 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020: 

Date 
Number of Common 

Shares 

Issue Price Per Common 
Share 
CDN$ 

Aggregate Issue Price 
CDN$ 

May 2, 2019(2) 1,000,000 $0.08 $80,000 

May 2, 2019(1) 5,079,365 $0.07875 $400,000 

May 17, 2019(1) 526,984 $0.07875 $41,500 

May 17, 2019(2)(3) 375,000 $0.075 n/a 

June 10, 2019(3) 205,479 $0.2190 n/a 

June 10, 2019(3) 409,836 $0.1098 n/a 

June 14, 2019(2) 287,130 $0.05 $14,356 

July 3, 2019(3) 3,500,000 $0.06 n/a 

July 26, 2019(1) 5,252,000 $0.05 $262,600 

August 7, 2019(3) 2,000,000 $0.05 n/a 

September 3, 2019(3) 750,000 $0.05 n/a 

September 5, 2019(1) 3,978,900 $0.05 $198,000 

September 27, 2019(2)(3) 375,000 $0.075 n/a 

September 27, 2019(3) 3,324,000 $0.05 n/a 

November 8, 2019(3) 2,000,000 $0.05 n/a 

November 8, 2019(1) 7,920,000 $0.05 $264,000 

December 6, 2019(3) 16,400,000 $0.05 n/a 

December 23, 2019(3) 1,500,000 $0.05 n/a 

December 23, 2019(1) 6,072,000 $0.05 $303,600 

March 11, 2020(3) 29,720,000 $0.05 n/a 

March 11, 2020(1) 6,600,000 $0.05 $330,000 

March 31, 2020(3) 12,320,000 $0.05 n/a 

March 31, 2020(1) 5,280,000 $0.05 $264,000 

May 11, 2020(3) 28,805,833 $0.015 n/a 

May 19, 2020(3) 17,727,866 $0.015 n/a 

June 30, 2020(3) 3,418,102 $0.05 n/a 
 
Notes: 
(1) Private placements of units consisting of one common share and one a share purchase warrant entitling the holder to 

purchase one common share. 
(2) Exercise of Options or Warrants. 
(3) Issued for services or other non-cash consideration or in connection with an acquisition. 
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The Common Shares were listed and posted for trading on the CSE on September 25, 2017.  The following table 
sets out the high and low sales prices and trading volumes of the Common Shares on a monthly basis for the current 
quarter and previous quarter and on a quarterly basis for the preceding seven (7) quarters.   

Period High 
$ 

Low 
$ 

Volume 

Quarter ended June 30, 2018 0.19 0.05 13,361,335 

Quarter ended September 30, 2018 0.39 0.055 215,794,420 

Quarter ended December 31, 2018 0.29 0.07 50,618,880 

Quarter ended March 31, 2019 0.145 0.075 79,197,499 

Quarter ended June 30, 2019 0.110  0.055    41,711,647 

  

Quarter ended September 30, 2019 0.065  0.015    49,305,688 

  

Quarter ended December 31, 2019 0.025  0.010    39,142,188

  

January 2020 0.015  0.01  7,059,098 

February 2020 0.02  0.01  17,262,564 

March 2020 0.02  0.01  10,530,454 

April 2020 0.03  0.015  9,618,486 

May 2020 0.045  0.02  23,997,892 

June 2020 0.035 0.02 16,171,000 

July 1 – July 8, 2020 0.03 0.025 1,169,480 
  
 

11. ESCROWED SECURITIES 
 
Following completion of the Transaction, all securities of the Company held by a principal were subject to escrow 
restrictions in accordance with National Policy 46-201 “Escrow for Initial Public Offerings” (“NP 46-201”).  

All Common Shares and Preferred Shares held by the Principals and former Principals pursuant to 46-201 had either 
been released pursuant to the terms of the escrow restrictions or cancelled.  On September 24, 2018, the principals, 
former principals and additional parties agreed to enter into a voluntary private escrow arrangement on substantially 
the same release terms as set out is 46-201 (the “Private Escrow”).  A total of 21,959,907 common shares were 
deposited into escrow pursuant to the Private Escrow.  As of the date of this Listing Statement, the following table 
discloses the number of Common Shares held in escrow pursuant to the Private Escrow, and the percentage that 
those numbers represent of the outstanding Common Shares.   

Designation of 
Class 

No. of Common Shares held in 
escrow 

Percentage of Class 
(undiluted) 

Common 7,606,106 
1.7% 

 
Pursuant to the Private Escrow, the remaining escrowed securities will be released as follows:   
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1. September 24, 2020 – 20% of the escrow securities; 

2. March 24, 2021 – 20% of the escrow securities; 

3. September 24, 2021 – 20% (final) of the escrow securities..  

12. PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 
 
As of the date hereof, to the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Company, no person beneficially 
owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control or direction over, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying 
ten (10%) percent or more of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the Company.  

13. DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
 
The following are summaries of the directors and principal management of the Company as at the date hereof, 
including their respective positions with the Company and relevant work and educational background.  Each of 
Steve Gormley, Mark Scott, Jesse Meighan, Alison Bryce and Greg Davis has a written employment and/or 
consulting agreement and none of the other parties have entered into employment or consulting agreements, or non-
competition or non-disclosure agreements with the Company at this time.  

Name, Municipality of Residence, Occupation and Security Holdings 

The individuals disclosed in the table below are the directors and officers of the Company, with the term of office of 
the directors to expire on the date of the next annual general meeting of the shareholders of Company. 

The following table lists the name, municipality of residence, proposed office, principal occupation and anticipated 
shareholdings of each current and proposed director and officer of the Company. 

Name and 
Municipality of 

Residence 
Offices Held 

Principal Occupation 
During the Past Five 

Years(1) 

Company  Shares 
owned, beneficially 
held or controlled(2) 

Director or 
Officer of 

DropLeaf/the 
Company Since 

Steve Gormley(3) 
Redding, CT 

Chief 
Executive 
Officer EO 
and a Director 

CEO of the Company 
since July 1, 2018.  Prior 
thereto, founding partner 
and CEO of Seventh 
Point, LLC (private 
equity), prior thereto 
Chief Business 
Development Officer for 
OSL Holdings from 
2012 to 2016. 

Nil(4) April 16, 2018 
(director) 

July 1, 2018 
(CEO) 

Mark Scott 
Des Moines, WA 

Chief 
Financial 
Officer and a 
Director 

Chief Financial Officer 
and a Director of the 
Company.  He has been 
Chief Financial Officer 
since June 1, 2017, and 
prior thereto, a 
consultant to the 
Company’s predecessor 
since December 1, 2016.  
He has been a director of 
the Company since 
September 24, 2019. Mr. 

1,500,000 Officer since June 
1, 2017 

Director since 
Sept. 24, 2019 



29 

 

 

Name and 
Municipality of 

Residence 
Offices Held 

Principal Occupation 
During the Past Five 

Years(1) 

Company  Shares 
owned, beneficially 
held or controlled(2) 

Director or 
Officer of 

DropLeaf/the 
Company Since 

Scott has significant 
financial, capital market 
and relations experience 
in public and private 
microcap companies. 

Jesse Meighan 
Los Angeles, CA 

Chief 
Marketing 
Officer 

Chief Marketing Officer 
for the Company since 
March 4, 2019.  Chief 
Operating Officer of 
Jane West (2015 – 2019) 

Nil March 4, 2019 

Alison Bryce Manager of 
Operations 

Manager of Operations 
of the Company since 
April 2019, prior thereto 
freelance marketing 
consultant since 2017, 
prior thereto director of 
Northside Media Group 
since 2013. 

Nil April 15, 2019 

Gregory Davis Chief Growth 
Officer, Head 
of CBD 

Chief Growth Officer, 
Head of CBD of the 
Company since 
November 2019, prior 
thereto Head of 
Marketing for an e-
commerce wellness 
Brand Soupure from 
2016 to 2018, prior 
thereto EVP Digital for 
Milner Butcher Media 
Group  from 2012 to 
2016.  

Nil Nov. 1, 2019 

Scott Reeves(3) 

Calgary, AB 
 

Director & 
Secretary 

Partner TingleMerrett 
LLP 

Nil February 21, 2017 

Robert Yosaitis(3) 

Las Vegas, NV 
 

Director Mr. Yosaitis is an 
investor, owner, and 
philanthropist. Mr. 
Yosaitis is part owner 
and current applicant of 
multiple medical 
marijuana licenses 
across several 
jurisdictions. 

28,908,096 Nov. 12, 2019 



30 

 

 

Name and 
Municipality of 

Residence 
Offices Held 

Principal Occupation 
During the Past Five 

Years(1) 

Company  Shares 
owned, beneficially 
held or controlled(2) 

Director or 
Officer of 

DropLeaf/the 
Company Since 

Gregory Ross 
Centennial, CO 

Proposed 
Director 

Mr. Ross is an investor, 
owner, and entrepreneur.  
Formerly cofounder and 
COO of Ross Aviation. 

13,200,000 Nominee 

Renee Gagnon 
Victoria, BC 
 

Proposed 
Director 

Chief Executive Officer 
of Hollyweed North 
Cannabis Inc., a 
Canadian company that 
owns a Canadian 
cannabis processing 
entity and a technology 
company for clean 
rooms. 

Nil Nominee 

 
Notes: 

(1) For a complete description of the directors, officers and other management personnel of the Company, see 
"Management of the Company" below. 

(2) All percentages are on a non-diluted basis.   
(3) Member of the audit committee.   

 
All of the directors of the Company have been appointed to hold office until the next annual general meeting of 
shareholders or until their successors are duly elected or appointed, unless their office is earlier vacated. 

Company shares beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by all directors and officers of the Company, as a group, 
is 41,449,047 common shares or approximately 9.4% (non-diluted) or 139,146,083 after giving effect to convertible 
securities held by such parties or approximately 26% (partially diluted). 

Board Committees 

The Company currently has an audit committee.  A brief description of the audit committee is set out below. 

Audit Committee  

The Audit Committee assists the Company Board in fulfilling its responsibilities for oversight of financial and 
accounting matters. The Audit Committee recommends the auditors to be nominated and reviews the compensation 
of the auditors. The Audit Committee is directly responsible for overseeing the work of the auditors, must pre-
approve non-audit services, be satisfied that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Company’s 
public disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from the Company’s Financial Statements and must 
establish procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting 
controls or auditing matters. The current members of the Audit Committee are Scott Reeves, Robert Yosaitis and 
Steve Gormley. 

Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

None of the directors, proposed directors, officers, insiders or the promoters of the Company or a shareholder 
holding a sufficient number of securities of Company to affect materially the control of the Company is, or within 
10 years before the date of this Listing Statement has been, a director, officer, insider or promoter of any other issuer 
that, while that person was acting in that capacity: 
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(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other issuer access to 
any exemptions under applicable securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive 
days; or 

(b) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Penalties or Sanctions 

Other than as disclosed below, none of the directors, proposed directors, officers, insiders or the promoters of the 
Company or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control 
of the Company has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or 
by any securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory 
authority; or has been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body or self-
regulatory authority that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment 
decision. 

On April 29, 2016, Edge Resources Inc., (“Edge”), of which Mr. Reeves was a director and corporate secretary, 
received an order of the Court of Queen’s Bench of Saskatchewan appointing Grant Thornton as receiver over the 
company’s Saskatchewan-based assets and, on September 2, 2016, received an order of the Court of Queen’s Bench 
of Alberta appointing Grant Thornton as receiver over the company’s Alberta-based assets.  The receiver was 
discharged on the Alberta-based assets on December 19, 2016 and on the Saskatchewan-based assets on February 1, 
2017. On August 5, 2016 Edge received a cease trade order from the Alberta Securities Commission for failure to 
file financial statements. Since a Receiver had been appointed for Edge on April 29, 2016, the officers and directors 
of Edge were no longer in control of the assets or undertaking of Edge, being replaced by Grant Thornton (the 
Receiver). This made it impossible, following such date, for the directors of Edge to affect the continuance of 
Edge’s public filings. A copy of the order may be provided by request. 

Mr. Reeves was a director and Corporate Secretary of Quattro Exploration and Production Ltd. (“Quattro”) when, 
on May 3, 2016, due to the failure of Quattro to file its annual audited financial statements and management 
discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 2015, the Alberta Securities Commission issued a 
management cease trade order (the “Quattro MCTO”) ordering the cessation of trading in the securities of Quattro 
by its senior management and directors, including Mr. Reeves.  On June 15, 2016, the ASC, pursuant to the filing of 
the outstanding annual audited financial statements and management discussion and analysis of Quattro, revoked the 
Quattro MCTO.  On September 8, 2016, Quattro received an order from the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta 
granting creditor protection pursuant to the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (Alberta).  The order was 
extended by the court until November 30, 2016 on October 7, 2016.  On February 2, 2017, Quattro received an order 
of the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta appointing Hardy & Kelly Inc. as receiver over the company’s assets. On 
May 8, 2017, Quattro received a cease trade order from the Alberta Securities Commission for failure to file 
financial statements. Since a Receiver had been appointed for Quattro on February 2, 2017, the officers and directors 
of Quattro were no longer in control of the assets or undertaking of Quattro, being replaced by Hardy & Kelly Inc. 
(the Receiver). This made it impossible, following such date, for the directors of Quattro to affect the continuance of 
Quattro’s public filings. A copy of the order may be provided by request. 

Mr. Reeves is a director and Corporate Secretary of Tree of Knowledge International Corp. (“TOKI”) on May 1, 
2019 when the Ontario Securities Commission issued an MCTO ordering the cessation of trading in the securities of 
TOKI by certain of its insiders, including Mr. Reeves, for its failure to file annual audited financial statements, 
management’s discussion and analysis, and certification of annual filings for the year ended December 31, 2017.  
The MCTO was lifted on June 4, 2019 upon completion of the filing. 

Personal Bankruptcies 

None of the directors, proposed directors, officers, insiders or the promoters of the Company or a shareholder 
holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company is, or 
within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, has been declared bankrupt, made a proposal under any 
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legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or has been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold their assets. 

Conflicts of Interest 

There are potential conflicts of interest to which some of the directors, proposed directors, officers and insiders and 
the promoters of the Company will be subject in connection with the operations of the Company. Some of the 
directors, proposed directors, officers and insiders and the promoters are engaged in and will continue to be engaged 
in corporations or businesses which may be in competition with the search by the Company for businesses or assets 
in order to close a Qualifying Transaction. Accordingly, situations may arise where some of the directors, officers 
and insiders and the promoter will be in direct competition with the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to 
the procedures and remedies as provided under the ABCA. 

Management of the Company 

Following is a description of the management of the Company.  

Steve Gormley, Chief Executive Officer and a Director  

Mr. Gormley is a renowned expert in the legal marijuana sector and whose analysis is featured prominently in 
outlets like Forbes, Wall Street Journal, CBS News, US News and World Report, Chicago Tribune, and 
Marketwatch. Mr. Gormley presently serves as COO of Silverback Investments, Inc. Silverback Investments, Inc. is 
a management services company providing business solutions to licensed lawfully operating medical marijuana 
cultivation and distributions businesses. Silverback is focused on the Michigan market.  Likewise, he presently 
serves as President of Alta Via Ventures, LLC, a management services company to licensed cannabis businesses in 
the Los Angeles, California operator.  From 2012 to 2016, Mr. Gormley served as Chief Business Development 
Officer and member of the Board of Directors for OSL Holdings, a publicly traded management services in the 
cannabis industry.  Mr. Gormley has operated a hydroponics retail gardening supply enterprise in Los Angeles as 
well as licensed cultivation facilities in California. Mr. Gormley has nearly twenty years’ experience developing, 
branding, marketing, launching, managing and operating businesses in the US and international markets. Mr. 
Gormley has over seven years’ experience in the cannabis industry. He has lived and worked in Asia, Europe, South 
America and Australia. Steve got his start in media in television production in the early 90s. After developing 
content and producing for MTV, Paramount Pictures, Tribune and others, Mr. Gormley levered his expertise in 
content into the on-line sector for a new media private equity fund in the late 90’s and early part of the new century. 
Mr. Gormley helped develop, launch, manage and sell a number of new media properties and eventually founded a 
branded entertainment company in China. Mr. Gormley has also served as managing director for a California based 
media private equity fund. He deployed C-Level Management Services specializing in startups and turn-arounds. 

Mark Scott, CPA – Chief Financial Officer 

Mr. Mark Scott is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company.  Mr. Scott was appointed Consulting Chief Financial 
Officer and Secretary of DropLeaf on June 1, 2017, and has been a consultant to DropLeaf since December 1, 2016.  
Mr. Scott is the proposed Chief Financial Officer for the Company.  He has significant financial, capital market and 
relations experience in public and private microcap companies.  Mr. Scott is a certified public accountant and 
received a Bachelor of Arts in Accounting from the University of Washington. 

Jesse Meighan, Chief Marketing Officer 

Ms. Meighan is a seasoned executive with over 10 years’ operations and marketing experience. She has worked 
across a broad range of industries from tech to fashion and most recently co-founded the female-focused cannabis 
brand Jane West, where she now serves as a board advisor. As Chief Operating Officer of Jane West (2015 – 2019), 
Meighan crafted the brand’s experience and execution creating well-designed cannabis products with a modern 
sensibility while focusing on continuous improvement, optimization, and growth.  As a result, Jane West (the 
eponymous lifestyle brand built by Meighan and the founder/CEO of Women Grow) is now among the most widely 
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recognized cannabis brands for women. In addition, Meighan is well-known in the cannabis industry as a digital 
influencer and champion of women professionals. 

Alison Bryce, Chief Operating Officer 

Ms. Bryce is a cannabis industry veteran, and has consulted on content strategy, marketing and events with some of 
the leading cannabis and health and wellness start-ups in California. She most recently served as VP of Client 
Services at Composite Agency and as a Project Manager at Beboe, a luxury cannabis brand. Previously, she led 
Northside Media Group's events and content strategy in Brooklyn, New York. Alison also worked as a producer on 
the National Desk at National Public Radio in Washington, DC.  

Greg Davis (Chief Growth Officer) 

Mr. Davis is an entrepreneurial marketer with an extensive track record in customer acquisition marketing.  His 
leadership experience includes playing a key role in growing several notable startup successes as well as developing 
brands at Fortune 500 companies including 20th Century Fox, Warner Bros., GameWorks Entertainment and DDB 
Worldwide.  Considered a “digital native”, he became involved in digital marketing early in his career, driving many 
digital-first innovations including managing the launch of 20th Century Fox’s foray into e-commerce, developing 
Kia Motors’ first ever digital campaign and bringing to market the first augmented reality consumer toy line for 
James Cameron’s epic theatrical release of “Avatar”.  His multi-channel marketing experience has been developed 
on both the agency and brand sides, building from the ground up and leading the digital arms for agencies including 
DDB/LA, Threshold Interactive and MBMG. 

Scott Reeves, Director and Secretary 

Mr. Reeves is Secretary and a director of the Company.  Mr. Reeves is a partner with TingleMerrett LLP, a Calgary-
based law firm with a focus on securities, corporate finance and commercial transactions for emerging and growth 
companies, joint ventures and partnerships.  He has advised numerous private and public corporations (including 
registered dealers) in a wide range of business matters including access to capital markets, corporate governance and 
operational issues both nationally and internationally 

Robert Yosaitis, Director  

Mr. Yosaitis is an investor, owner, and philanthropist whose global career began in 1989 upon opening an 
international trading office for BHP Petroleum in Dubai, UAE. After becoming the largest jet fuel trader in the 
Pacific Rim, Mr. Yosaitis founded his own jet fueling company, that established an all-island, first in market 
position in Hawaii, and was eventually sold to Ross Aviation in April of 2008.  Mr. Yosaitis is part owner and 
current applicant of multiple medical marijuana licenses across several jurisdictions, including partnerships with one 
of the largest Hawaiian venture groups whose multi-generational in-state presence emphasizes community 
partnerships and sustainability.  

Gregory Ross, Director 

Mr. Ross is an investor, owner, and entrepreneur. He was Co-Founder and Chief Operating Officer of Ross 
Aviation, a leading provider of aviation fuel, ground handling services and hangar facilities for private aviation 
across the United States. His focus with Ross Aviation was on acquisitions, bottom-line growth and operating 
efficiencies. Mr. Ross has an MBA from Dalhousie University in Halifax, Nova Scotia and BAs in both Law and 
Economics from the University of Western Ontario.  Greg held board positions with the Epilepsy Foundation of 
Colorado and the Front Range Amateur Hockey Association.  His investment focus began with a medical marijuana 
processing segment in Ohio, and he subsequently became involved in the grow and processing aspects of the 
business in California. 

Renee Gagnon, Director 

Ms. Gagnon is a serial entrepreneur and cannabis pioneer.  She is both the first transgender CEO of a publicly traded 
cannabis company and the first female one. Emerald Health (CSE: EMH.v) was the 4th Federally sanctioned 
Licensed Producer in Canada, and at its peak broke $1B CAD market cap.  Ms. Gagnon has made use of her decade 
of Federal licensing experience (four licenses to date), and most recently founded a Canadian psychedelic startup.  .   
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14. CAPITALIZATION 
 
Issued Capital 

To the best knowledge of the Company, the following table sets out the number of the Common Shares available in 
the Company’s Public Float and Freely-Tradeable Float on a diluted and non-diluted basis as at June 30, 2020: 

 
Number of Common 
Shares (non-diluted) 

Number of Common 
Shares (fully diluted) 

% of Shares 
(non-diluted) 

% of Shares 
(fully 

diluted) 

Public Float     

Total Outstanding (A)(1) 439,278,565 633,874,417 100 100 

Held by Related  Persons  or employees of the 
Issuer or by persons or companies who beneficially 
own or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the Issuer (or who would 
beneficially own or control, directly or indirectly, 
more than a 5% voting position in the Issuer upon 
exercise or conversion of other securities held) (B) 

 

 

 

57,151,710 

 

 

 

154,848,746 
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24.4 

Total Public Float [(A)ꞏ(B)] 382,126,855 479,025,671 87 75.6 

Freely Tradeable Float     

Number of outstanding common shares subject to 
resale restrictions, including restrictions imposed 
by  pooling or other arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement and securities held by 
control block holders(1) 

 

 

7,606,106 

 

 

7,606,106 

 

 

1.7 

 

 

1.2 

Total Tradeable Float 374,520,749 471,419,565 85.2 74.4 

Notes:  
(1) This total includes the Common Shares that are subject to escrow. See “Escrowed Securities”. 
 

Public Securityholders (Registered and Beneficial) 

To the best knowledge of the Company, the following table sets out the breakdown of the registered shareholders of 
the Company and (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered shareholders; and (ii) 
beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the Company has been given written 
confirmation of the Company shareholdings as of May 20, 2020, pursuant to the size of the shareholder’s holding. 
For the purposes of this table, registered holders are persons other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the 
Issued Capital table above: 

Public Securltyholders (Registered and Beneficial(1) 

 
Size of Holding  Number of Holders Total Number of Common Shares 

    

100 - 499 Common Shares  231 59,212 

500 -   999 Common Shares  196 125,324 

1,000 - 1,999 Common Shares  367 448,473 

2,000 - 2,999 Common Shares  271 603,699 

3,000 - 3,999 Common Shares  162 533,559 

4,000 - 4,999 Common Shares  111 472,817 

5,000 or more Common Shares   1,645 305,022,664(1) 



35 

 

 

Note: 
(1) The numbers of shareholders for the Company was taken from the registered list and the NOBO list as of May 20, 2020, as reported by 

Computershare Trust Company of Canada.  The total Common Shares held in CDS & Co. is 237,326,146.  A beneficial holder list was 
obtained representing 106,731,390 of the shares held by CDS.  This list above only accounts for 307,265,748 of the 435,860,463 
common shares outstanding as at May 20, 2020. 

Non-Public Security holders (Registered and Beneficial) 

To the best knowledge of the Company, the following table sets out the number of holders and securities of 
non-public security holders of the Company as of the date hereof, pursuant to the size of the shareholders 
holding. For the purposes of this table, non-public security holders are persons enumerated in section (B) of 
the Issued Capital table: 

Size of Holding  Number of Holders Total Number of Common Shares 
 
1 - 99 Common Shares 

 0 0 

100 - 499 Common Shares  0 0 

500 - 999 Common Shares  0 0 

1,000 – 1,999 Common Shares  0 0 

2.000 - 2,999 Common Shares  0 0 

3,000 - 3999 Common Shares  0 0 

4, 000 - 4,999 Common Shares  0 0 

5,000 or more Common Shares  
6(1) 57,151,710(1) 

Note: 
(1) The numbers of non-public shareholders for the Company, i.e., Related  Persons  or employees of the Issuer or by persons or companies 

who beneficially own or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the Issuer (or who would beneficially own or 
control, directly or indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the Issuer upon exercise or conversion of other securities held), was 
taken from information maintained by the Company. 

Convertible and Exchangeable Securities 

The following table sets out a description of securities that are convertible or exchangeable into listed securities of 
the Company as of June 30, 2020: 
 

Description of Security 
(Including conversion/exercise 

terms)  
Number of convertible securities 

outstanding  
Number of listed securities issuable upon 

conversion 
 
Incentive Options(1) 

 

  
15,933,613 

  
15,933,613 

Performance Warrants(2)  71,299,222  71,299,222 
 
Warrants(3) 

 

  
107,363,217 

  
107,363,017 

Notes: 
(1) Each Incentive option entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the Company prices ranging from Cdn$0.06 to 

Cdn$0.35 per share for a period of 5 years expiring in 2022 to 2024. See “Options to Purchase Securities.” 
(2) Each Performance Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) common share of the Company at a price of Cdn$0.07 

per share for a period of 5 years expiring in 2023, and are fully vested. 
(3) The Warrants have been issued in connection with units issued in non-brokered or brokered private placements or as 

finder warrants issued to parties eligible to act as “finders’.  Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common 
share of the Company prices ranging from Cdn$0.05 to Cdn$0.15 per share for a period of ranging from 2 to 5 years 
expiring in 2020 to 2025. 
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15. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
The statement of Executive Compensation of the Company for the five (5) years ended December 31, 2019, 
prepared in accordance with Form 51-102F6V is contained in the Company’s Information Circular dated May 20, 
2020, filed on SEDAR in connection with the Company’s next annual meeting of shareholders on June 29, 2020, 
and incorporated by reference herein.    

16. INDEBTEDNESSS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 
None of the directors or officers of the Company, nor any of their Associates, is indebted to the Company, and no 
indebtedness of any of these individuals or Associates to another entity is the subject of a guarantee, support 
agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Company.  

17. RISK FACTORS 
 
Ownership of the Company Common Shares is subject to certain risks. Shareholders should consider the risks set 
forth below and those described elsewhere in this Listing Statement, which are in addition to the usual risks 
associated with an investment in a business at a relatively early stage of development. The directors of the Company 
consider the risks set forth below to be the most significant, but do not consider them to be all of the risks associated 
with an investment in securities of the Company. If any of these risks materialize into actual events or circumstances 
or other possible additional risks and uncertainties of which the directors are currently unaware or which they 
consider not to be material in connection with the Company or the Company’s business, actually occur, the 
Company or the Company’s assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations (including future results of 
operations), business and business prospects, are likely to be materially and adversely affected. In such 
circumstances, the price of the Company or the Company’s securities could decline and investors may lose all or 
part of their investment. 

There are a number of risks associated with the business of the Company.  See section entitled “Risk Factors” below 
for a detailed list of all relevant risk factors. 

CAUTION REGARDING BUSINESS 

There are a number of risks associated with the business of the Company.  See section entitled “Risk Factors” below 
for a detailed list of all relevant risk factors. 

Canadian Companies with U.S. Marijuana-Related Assets 

In accordance with the Canadian Securities Administrators Staff Notice 51-352 (Revised) dated February 8, 2018 – 
Issuers with U.S. Marijuana-Related Activities (“CSA Notice 51-352”), there are specific disclosure expectations 
for issuers that currently have, or are in the process of developing, cannabis-related activities in the United States as 
permitted within a particular state’s regulatory framework. All issuers with United States cannabis-related activities 
are expected to clearly and prominently disclose certain prescribed information in prospectus filings and other 
required disclosure documents.  

Below is a summary of  the Company’s cannabis activity in the United States and a discussion of the U.S. regulatory 
regime. In accordance with CSA Notice 51-352, the Company will evaluate, monitor, and reassess this disclosure 
and any related risks on an ongoing basis and will supplement, amend and communicate to investors in public 
filings, the event of government policy changes or the introduction of new or amended guidance, laws or regulations 
regarding cannabis.  
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Summary of the Company’s United States Cannabis Activity 

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had direct involvement in U.S. cannabis-related activities through its 51% 
owned subsidiary LVV, a licensed manufacturer and distributor of flower, cannabis-infused oils, tinctures and 
edibles in California, as well as a third party distributor licensed in Nevada.  The Company takes commercially 
reasonable steps to ensure that LVV and all third parties that provide services to the Company are in compliance 
with applicable licensing requirements and the regulatory framework enacted by the applicable U.S. State. 

In addition, commencing in January 2020, the Company had direct involvement in the sale of products containing 
cannabidiol (CBD) (a non-psychoactive chemical compound found in cannabis) in the U.S. through its product line 
“baseline”.  See “ United States Federal Overview – FDA Regulation”. 

On May 11, 2020, the Company acquired an indirect interest in an indoor cannabis cultivation operation in Nevada.  
See “Narrative Description of the Business – BioNeva Company Profile.”  

The table below summarizes the Company’s involvement in the United States: 

State  Company  Type of Investment 
 
Various 
 
California, Nevada 

 
Flora Wellness, LLC(1) 

 
La Vida Verde, Inc.(2) 

 
100% Equity Ownership 

 
51% Equity Ownership 

     
Nevada  RDKO Nevada, Inc.(3)  100% Equity Ownership 
     
Notes: 

(1) Flora Wellness, LLC sells the Company’s CBD Baseline products directly and through third parties.. 

(2) La Vida Verde, Inc. is currently involved in Nevada solely through a license it has issued to a cultivator in Nevada. 

(3) RDKO Nevada, Inc. owns:  (a) 100% of Sierra Superfoods, LLC which holds assets including real estate leases, an 8,000 
square foot facility and related equipment designed for indoor cultivation of cannabis; (b) 100% of DB3 Management, 
LLC, which has a contract with the license holder to manage the indoor facility; and (c) a right to acquire 100% of BioNeva 
Innovations of Carson City, LLC, which holds licenses to cultivate both medical and recreational marijuana. 

Previously, the Company had only ancillary involvement in the U.S. cannabis industry through its agreements with 
third party licensed cultivators, oil extractors, vape manufacturers, edible manufacturers and merchandise companies 
to produce and distribute products bearing the trademark Julian Marley JuJu Royal™, in the U.S. where cannabis 
has been legalized at the state level, as well as products containing cannabidiol (CBD) (a non-psychoactive chemical 
compound found in cannabis) in the U.S. and internationally; as well as the Company has entered into a number of 
distribution/license agreements in the U.S. and elsewhere.  The license for the Julian Marley JuJu Royal brand was 
terminated  

The Company currently derives all of its revenue from U.S. cannabis-related activities and so 100% of its balance 
sheet and operating statement are exposed to U.S. cannabis related activities.  As a result of Company’s direct 
involvement in manufacture and distribution of LVV and its products, the Company is subject to CSA Notice 51-
352 and accordingly provides the following disclosure. 
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United States Federal Overview 

Introduction 

In the U.S., 34 states, the District of Columbia and the U.S. territories of Guam and Puerto Rico, allow the use of 
medical cannabis. Voters in eleven states have approved the legal sale and adult-use of recreational cannabis. The 
District of Columbia and Vermont have legalized adult-use of recreational cannabis but do not allow the sale of 
recreational cannabis.  

At the federal level, however, cannabis, other than hemp  (i.e., cannabis with less than 0.3% THC on a dry weight 
basis) currently remains a Schedule I controlled substance under the Federal Controlled Substances Act of 1970 
(“Federal CSA”). Under U.S. federal law, a Schedule I drug or substance has a high potential for abuse, no 
accepted medical use in the United States, and a lack of accepted safety for the use of the drug under medical 
supervision. As such, even in those states in which cannabis is legalized under state law, the manufacture, 
importation, possession, use or distribution of cannabis remains illegal under U.S. federal law. This has created a 
dichotomy between state and federal law, whereby many states have elected to regulate and remove state-level 
penalties regarding a substance which is still illegal at the federal level. 

Although federally illegal, the U.S. federal government’s approach to enforcement of such laws has, at least until 
recently, trended toward non-enforcement. On August 29, 2013, the U.S. Department of Justice (“U.S. DOJ”) issued 
a memorandum known as the “2013 Cole Memorandum” to all U.S. attorneys’ offices (“U.S. Attorneys”). The 
2013 Cole Memorandum generally directed U.S. Attorneys not to prioritize the enforcement of federal cannabis 
laws against individuals and businesses that rigorously comply with state regulatory provisions in states with 
strictly-regulated medical or adult-use cannabis programs. The 2013 Cole Memorandum, while not legally binding, 
assisted in managing the tension between state and federal laws concerning state-regulated cannabis businesses.   

Rescission of the 2013 Cole Memorandum  

On January 4, 2018, U.S. Attorney General Jeff Sessions rescinded the 2013 Cole Memorandum, replacing it with 
the “Sessions Memorandum”. The stated rationale of the U.S. DOJ in doing so was that the 2013 Cole 
Memorandum was “unnecessary” due to existing general enforcement guidance adopted in the 1980s, as set forth in 
the U.S. Attorneys’ Manual (the “USAM”). The USAM enforcement priorities, like those of the 2013 Cole 
Memorandum, are also based on the federal government’s limited resources, and include “law enforcement priorities 
set by the Attorney General”, the “seriousness” of the alleged crimes, the “deterrent effect of criminal prosecution” 
and “the cumulative impact of particular crimes on the community”. 

While the Sessions Memorandum is not law itself and therefore does not change U.S. federal law, it does add to the 
uncertainty of U.S. federal enforcement of the Federal CSA in states where cannabis is legal under state law.  The 
Sessions Memorandum gives U.S. Attorneys discretion in deciding whether to prosecute cannabis-related activities, 
including in such states that have legalized cannabis. While the Sessions Memorandum emphasized that cannabis is 
a Schedule I controlled substance and reiterated the statutory view that cannabis is a “dangerous drug and marijuana 
activity is a serious crime”, it does not otherwise confirm for U.S. Attorneys that prosecution of cannabis-related 
offenses is now a U.S. DOJ priority.  

On February 14, 2019, William Barr was confirmed by the U.S. Senate as the next Attorney General. On January 15, 
2019, during his confirmation hearing, Mr. Barr indicated that he personally believes cannabis should remain illegal 
but he also stated that if confirmed, he would not “go after companies that have relied on the 2013 Cole 
Memorandum and that his approach with regard to federal cannabis law enforcement would be “not to upset settled 
expectations.” Mr. Barr doubled down on these statements in response to written questions from senators writing 
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“[a]s discussed at my hearing, I do not intend to go after parties who have complied with state law in reliance on the 
2013 Cole Memorandum.” Mr. Barr did not commit to formally replacing the 2013 Cole Memorandum in such 
responses writing “I have not closely considered or determined whether further administrative guidance would be 
appropriate following the 2013 Cole Memorandum and the [Sessions Memorandum], or what such guidance might 
look like … If confirmed, I will give the matter careful consideration.” 

Mr. Barr’s approach to cannabis federal law enforcement may prove less aggressive than Attorney General 
Session’s get‐tough on cannabis stance and could reduce the uncertainty stemming from Attorney General Session’s 
tenure. However, Mr. Barr has made it clear that he does not support federal legalization and until he begins 
implementing these policies, considerable uncertainty remains.  

Regardless, marijuana remains a Schedule I controlled substance at the federal level, and neither the 2013 Cole 
Memorandum nor its rescission has altered that fact. The federal government of the United States has always 
reserved the right to enforce federal law in regard to the sale and disbursement of medical or recreational marijuana, 
even if state law sanctioned such sale and disbursement. From a purely legal perspective, the criminal risk today 
remains identical to the risk on January 3, 2018. It is unclear whether the risk of enforcement has been altered by 
former Attorney General Sessions or will be altered by the current Attorney General William Barr. 

FDA Regulation 

The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the “FDCA”) is the primary food and drug law in the United States. 
Among other provisions, the FD&C Act prohibits the movement in interstate commerce of adulterated and 
misbranded food, drugs, devices and cosmetics. The FDA is charged with protecting the public health by, among 
other things, ensuring the safety of the country’s food supply, including human and animal foods and dietary 
supplements. As explained below, the FDA has consistently taken the position that it is unlawful to introduce food 
containing added CBD into interstate commerce, or to market CBD products as, or in, dietary supplements, 
regardless of whether the substances are hemp-derived, because CBD is an active ingredient in an FDA-approved 
drug and was the subject of substantial clinical investigations, the existence of which were made public, before it 
was marketed as a food or dietary supplement. On the date that the 2018 Farm Bill was signed into law, the FDA 
released a statement from then Commissioner Scott Gottlieb reaffirming its position that products containing CBD 
may not be sold as food or dietary supplements, and the FDA has issued similar statements from time to time, 
including most recently on March 11, 2020. The FDA’s position creates additional barriers to lawfully selling CBD 
and CBD-based products in the United States. In addition, although the FDA has not taken the position that CBD is 
prohibited in cosmetics, the agency can take action if it has information that an ingredient or cosmetic product is 
unsafe to consumers.  

Regarding dietary supplements, the FDA’s position is rooted in the Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act 
(the “DSHEA”), an amendment to the FD&C Act establishing a legal framework governing the composition, safety, 
labeling, manufacturing and marketing of dietary supplements in the United States. Under DSHEA, dietary 
ingredients marketed in the United States prior to October 15, 1994 may be used in dietary supplements without 
notifying the FDA. By contrast, any and all “new” dietary ingredients (i.e., dietary ingredients “not marketed in the 
United States before October 15, 1994”) must be the subject of a new dietary ingredient notification submitted to the 
FDA unless the ingredient has been “present in the food supply as an article used for food” and is not “chemically 
altered.” Any new dietary ingredient notification must provide the FDA with evidence of a “history of use or other 
evidence of safety” establishing that use of the dietary ingredient “will reasonably be expected to be safe.” Excluded 
from the DSHEA’s definition of a dietary supplement is: “an article that is approved as a new drug” or “an article 
authorized for investigation as a new drug… for which substantial clinical investigations have been instituted and 
for which the existence of such investigations has been made public”, with certain limited exceptions. 
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The FDA has taken the position that CBD is excluded from the dietary supplement definition under DSHEA. As 
noted above, if a substance (such as CBD) is an active ingredient in a drug product that has been approved as a new 
drug under the FD&C Act, or has been authorized for investigation as a new drug for which substantial clinical 
investigations have been instituted and for which the existence of such investigations has been made public, then 
products containing that substance are excluded from the statutory definition of a dietary supplement. The FDA 
considers a substance to be “authorized for investigation as a new drug” if it is the subject of an Investigational New 
Drug application (“IND”) that has gone into effect. There is an exception to the prohibition if the substance was 
“marketed as” a dietary supplement or a conventional food before the drug was approved or before the new drug 
investigations were authorized. However, the FDA has stated that it is not aware of any evidence that CBD was 
marketed in conventional foods or dietary supplements prior to being subject to substantial clinical investigations. 
Rather, the FDA has concluded that CBD cannot be marketed as a dietary supplement because it has been the 
subject of substantial clinical investigations as a new drug (known as “IND Preclusion”). More specifically, 
according to the FDA, substantial clinical investigations for Sativex (which contains delta-9 THC and CBD), 
sponsored by Greenwich Biosciences, the U.S. subsidiary of London-based GW Pharmaceuticals, were authorized 
prior to the sales and marketing of CBD as a dietary supplement. Therefore, the FDA takes the position that, based 
on available evidence, CBD is excluded from the dietary supplement definition and cannot be sold or marketed as 
such. 

On July 16, 2019, the FDA issued a consumer update regarding its efforts to address “unanswered questions about 
the science, safety, and quality of products containing CBD.” Specifically, the FDA noted concerns regarding 
potential liver toxicity, questions about cumulative exposure to CBD over time, the effects of CBD on special 
populations (e.g., the elderly, children, adolescents, pregnant and lactating women), and the safety of CBD for use in 
animals including pets. On October 16, 2019, the FDA issued another consumer update cautioning against the use of 
CBD, THC, and marijuana during pregnancy or while breastfeeding due to the current lack of comprehensive 
research studying the effects of CBD on the developing fetus, pregnant mother, or breastfed baby. On November 25, 
2019, the FDA issued another consumer update echoing these and other concerns related to CBD. In addition, in 
2019, the FDA published numerous warning letters issued to firms that market products containing CBD, several of 
which were co-issued by the FTC for violations of the Federal Trade Commission Act based on unsubstantiated 
advertising.  

Despite the FDA’s position, like a number of other companies, the Company believes there are differing 
interpretations among state and federal regulatory agencies, legislators, academics and businesses as to whether 
cannabinoids, including CBD, were present in the food supply and marketed as such prior to October 15, 1994, 
and/or whether the inclusion of cannabinoids is otherwise permitted by the FDA as dietary ingredients. For example, 
while the FDA has focused its enforcement and public statements on CBD products, the Company believes the IND 
Preclusion does not apply to “full spectrum” or “broad spectrum” hemp extracts which may contain CBD (among 
other cannabinoids) as a natural or inherent constituent. In its March 5, 2020 public update and report to Congress, 
the FDA acknowledged that some product developers may be marketing “full spectrum” or “broad spectrum” hemp 
extracts as foods or dietary supplements, rather than CBD isolates. The FDA did not assert that such products that 
contain CBD as a natural constituent will conclusively be regulated the same way as products marketed as and 
containing CBD isolate. However, the FDA indicated that it is considering how such products compare to CBD 
isolates, which may impact the FDA’s evaluation of the regulatory status and compliance of such products. As a 
result, the Company believes the distribution and sale of its hemp-based products intended for human consumption 
may be permissible notwithstanding the FDA’s public statements regarding CBD, because the Company does not 
market or promote products containing CBD isolates, and rather sells only products containing “full spectrum” or 
“broad spectrum” hemp. Moreover, the Company believes that uncertainties regarding such products cannot be 
resolved without further federal legislation, regulation or a definitive judicial interpretation of existing legislation 
and rules. A determination that hemp products containing CBD or other cannabinoids were not present in the food 
supply, marketed prior to October 15, 1994, and/or are not otherwise permissible for use as a dietary ingredient, may 
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have a material adverse effect upon the Company and its business. Moreover, the FDA’s continued and widespread 
enforcement of the IND Preclusion based on the FDA’s interpretation of the FD&C Act may have a material adverse 
effect upon the Company and its business. 

Notably, the FDA has stated that given the “substantial public interest in marketing and accessing CBD in food, 
including dietary supplements,” the FDA “is committed to evaluating the regulatory frameworks for non-drug uses, 
including products marketed as foods and dietary supplements.” The FDA has also stated that “[t]he statutory 
provisions that currently prohibit marketing CBD in these forms also allow the FDA to issue a regulation creating an 
exception, and some stakeholders have asked that the FDA consider issuing such a regulation to allow for the 
marketing of CBD in conventional foods or as a dietary supplement, or both.” It is unclear whether the FDA will in 
fact issue such a regulation. In connection with the Further Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2020 (the “FCAA 
2020”), Congress included “$2,000,000 for research, policy evaluation, market surveillance, issuance of an 
enforcement discretion policy, and appropriate regulatory activities with respect to products under the jurisdiction of 
the FDA which contain CBD and meet the definition of hemp” pursuant to the 2018 Farm Bill. Congress also 
established an expectation for the FDA to provide, within sixty (60) days of the enactment of the FCAA 2020, “a 
report regarding the [FDA’s] progress toward obtaining and analyzing data to help determine a policy of 
enforcement discretion and the process in which CBD meeting the definition of hemp will be evaluated for use in 
products” and to perform “a sampling study of the current CBD marketplace to determine the extent to which 
products are mislabeled or adulterated,” and issue a report regarding the same, within 180 days of the enactment of 
the FCAA 2020. On March 5, 2020, the FDA issued the first report to Congress in connection with the FCAA and 
published a statement to update the public on its work to date on CBD. This update enumerates the various factors 
the FDA continues to consider and evaluate in relation to hemp-derived CBD products, and notes the agency has 
indefinitely re-opened a public docket on products containing cannabis-derived compounds in order to more 
efficiently collect safety data and other information related to hemp-derived CBD products. The report and update 
both state that the FDA is currently evaluating a risk-based enforcement policy for CBD; however, they made no 
immediate change to the status quo. The FDA did not provide any specifics as to whether or when it will release an 
enforcement policy or what such a policy would contain. The agency stated that “[a]ny enforcement policy would 
need to further the goals of protecting the public and providing more clarity to industry and the public regarding the 
FDA’s enforcement priorities while we take potential steps to establish a clear regulatory pathway”.  The update 
also states that the FDA will continue to take action against unlawful CBD products that pose a risk of harm to the 
public, including but not limited to products marketed with claims of therapeutic benefits, products marketed with 
false statements (such as omitted ingredients and incorrect statements about CBD content), products with 
contaminants (such as heavy metals or high levels of THC), and products marketed to vulnerable populations (such 
as children and infants) or that otherwise put the public at risk. 

Other than the possible non-compliance with the FDA’s interpretation of the law as stated above, the Company 
believes it and its supplies are in compliance with applicable law and has not received any citations or notices of 
violation which may have an impact on the Company’s business activities or operations. 

Anti-Money Laundering Laws, Banking Regulations and Bankruptcy Protection 

Under U.S. federal law, it may be a violation of federal money laundering statutes for financial institutions to take 
any proceeds from the sale of cannabis or any other Schedule I controlled substance under the Federal CSA. 
Canadian banks are likewise hesitant to deal with cannabis companies due to the uncertain legal and regulatory 
framework of the industry. Banks and other financial institutions, particularly those that are federally chartered in 
the U.S., could be prosecuted and possibly convicted of money laundering for providing services to businesses with 
operations or a connection to cannabis. Despite these laws, the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Financial Crimes 
Enforcement Network (“FinCEN”) issued a memorandum on February 14, 2014 (the “FinCEN Memorandum”) 
outlining the pathways for financial institutions to bank state-sanctioned cannabis businesses in compliance with 
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federal enforcement priorities. The FinCEN Memorandum echoed the enforcement priorities of the 2013 Cole 
Memorandum. Under these guidelines, financial institutions must submit a Suspicious Activity Report (“SAR”) in 
connection with all cannabis-related banking activities by any client of such financial institution, in accordance with 
federal money laundering laws. These cannabis-related SARs are divided into three categories, being marijuana 
limited, marijuana priority and marijuana terminated, which are based on the financial institution’s belief that the 
business in question follows state law, is operating outside of compliance with state law or where the banking 
relationship has been terminated, respectively.  

On the same day the FinCEN Memorandum was published, the U.S. DOJ issued a memorandum (the “2014 Cole 
Memorandum”) directing prosecutors to apply the enforcement priorities of the 2013 Cole Memorandum in 
determining whether to charge individuals or institutions with crimes related to financial transactions involving the 
proceeds of cannabis-related conduct. The 2014 Cole Memorandum was also rescinded as of January 4, 2018, along 
with the 2013 Cole Memorandum, removing guidance that enforcement of applicable financial crimes against state-
compliant actors was not a U.S. DOJ priority. 

However, U.S. Attorney General Jeff Sessions’ rescission of the 2013 Cole Memorandum and the 2014 Cole 
Memorandum has not affected the status of the FinCEN Memorandum, nor has the Department of the Treasury 
given any indication that it intends to rescind the FinCEN Memorandum itself. Though it was originally intended for 
the 2014 Cole Memorandum and the FinCEN Memorandum to work in tandem, the FinCEN Memorandum appears 
to be a standalone document which explicitly lists the eight enforcement priorities originally cited in the 2013 Cole 
Memorandum. As such, the FinCEN Memorandum remains intact.  

While the FinCEN Memorandum has not been rescinded by the U.S. DOJ at this time, it remains unclear whether 
the current administration will follow its guidelines. Overall, the U.S. DOJ continues to have the right and power to 
prosecute crimes committed by banks and financial institutions, such as money laundering and violations of the 
Bank Secrecy Act, that occur in any state, including in states that have legalized the applicable conduct, and the U.S. 
DOJ’s current enforcement priorities could change for any number of reasons, including a change in the opinions of 
the President of the United States or the U.S. Attorney General. A change in the U.S. DOJ’s enforcement priorities 
could result in the U.S. DOJ prosecuting banks and financial institutions for crimes that previously were not 
prosecuted. 

Banks often refuse to provide banking services to businesses involved in the cannabis industry due to the present 
state of the laws and regulations governing financial institutions in the United States. The lack of banking and 
financial services presents unique and significant challenges to businesses operating in and ancillary to the cannabis 
industry. The potential lack of a secure place in which to deposit and store cash, the inability to pay creditors 
through the issuance of checks and the inability to secure traditional forms of operational financing, such as lines of 
credit, are some of the many challenges presented by the lack of traditional banking and financial services available 
to businesses operating in or ancillary to the cannabis industry. 

Additionally, the Company does not have protection under U.S. bankruptcy laws. U.S. bankruptcy laws were 
adopted to protect financially troubled businesses and to provide for orderly distributions to business creditors. All 
bankruptcy cases are handled in U.S. federal courts, and the U.S. DOJ has stated that it is the U.S. Trustee 
Program’s (“USTP”) position that no assets associated with the cannabis industry can be liquidated or restricted 
following bankruptcy without violating the Federal CSA. In addition, the Director of the USTP recently issued a 
letter to 1,100 trustees who administer bankruptcy cases urging the trustees to monitor and report to the U.S. DOJ 
cannabis companies looking to declare bankruptcy. 

If any of the Company’s operations, or any proceeds thereof, any dividends or distributions therefrom, or any profits 
or revenues accruing from such operations in the United States are found to be in violation of money laundering 
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legislation or otherwise, such transactions may be viewed as proceeds of crime under one or more of the statutes 
noted above or any other applicable legislation. This could restrict or otherwise jeopardize the ability of the 
Company to declare or pay dividends and could affect other distributions, including the Company’s ability to 
transfer funds into Canada. Furthermore, while the Company has no current intentions to declare or pay dividends in 
the foreseeable future, if a determination was made that the Company’s proceeds from operations (or any future 
operations or investments in the United States) could reasonably be shown to constitute proceeds of crime, the 
Company may decide, or be required, to suspend declaring or paying dividends without advance notice and for an 
indefinite period of time. 

Enforcement of U.S. Federal Laws 

Enforcement of U.S. federal law is a significant risk to cannabis businesses operating in the United States. The 
rescission of the 2013 Cole Memorandum increased the uncertainty and risk associated with the enforcement of U.S. 
federal laws regarding the production, manufacture, processing, possession, distribution, sale and use of cannabis. 
There is no certainty as to how the U.S. DOJ, the U.S. Federal Bureau of Investigation and other government 
agencies will handle cannabis matters now that the 2013Cole Memorandum is no longer in effect.  

There can be no assurance that the U.S. federal government will not seek to prosecute cases involving cannabis 
businesses, notwithstanding compliance with state law. Any such proceedings could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s business, revenues, operating results and financial condition, as well as the Company’s reputation 
and ability to raise capital.  

Further, violations of any U.S. federal laws and regulations could result in significant fines, penalties, administrative 
sanctions, convictions or settlements arising from civil proceedings conducted by either the U.S. federal government 
or private citizens, or criminal charges, including, but not limited to, disgorgement of profits, cessation of business 
activities or divestiture. This could have a material adverse effect on the Company, including its reputation and 
ability to conduct business, its ability to list its securities on stock exchanges, its financial position, its operating 
results, its profitability or liquidity or the value of its securities. In addition, the time of management and advisors of 
the Company and resources that would be needed for the investigation of any such matters or their final resolution 
could be substantial. 

U.S. Enforcement Proceedings 

Although the 2013 Cole Memorandum and 2014 Cole Memorandum have been rescinded, one legislative safeguard 
for the medical cannabis industry remains in place. U.S. Congress has used a rider provision (the “Rider 
Provision”) in the fiscal years 2015 to  2019, and 2020 Consolidated Appropriations Acts to prevent the U.S. federal 
government from using congressionally appropriated funds to enforce federal cannabis laws against regulated 
cannabis actors operating in compliance with state and local law. The Rider Provision shall remain in effect until the 
end of the FY 2020 (i.e., September 30, 2020). At such time, there are several possibilities: Congress could pass a 
FY 2021 budget, in which case it could either include the Rider Provision (or a similar provision), or Congress could 
fail to pass any kind of a budget, in which case a government shutdown would result and the protections of the Rider 
Provision would end. As the Rider Provision protects only state medical cannabis actors, there can be no assurance 
that U.S. federal prosecutors will not use U.S. DOJ funds to interfere with state adult-use cannabis actors. 

State Level Overview 

The following sections present an overview of market and regulatory conditions for the marijuana industry in U.S. 
states in which the Company has a substantial operating presence and is presented as of June 2020, unless otherwise 
indicated. Although the Company’s activities are compliant with applicable United States state and local law, strict 
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compliance with state and local laws with respect to cannabis may neither absolve the Company of liability under 
United States federal law, nor may it provide a defense to any federal proceeding which may be brought against the 
Company. 

California Law 

In 1996, California voters approved Proposition 215 (the “Compassionate Use Act”), allowing physicians to 
recommend cannabis for an inclusive set of qualifying conditions including chronic pain. The law established a not-
for-profit patient/caregiver system, but there was no state licensing authority to oversee the businesses that emerged 
as a result of the system. In September of 2015, the California legislature passed three bills, collectively known as 
the “Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act”. In 2016, California voters passed “The Adult Use of Marijuana 
Act”, which legalized adult-use cannabis for adults 21 years of age and older and created a licensing system for 
commercial cannabis businesses. On June 27, 2017, Governor Brown signed SB-94 into law. SB-94 combined 
California’s medicinal and adult-use cannabis regulatory frameworks into one licensing structure under the 
Medicinal and Adult-Use of Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MAUCRSA”). 

Pursuant to MAUCRSA: (1) CalCannabis, a division of the California Department of Food and Agriculture, issued 
licenses to cannabis cultivators; (2) the Manufactured Cannabis Safety Branch issues licenses to cannabis 
manufacturers; and (3) the California Department of Consumer Affairs, via its agency the CBCC, issues licenses to 
cannabis distributors, testing laboratories, retailers and micro-businesses. These agencies also oversee the various 
aspects of implementing and maintaining California’s cannabis landscape, including the statewide track and trace 
system. All three agencies released their emergency rulemakings at the end of 2017 and updated them with revisions 
in June 2018 (the “Readopted Emergency Regulations”). The three agencies also released the first draft of their 
permanent rulemakings in July 2018 and the second draft of their permanent rulemakings in October 2018, which 
are currently undergoing the rulemaking process (the “Proposed Non-Emergency Regulations”). The Readopted 
Emergency Regulations will remain in effect until the Proposed Non-Emergency Regulations are formally 
completed. All three agencies began issuing temporary licenses in January 2018 and are currently evaluating annual 
license applications. A temporary license is a conditional license that allows a business to engage in commercial 
cannabis activity for a period of 120 days and may be given 90-day extensions if the licensee has applied for an 
annual license with the respective licensing authority. 

To operate legally under state law, cannabis operators must obtain a state license and local approval. Local 
authorization is a prerequisite to obtaining state licensure from all three state licensing agencies, and local 
governments are permitted to prohibit or otherwise regulate the types and number of cannabis businesses allowed in 
their locality. California has not set a limit on the number of state licenses an entity may hold, unlike other states that 
have restricted how many cannabis licenses an entity may hold in total or for various types of cannabis activity. 
Although vertical integration across multiple license types is allowed under MAUCRSA, testing laboratory licensees 
may not hold any other licenses aside from a laboratory license. There are also no residency requirements for 
ownership under MAUCRSA. 

License types are designated into two classes: Type M (medical) or Type A (adult-use). There are 20 types of 
licenses, and a single entity may possess both Type M and Type A licenses. Licensees must conduct their 
commercial cannabis activity within a single premises, which must be contiguous. Although multiple premises are 
allowed on a given parcel, each premises must be sufficiently separate from any other premises, i.e., having separate 
entrances and exits and no shared common areas. Importantly, licensees may not sublet any portion of their licensed 
premises, and therefore, a licensee cannot lease a multi-unit building and sublease one of the units to an affiliated 
licensee. 
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The Company is directly involved in the manufacturing of cannabis in California as a result of the acquisition of its 
51% interest in LVV on January 3, 2019. LVV has represented to the Company that its business was conducted in 
compliance with the regulatory framework enacted by the State of California. LVV is in compliance with all 
applicable California laws, regulations, and guidelines.  LVV holds a California Type N: Infusion, Annual 
Manufacturing Licence and a California Provisional Type 11 Adult-Use and Medicinal Distributor License.   

Local Licensure, Zoning and Land Use Requirements 

To obtain a state license, cannabis operators must first obtain local authorization, which is a prerequisite to obtaining 
state licensure. All three state regulatory agencies require confirmation from the applicable locality that an applicant 
is in compliance with local requirements and has either been granted authorization to, upon state licensure, continue 
previous cannabis activities or commence cannabis operations. One of the basic aspects of obtaining local 
authorization is compliance with all local zoning and land use requirements. Local governments are permitted to 
prohibit or otherwise regulate the types and number of cannabis businesses allowed in their locality. Some localities 
have limited the number of authorizations an entity may hold in total or for various types of cannabis activity. 
Others have tiered the authorization process, granting the initial rounds of local authorization to applicants that 
previously conducted cannabis activity pursuant to the Compassionate Use Act or those that meet the locality’s 
definition of social equity. Both TOP and Sonoma Pac were granted full zoning and use permits by Sonoma County 
on March 14, 2019. 

Record-Keeping and Continuous Reporting Requirements 

California’s state license application process additionally requires comprehensive criminal history, regulatory 
history and personal disclosures for all owners. Any criminal convictions or civil penalties or judgments occurring 
after licensure must promptly be reported to the regulatory agency from which the licensee holds a license. State 
licenses must be renewed annually. Disclosure requirements for local authorization may vary, but generally tend to 
mirror the State of California’s requirements. Licensees must also keep detailed records pertaining to various aspects 
of the business for up to seven years. Such records must be easily accessible by the regulatory agency from which 
the licensee holds a license. Additionally, licensees must record all business transactions, which must be uploaded to 
the statewide traceability system, once the system has been implemented by CalCannabis. 

Operating Procedure Requirements 

Applicants must submit standard operating procedures describing how the operator will, among other requirements, 
secure the facility, manage inventory, comply with California’s seed-to-sale tracking requirements, dispense 
cannabis, and handle waste, as applicable to the license sought. Once the standard operating procedures are 
determined compliant and approved by the applicable state regulatory agency, the licensee is required to abide by 
the processes described and seek regulatory agency approval before any changes to such procedures may be made. 
Licensees are additionally required to train their employees on compliant operations and are only permitted to 
transact with other legal and licensed businesses. 

Site Visits & Inspections 

LVV will not be able to obtain or maintain state licensure, and thus engage in commercial cannabis activities in the 
State of California, without satisfying and maintaining compliance with state and local law. As a condition of state 
licensure, operators must consent to random and unannounced inspections of the commercial cannabis facility 
enacted similar standards for inspections, and the state has already commenced site-visits and compliance 
inspections for operators who have received state temporary or annual licensure. 
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Compliance Procedures 

LVV has retained industry experts in California cannabis law, as local outside counsel to oversee and monitor 
compliance with U.S. state law on an ongoing basis. These experts in the field keep LVV fully informed of 
regulatory changes and recommend standard operating procedures to facilitate the implementation and maintenance 
of compliant operations, required tracking and license reporting. LVV will continue to work closely with the 
advisors to develop and improve its internal compliance program and will defer to their legal opinions and risk 
mitigation guidance regarding California’s complex regulatory framework. The internal compliance program, 
including the update of operational procedures and use of checklists, requires continued monitoring by managers 
and executives of the Company to ensure all operations conform with legally-compliant standard operating 
procedures. The Company expects LVV to report and disclose all instances of non-compliance, regulatory, 
administrative, or legal proceedings that may be initiated against them. LVV has been in compliance with the 
regulatory requirements as they have unfolded throughout 2018 and 2019. 

Nevada Law 

Nevada has a medical marijuana program and passed adult-use legalization through the ballot box in November 
2016. In 2000, Nevada voters passed a medical marijuana initiative allowing physicians to recommend cannabis for 
an inclusive set of qualifying conditions including chronic pain and created a limited non-commercial medical 
marijuana patient/caregiver system. Senate Bill 374, which passed the legislature and was signed by the Governor in 
2013, expanded this program and established a for-profit regulated medical marijuana industry. Medical marijuana 
in Nevada is now regulated under Chapter 453A of the Nevada revised Statutes (“NRS”).  

The Nevada Division of Public and Behavioral Health (the “Division”) licensed medical marijuana establishments 
up until July 1, 2017, when the state’s medical marijuana program merged with adult-use marijuana enforcement 
under the NDOT. In 2014, Nevada accepted medical marijuana business applications and a few months later the 
Division approved 182 cultivation licenses, 118 licenses for the production of edibles and infused products, 17 
independent testing laboratories, and 55 medical marijuana dispensary licenses. The number of dispensary licenses 
was then increased to 66 by legislative action in 2015. The application process was merit-based, competitive, and is 
currently closed.  

Nevada does not have any U.S. residency requirements. In the State of Nevada, only cannabis that is grown or 
produced in the state by a licensed establishment may be sold in the state. In addition, vertical integration is neither 
required nor prohibited. All medical marijuana sales are made subject to the recipient holding a registry 
identification card issued by the State of Nevada under NSR 453A. 200 through 250. The Company is permitted to 
sell medical marijuana products to non-Nevada patients as non-Nevada patients are permitted reciprocity under NRS 
453A.364, which states at sub-paragraph (2), “A medical marijuana dispensary may dispense marijuana to a person 
described in subsection 1 if the person presents to the medical marijuana dispensary any document which is valid to 
prove the authorization of the person to engage in the medical use of marijuana under the laws of his or her state or 
jurisdiction of residence. Such documentation may include, without limitation, written documentation from a 
physician or other provider of health care if, under the laws of the person’s state or jurisdiction of residence, written 
documentation from a physician or other provider of health care is sufficient to exempt the person from prosecution 
for engaging in the medical use of marijuana. Nevada also allows for dispensaries to deliver medical marijuana to 
patients in the State of Nevada.  

Under Nevada’s adult-use marijuana law, the NDOT licenses marijuana cultivation facilities, product manufacturing 
facilities, distributors, retail stores and testing facilities. After merging medical and adult-use marijuana regulation 
and enforcement, the single regulatory agency is now known as the “Marijuana Enforcement Division of the 
Department of Taxation.” For the first 18 months after legalization, applications to the Department for adult-use 
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establishment licenses could only be accepted from existing medical marijuana establishments and from existing 
liquor distributors for the adult-use distribution license. On November 16, 2018, the period of exclusivity for adult 
use marijuana licenses ended and eligibility is no longer limited to Medical Marijuana Establishment Certificate 
holders (or liquor wholesalers for distribution licenses).  

Medical Marijuana Program  

A medical cultivation license permits its holder to acquire, posses, cultivate, deliver, transfer, have tested, transport, 
supply or sell marijuana and related supplies to medical marijuana dispensaries, facilities for the production of 
edible medical marijuana products and/or medical marijuana-infused products, and other medical marijuana 
cultivation facilities; The medical product manufacturing license permits its holder to acquire, posses, manufacture, 
deliver, transfer, transport, supply, or sell edible marijuana products or marijuana infused products to other medical 
marijuana production facilities or medical marijuana dispensaries.  

Each medical marijuana establishment must register with the NDOT and apply for a medical marijuana 
establishment registration certificate. Among other requirements, there are minimum liquidity requirements and 
restrictions on the geographic location of a medical marijuana establishment as well as restrictions relating to the age 
and criminal background of employees, owners, officers and board members of the establishment. All employees 
must be over 21 and all owners, officers and board members must not have any previous felony convictions or had a 
previously granted medical marijuana registration revoked. Additionally, each volunteer, employee, owner, officer 
and board member of a medical marijuana establishment must be registered with the NDOT as a medical marijuana 
agent and hold a valid medical marijuana establishment agent card. The establishment must have adequate security 
measures and use an electronic verification system and inventory control system. If the proposed medical marijuana 
establishment will sell or deliver edible marijuana products or marijuana-infused products, proposed operating 
procedures for handling such products must be preapproved by the NDOT.  

In determining whether to issue a medical marijuana establishment registration certificate pursuant to NRS 
453A.322, the NDOT, considers the following criteria of merit:  

 the total financial resources of the applicant, both liquid and illiquid;  

 the previous experience of the persons who are proposed to be owners, officers or board members of the 
proposed medical marijuana establishment at operating other businesses or non-profit organizations; 

 the educational achievements of the persons who are proposed to be owners, officers or board members of 
the proposed medical marijuana establishment; 

 any demonstrated knowledge or expertise on the part of the persons who are proposed to be owners, 
officers or board members of the proposed medical marijuana establishment with respect to the 
compassionate use of marijuana to treat medical conditions; 

 whether the proposed location of the proposed medical marijuana establishment would be convenient to 
serve the needs of persons who are authorized to engage in the medical use of marijuana; 

 the likely impact of the proposed medical marijuana establishment on the community in which it is 
proposed to be located; 

 the adequacy of the size of the proposed medical marijuana establishment to serve the needs of persons 
who are authorized to engage in the medical use of marijuana; 

 whether the applicant has an integrated plan for the care, quality and safekeeping of medical marijuana 
from seed to sale; 

 the amount of taxes paid to, or other beneficial financial contributions made to, the State of Nevada or its 
political subdivisions by the applicant or the persons who are proposed to be owners, officers or board 
members of the proposed medical marijuana establishment; and 
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 any other criteria of merit that the Division determines to be relevant. Medical marijuana establishment 
registration certificate expires one year after the date of issuance and may be renewed upon resubmission of 
the application information and renewal fee to the NDOT.  

Adult Use/Recreational Program  

In February 2017, the NDOT announced plans to issue “early start” recreational marijuana establishment 
licenses in the summer of 2017. These licenses expired at the end of the year and, beginning on July 1, 2017, 
allowed marijuana establishments holding both a retail marijuana store and dispensary license to sell their 
existing medical marijuana inventory as either medical or adult-use marijuana. All cannabis cultivated, and 
infused products produced under the adult-use program that were not existing inventory at a medical marijuana 
dispensary was required to be transported to retail marijuana stores utilizing a licensed retail marijuana 
distributor. Starting on July 1, 2017, medical and adult-use marijuana became subject to a 15% excise tax on the 
first wholesale sale (calculated on the fair market value) and adult-use cannabis is subject to an additional 10% 
special retail marijuana sales tax in addition to any general state and local sales and use taxes.  

NDOT is responsible for licensing and regulating retail marijuana businesses and medical marijuana program in 
Nevada. There are five types of retail marijuana establishment licenses: 

 Cultivation Facility - Licenses to cultivate (grow), process, and package marijuana; to have marijuana 
tested by a testing facility; and to sell marijuana to retail marijuana stores, to marijuana product 
manufacturing facilities, and to other cultivation facilities, but not to consumers.  

 Distributor - Licenses to transport marijuana from a marijuana establishment to another marijuana 
establishment.  

 Product Manufacturing Facility - Licenses to purchase marijuana; manufacture, process, and 
package marijuana and marijuana products; and sell marijuana and marijuana products to other product 
manufacturing facilities and to retail marijuana stores, but not to consumers.  

 Testing Facility - Licenses to test marijuana and marijuana products, including for potency and 
contaminants.  

 Retail Store - Licenses to purchase marijuana from cultivation facilities, marijuana and marijuana 
products from product manufacturing facilities, and marijuana from other retail stores; can sell 
marijuana and marijuana products to consumers.  

The regular retail marijuana program began in early 2018. The Regulation and Taxation of Marijuana Act 
specified that, for the first 18 months of the program, only existing medical marijuana establishment 
certificate holders can apply for a retail marijuana establishment license. Beginning in November 2018, 
NDOT opened the application process to those not holding a medical marijuana establishment certificate. 
The regular program is governed by permanent regulations, drafted by NDOT. On July 6, 2018, the 
Department issued a Notice of Intent to Accept Applications for Marijuana Licenses and released a 
Recreational Marijuana Establishment License Application for Recreational Retail Marijuana Stores only. 
The request for applications was limited to existing MME certificate holders seeking a retail recreational 
marijuana establishment license pursuant to Section 78 of the Approved Regulations, and the Notice 
required that all applications be submitted between September 7, 2018, and September 20, 2018. On 
December 5, 2018, the Department provided each applicant with written notice of the grant or denial of 
their application for a license. The Department awarded approximately 61 recreational retail marijuana 
store licenses, 31 of which were for Clark County, Nevada. Since the award of licenses in December 2018, 
several lawsuits have been filed alleging defects in NDOT’s license application process, one of which 
resulted in an injunction hearing. As a result of the hearing, the Court enjoined NDOT from conducting a 
final inspection of any of the licenses issued in December 2018, for applicants who did not provide the 
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identification of each prospective owner, officer and board member as required by NRS 453D.200(6) 
pending a trial on the merits, preventing NDOT from conducting a final inspection of 25 of the conditional 
licenses issued.  

On May 6, 2019, the Nevada legislature enacted SB 32 (Effective May 10, 2019) which revises provisions 
relating to the confidentiality and privilege of certain records and files of the NVDOT, making the names 
of marijuana business owners public in Nevada. The new law authorizes certain disclosures of information 
relating to an application to operate a marijuana establishment or a person who is licensed to operate a 
marijuana establishment, including the identity of an applicant and any owner, officer or board member of 
an applicant, the methodology used to rank applicants for a license to operate a marijuana establishment, 
and the score assigned to applicants. On June 2, 2019, the Nevada Senate voted, to approve AB 533 with an 
amendment that places a two-year moratorium on cannabis lounges throughout the state. AB 533 adds a 
Cannabis Advisory Commission and a Cannabis Compliance Board (CCB), and was signed into law on 
June 12, 2019. The CCB will consist of five members appointed by the governor and will be a 
comprehensive regulatory board that will include expertise in a range of fields, including financial and 
accounting, law enforcement, medicine, regulatory and legal compliance, and cannabis. The governor has 
begun the appointment process for the five members of the CCB. AB 533 also establishes a Cannabis 
Advisory Commission, to which the governor will appoint experts in direct and marijuana related fields. 
The Advisory Commission members are intended to inform the CCB and its decision making but the CCB 
will not be bound by its recommendations.. The new structure will take over regulatory issues. However, 
tax collections from medical and retail cannabis products will remain the responsibility of the Department 
of Taxation. Establishing the CCB is part of Governor Sisolak’s multi-pronged approach to reforming and 
strengthening Nevada’s legal cannabis industry, along with removing economic barriers to legal cannabis 
users and individuals with prior cannabis convictions. At the onset of COVID quarantine shut downs, 
Nevada’s governor deemed cannabis operations an essential business in the state and allowed marijuana 
companies to continue to operate during the shutdown. On June 17, 2020, the governor’s resolution to clear 
the records and restore the rights of persons convicted of minor marijuana offenses passed the Nevada State 
Board of Pardons unanimously.  

Storage and Security  

To ensure the safety and security of cannabis business premises and to maintain adequate controls against 
the diversion, theft, and loss of cannabis or cannabis products, Nevada state law requires the following to 
each licensed facility: 

 be an enclosed, locked facility; 

 have a single secure entrance; 

 train employees in security measures and controls, emergency response protocol, confidentiality 
requirements, safe handling of equipment, procedures for handling products, as well as the 
differences in strains, methods of consumption (if applicable), methods of cultivation, methods of 
fertilization and methods of health monitoring; 

 install security equipment to deter and prevent unauthorized entrances, which includes: 
o devices that detect unauthorized intrusion which may include a signal system; and 
o  exterior lighting to facilitate surveillance; 

 electronic monitoring must be in place, which includes: 
o at least one call-up monitoring that is 19 inches or more; 
o a video printer capable of immediately producing a clear still photo from any video 

camera image; 
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 video cameras with a recording resolution of at least 704x480 which provides coverage of all 
entrances to and exists from limited access areas and all entrances to and exits from the building 
and which can identify any activity occurring in or adjacent to the building; 

 a video camera in each grow room which can identify any activity occurring within the grow room 
in low light conditions: 

o a method for storing video recordings from the video cameras for at least thirty (30) 
calendar days; 

o a failure notification system that provides an audible and visual notification of any failure 
of the electronic monitoring system; 

o sufficient battery backup for video cameras and recording equipment to support at least 
five (5) minutes of recording in the event of a power outage; 

o security alarm to alert local law enforcement of an unauthorized breach of security; and 

 implement security procedures that: 
o restrict access of the establishment to only those persons/employees authorized to be 

there; 
o deter and prevent theft; 
o provide identification (badge) for those persons/employees authorized to be in the 

establishment; 
o prevent loitering; 
o require and explain electronic monitoring; and 
o require and explain the use of automatic or electronic notification to alert local law 

enforcement of an unauthorized breach of security.  

Transportation  

The issuance of retail marijuana distribution licenses has been subject to an ongoing legal battle after NDOT opened 
distribution licenses to existing medical marijuana establishments based on the premise that there was an insufficient 
number of applications from existing liquor distributors to service the new adult-use cannabis market. There are 
currently 24 licensed distributors that are medical marijuana establishments and six licensed distributors that are 
liquor distributors. This process has just opened up again and prior applicants have been given notice that they can 
proceed with their applications.  

In Nevada, marijuana may only be transported from a licensed cultivation or production facility by a licensed 
marijuana distributor. Prior to transporting the marijuana or marijuana products, the distributor must complete a trip 
plan which includes: the agent name and registration number providing and receiving the marijuana, the date and 
start time of the trip, a description, including the amount, of the marijuana and marijuana products being transported 
and the anticipated route of transportation.  

During the transportation of marijuana or marijuana products, the licensed marijuana distributor agent must: (i) carry 
a copy of the trip plan with him or her for the duration of the trip; (ii) have his or her marijuana establishment agent 
- 21 - card in his or her immediate possession; (iii) use a vehicle without any identification relating to marijuana and 
which is equipped with a secure lockbox or locking cargo area which must be used for the sanitary and secure 
transportation of marijuana, or marijuana products; (iv) have a means of communicating with the marijuana 
establishment for which he or she is providing the transportation; and (v) ensure that all marijuana or marijuana 
products are not visible. After transporting marijuana and marijuana products, a licensed marijuana distributor agent 
must enter the end time of the trip and any changes to the trip plan that was completed.  

Each licensed marijuana distributor agent transporting marijuana or marijuana products must report any: (i) vehicle 
accident that occurs during the transportation to a person designated by the marijuana distributor to receive such 
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reports within two (2) hours after the accident occurs; and (ii) loss or theft of marijuana or marijuana products that 
occurs during the transportation to a person designated by the marijuana distributor to receive such reports 
immediately after the marijuana establishment agent becomes aware of the loss or theft. A marijuana distributor that 
receives a report of loss or theft pursuant to this paragraph must immediately report the loss or theft to the 
appropriate law enforcement agency and to the NDOT. The distributor must report any unauthorized stop that lasts 
longer than two (2) hours to the NDOT.  

A marijuana distributor shall maintain the required documents and provide a copy of the documents required to the 
NDOT for review upon request. Each marijuana distributor shall maintain a log of all received reports. Employees 
of licensed marijuana distributors, including drivers transporting marijuana and marijuana products, must be 21 
years of age or older and must obtain a valid marijuana establishment agent registration card issued by the NDOT. If 
a marijuana distributor is co-located with another type of business, all employees of co-located businesses must have 
marijuana establishment agent registration cards unless the co-located business does not include common entrances, 
exists, break room, restrooms, locker rooms, loading docks, and other areas as are expedient for business and 
appropriate for the site as determined and approved by Department inspectors. While engaged in the transportation 
of marijuana and marijuana products, any person that occupies a transport vehicle when it is loaded with marijuana 
or marijuana products must have their physical marijuana establishment agent registration card in their possession. 
All drivers must carry in the vehicle valid driver’s insurance at the limits required by the State of Nevada and the 
NDOT.  

All drivers must be bonded in an amount sufficient to cover any claim that could be brought, or disclose to all 
parties that their drivers are not bonded. Marijuana establishment agent registration cardholders and the licensed 
marijuana distributor they work for are responsible for the marijuana and marijuana product once they take control 
of the product and leave the premises of the marijuana establishment.  

There is no load limit on the amount or weight of marijuana and marijuana products that are being transported by a 
licensed marijuana distributor. Marijuana distributors are required to adhere to NDOT regulations and those required 
through their insurance coverage. When transporting by vehicle, marijuana and marijuana product must be in a 
lockbox or locked cargo area. A trunk of a vehicle is not considered secure storage unless there is no access from 
within the vehicle and it is not the same key access as the vehicle. Live plants can be transported in a fully enclosed, 
windowless locked trailer or secured area inside the body-compartment of a locked van or truck so that they are not 
visible to the outside. If the value of the marijuana and marijuana products being transported by the vehicle is in 
excess of US$10,000 (the insured value per the shipping manifest), the transporting vehicle must be equipped with a 
car alarm with sound or have no less than two (2) of the marijuana distributor’s marijuana establishment agent 
registration cardholders involved in the transportation. All marijuana and marijuana products must be tagged for 
purposes of inventory tracking with a unique identifying label as required by the NDOT and remain tagged during 
transport. This unique identifying label should be similar to the stamp for cigarette distribution. All marijuana and 
marijuana product when transported by vehicle must be transported in sealed packages and contains and remains 
unopened during transport. All marijuana and marijuana product transported by vehicle should be inventoried and 
accounted for in the inventory tracking system. Loading and unloading of marijuana and marijuana products from 
the transporting vehicle must be within view of existing video surveillance systems prior to leaving the origination 
location.  

Relationship between Federal and Nevada Law  

In response to the rescission of the Cole Memo (as defined below), Former Nevada Attorney General Adam Laxalt 
had issued a public statement, pledging to defend the law after it was approved by voters. Then-Governor Brian 
Sandoval also stated, "Since Nevada voters approved the legalization of recreational marijuana in 2016, I have 
called for a well-regulated, restricted and respected industry. My administration has worked to ensure these priorities 
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are met while implementing the will of the voters and remaining within the guidelines of both the Cole and 
Wilkinson federal memos," and that he would like for Nevada to follow in the footsteps of Colorado, where the U.S. 
attorneys do not plan to change the approach to prosecuting crimes involving recreational marijuana. In the 
November 2018 election, Nevada elected a new governor, Steve Sisolak, and a new Attorney General, Aaron Ford. 
Both have historically been supportive of Nevada’s marijuana industry and allowing it to grow in a healthy, 
regulated market in the state. They began their four-year terms of office at the beginning of January 2019.  

The Company will continue to monitor, evaluate and re-assess the regulatory framework in the State of Nevada and 
any state that it may look to expand its operations to in the future, and the federal laws applicable thereto, on an 
ongoing basis; and will update its continuous disclosure regarding government policy changes or new or amended 
guidance, laws or regulations regarding cannabis in the United States.  

Compliance with Nevada State Law 

The Company complies with applicable Nevada state licensing requirements as follows: (i) BioNeva (which 
operates under its current) is licensed pursuant to applicable Nevada state law to cultivate, possess and sell on the 
wholesale marijuana market in Nevada; (ii) renewal dates for such licenses are docketed by the Regulatory 
Compliance Officer, legal counsel and/or other advisors; (iii) random internal audits of the Company’s business 
activities are conducted by the applicable Nevada state regulator and by the Company to ensure compliance with 
applicable Nevada state law; (iv) each employee of the Company is provided with an employee handbook that 
outlines internal standard operating procedures in connection the cultivation, possession and distribution of 
marijuana to ensure that all marijuana inventory and proceeds from the sale of such marijuana are properly 
accounted for and tracked; (v) each room that marijuana inventory and/or proceeds from the sale of such inventory 
enter is monitored by video surveillance; (vi) software is used to track marijuana inventory from seed to sale; (vii) 
the Company’s subsidiaries are contractually obligated to comply with applicable Nevada state law in the United 
States in connection with the cultivation, possession and/or distribution of marijuana in Nevada in all of its 
contracts; and (viii) all marijuana sales are to licensed dispensaries only (no retail sales), and in each sale 
transaction, the Company’s subsidiaries engage in the standard practice of exchanging evidence of licensing from all 
parties (the wholesale seller, wholesale buyer and distributor) to ensure each transaction is legally compliant.  

Regulatory Compliance Officer  

The Company has a Regulatory Compliance Officer whose responsibilities include monitoring the activities of staff, 
including ensuring that the established standard operating procedures are being adhered to at each stage of the 
cultivation, processing and distribution cycle, to identify any non-compliance matters and to put in place the 
necessary modifications to ensure compliance. The qualifications for this position are: 

 Strong knowledge of regulatory compliance at all levels of government (Local, County, State, and Federal).  

 Ethical conduct. 

 Ability to prepare complex technical documents for submission to regulatory agencies.  

 Excellent technical report writing skills. 

 Ability to understand the balance between operational requirements, regulatory requirements, and political 
messaging. 

 Highly developed written and oral communication skills. 

 Strong analytical, organizational and problem-solving skills. 

 Ability to work independently as well as in a team, managing multiple priorities and timelines.  

The Regulatory Compliance Officer, performs ongoing reviews of the Company’s established standard operating 
procedures and State of Nevada regulations and reports directly to the State and members of management on a 
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regular basis to ensure compliance. Each employee is provided with an employee handbook outlining the standard 
operating procedures and state regulations upon hiring. The Company’s licenses are in good standing to cultivate 
and produce marijuana in the State of Nevada and the Company, through BioNeva and it is in compliance with 
Nevada’s marijuana regulatory program. BioNeva has not experienced any non-compliance nor has it been subject 
to any notices of violation by the State of Nevada.  

The Company’s Regulatory Compliance Officer also works with external advisors in Nevada to ensure that the 
Company and its subsidiaries are in on-going compliance with applicable Nevada state law, including: 

 regular correspondence and updates with advisors;  

 regular contact with State inspectors and regulators to ensure compliance; 

 development of standard operating procedures with respect to cultivation, processing and distribution, 
including a documentation control SOP which requires annual SOP review to ensure regulatory 
compliance, with annual reviews occurring in the second quarter of each calendar year; 

 ongoing monitoring of compliance with operating procedures and regulations by on-site management; 

 appropriate employee training for all standard operating procedures; and 

 subscription to monitoring programs to ensure the Company and its subsidiaries are aware of and in 
compliance with the ongoing changes in State regulations.  

In addition to the Regulatory Compliance Officer, all supervisors and managers are tasked with monitoring 
compliance which is required in the course of their specific job areas, and to report back to the Regulatory 
Compliance Officer and other members of the management team on a regular basis. 

Inventory Management Requirements:  

The Company, through its licensed subsidiaries, maintains policies and procedures and employs industry-specific 
software (METRC) and other inventory and accounting software applications to track inventory and ensure strict 
regulatory compliance at both the retail and wholesale levels. These processes include:  (a) wholesale transfer; (b) 
inventory intake; (c) inventory management; and (d) sales data tracking and reporting.  

Procedures exist to ensure each licensed subsidiary tracks its cumulative inventory of seeds, plants, and usable 
marijuana. Generally, these inventory control systems are designed to:  (a) establish and maintain a perpetual 
inventory system which adequately documents the flow of materials through the manufacturing process;  (b) 
establish procedures which reconcile the raw material used to the finished product on the basis of each job; and (c) 
seek to ensure the absence of significant variances between system outputs and physical inventory counts.  

For cultivation and production facilities, for each lot received at a facility, such inventory control systems are 
designed to document: (a) the batch or lot number; (b) the strain of the marijuana seeds or marijuana cuttings 
planted; (c) the number of marijuana seeds or marijuana cuttings planted; (d) the date on which the marijuana seeds 
or cuttings were planted; (e) a log or schedule of chemical additives used in the cultivation, including nonorganic 
pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers; (f) the number of marijuana plants grown to maturity; (g) harvest information, 
including: the date of harvest; the final yield weight of processed usable marijuana; and the name and agent 
registration card number of the agent responsible for the harvest; (h) marijuana flowers in process in all locations; (i) 
marijuana in storage by location; (j) marijuana in locked containers awaiting disposal; and (k) an audit trail of all 
material inventory adjustments.  

For all wholesale sales, all invoices and delivery documents must be systematically filed and maintained for a period 
of five years from date of delivery and must show a legible and complete statement of terms and conditions for each 
purchase. Sales records must be compliant with all applicable policies and procedures according to applicable 
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documented plans, State laws and regulations, and must include for regulatory authority reporting and internal 
tracking purposes:  (a) the date and time of each sale; (b) the method of distribution; (c) the quantity, form, and price 
marijuana and any other products sold;  (d) the consideration given; (e) the name, address, and identification number 
of the marijuana facility as recorded on the electronic verification system; (f) the name and agent card number of the 
person preparing the manifest in METRC; and (g) the name and agent card number of the driver who is transporting 
the product from cultivation/production facility to another cultivation/production facility or dispensary.  

Disposal of Inventory:  

All marijuana waste, including waste composed of or containing finished marijuana, must be stored, secured, and 
managed in accordance with applicable state and local statutes, ordinances, and regulations. All disposed of waste is 
recorded in the relevant inventory control system, including:  (a) a description of and reason for the marijuana being 
disposed of, including, if applicable, the number of failed or other unusable marijuana plants; (b) the date of 
disposal; (c) confirmation that the marijuana was rendered unusable before disposal; (d) the method of disposal; and 
(e) the name and card number of the agent responsible for the disposal.  

Only specifically authorized employees can destroy product. A list of authorized employees that may destroy 
product is required to be maintained under each licensed subsidiary. Permissions are defined by agent and password 
protected. The destroyed weight and the reason for destruction is required and recorded. The licensed subsidiary’s 
inventory control systems can generate reports on destroyed material at any point in the destruction process.  

General Security Guidelines  

State regulatory frameworks specify guidelines in respect of general security. The applicable general security 
guidelines include: 

 background checks for current/new employees, particularly if the employee is to be accessing restricted 
areas; 

 maintaining video surveillance of facilities;  

 maintaining visitor logs; 

 providing for and maintaining secure perimeters for facilities; 

 requesting employees to watch for suspicious activities; 

 keeping all access system credentials, access codes, access cards, passwords, etc., in a way that is designed 
to be secure and accessible only to specifically authorized personnel;  

 retrieving keys and employment identification cards from an employee and changing computer access 
passwords when their employment ends; 

 arranging for prompt and safe disposal of materials;  

 all employees being required to be trained on emergency procedures; and 

 posting emergency response numbers, including fire, law enforcement, and executive team in several 
locations in each facility.  

COVID-19  

On March 12, 2020, Governor Sisolak declared a state of emergency in Nevada. Retail cannabis stores and medical 
cannabis businesses were deemed essential and allowed to operate. Through additional emergency regulation issued 
on March 20, cannabis businesses could operate by delivery only and all in-store sales were prohibited. The 
Governor's office released Directive 16 on April 29, allowing cannabis dispensaries to conduct curbside transactions 
beginning May 1, with pre-approval from the Department of Taxation after submission of a written plan. Further, on 
May 7, the Governor issued an updated emergency directive stating that the Department of Taxation in conjunction 
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with the Cannabis Compliance Board will allow medical dispensaries and retail marijuana stores to re-open with 
limited instore access beginning Saturday, May 9, with pre-approval after submission of a written plan.  

The Company will continue to ensure it is in compliance with applicable licensing requirements and the regulatory 
framework enacted in Nevada by continuous review of its licenses and affirmation certifications from management. 
While the Company’s business activities are compliant with applicable state and local law, such activities remain 
illegal under United States federal law. See “Risk Factors – Risks Related to the United States Regulatory Regime – 
Marijuana is illegal under U.S. federal law”.  

Nevada License and Regulations  

The Marijuana Cultivation License permits BioNeva to cultivate, process and package marijuana, deliver, transfer, 
have tested, supply or sell marijuana to retail marijuana stores, to marijuana product manufacturing facilities and to 
other cultivation facilities, after the product has passed Nevada’s testing processes, but not to consumers. 

The Medical Marijuana Cultivation License permits BioNeva to acquire, possess, cultivate, deliver, transfer, have 
tested, supply or sell marijuana and related supplies to medical marijuana dispensaries, facilities for the production 
of edible medical marijuana products and/or medical marijuana-infused products, or other medical marijuana 
cultivation facilities after the product has passed Nevada’s testing processes. Marijuana cultivation facilities may 
acquire their initial plants from those persons authorized to possess marijuana plants.  

Nevada Reporting Requirements  

The State of Nevada uses METRC as the state’s computerized tracking and tracing system for seed-to-sale tracking 
for marijuana establishments. Effective November 1, 2017, all medical and adult-use marijuana establishments in 
Nevada must report their establishment data to the State of Nevada via METRC. This includes cultivators, product 
manufacturers, testing labs, distributors, and dispensaries/retail stores. Individual licensees, whether directly or 
through third-party integration systems, are required to send data to the state to meet all reporting requirements. 

RISK FACTORS 

Management of the Company consider the risks set forth below to be the most significant, but do not consider them 
to be all of the risks associated with an investment in securities the Company. If any of these risks materialize into 
actual events or circumstances or other possible additional risks and uncertainties of which Management is currently 
unaware or which they consider not to be material in connection with the Company’s business, actually occur, the 
Company’s assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations (including future results of operations), 
business and business prospects, are likely to be materially and adversely affected. In such circumstances, the price 
of the Company’s securities could decline and investors may lose all or part of their investment. 

SPECIFIC RISKS RELATED TO THE CANNABIS INDUSTRY 

Risks Related to the United States Statutory and Regulatory Framework 

U.S. cannabis operations are illegal under U.S. federal law and the enforcement of relevant laws is a significant 
risk. 

As a result of the conflicting views between state legislatures and the U.S. federal government regarding the legality 
of cannabis, cannabis-related businesses in the United States are subject to inconsistent legislation, regulation and 
enforcement.  Unless and until the United States Congress amends the Federal CSA with respect to cannabis or the 
Drug Enforcement Agency reschedules or de-schedules cannabis (and there can be no assurance as to the timing or 
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scope of any such potential amendments), there is a risk that U.S. federal authorities may enforce current U.S. 
federal law, which would adversely affect the Company.  As a result of the inconsistency between state and federal 
law, there are a number of risks associated with the Company’s existing and proposed operations in the United 
States.  

Laws will continue to change rapidly for the foreseeable future and local laws and ordinances could restrict the 
Company’s business operations. 

Local, state and federal laws and enforcement policies concerning cannabis-related conduct are changing rapidly and 
will continue to do so for the foreseeable future.  There can be no assurance that existing state laws that legalize and 
regulate the production, sale and use of cannabis will not be repealed, amended or overturned.  In addition, local 
governments have the ability to limit, restrict and ban cannabis-related businesses from operating within their 
jurisdictions.  Land use, zoning, local ordinances, and similar laws could be adopted or changed in a manner that 
makes it extremely difficult or impossible to transact business in certain jurisdictions.  These potential changes in 
state and local laws are unpredictable and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.   

COVID‐19 Pandemic  

The Company’s business could be materially and adversely affected by the outbreak of a widespread epidemic or 
pandemic or other public health crisis, including arising from the novel strain of the coronavirus known as “COVID‐ 
19.” A local, regional, national or international outbreak of a contagious virus, including the novel coronavirus, 
COVID‐19 could cause staff shortages, reduced customer demand, supply shortages, and increased government 
regulation all of which may negatively impact the business, financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.    

In late 2019, COVID‐19 was first detected in Wuhan, China. Since then, the virus has spread to over 100 countries. 
During March 2020, many governments ordered all but certain essential businesses closed and imposed significant 
limitations on the circulation of the populace. Furthermore, certain illnesses may be transmitted through human or 
surface contact, and the risk of contracting such illnesses could cause employees and customers to avoid gathering in 
public places, as was the case in many places during the ensuing months due to concerns about the coronavirus. This 
could adversely affect the Company’s ability to adequately staff and supply its facilities. The Company could be 
adversely affected if governments under which it or its suppliers operate impose mandatory closures, seek voluntary 
closures, or impose restrictions on operations.    

On March 12, 2020, Governor Sisolak declared a state of emergency in Nevada. Retail cannabis stores and medical 
cannabis businesses were deemed essential and allowed to operate. Through additional emergency regulation issued 
on March 20, cannabis businesses could operate by delivery only and all in‐store sales were prohibited. The 
Governor's office released Directive 16 on April 29, allowing cannabis dispensaries to conduct curbside transactions 
beginning May 1, with pre‐approval from the Department of Taxation after submission of a written plan. Further, on 
May 7, the Governor issued an updated emergency directive stating that the Department of Taxation in conjunction 
with the Cannabis Compliance Board will allow medical dispensaries and retail marijuana stores to re‐open with 
limited instore access beginning Saturday, May 9, with pre‐approval after submission of a written plan.   

The Company’s ability to successfully operate and sell its products will depend on the whether it and its customers 
and suppliers are able to continue to operate, and the nature of restrictions on such operations.  Depending on the 
duration and severity of the current COVID‐19 pandemic, or if there is a resurgence of the COVID‐19 pandemic, 
different or additional operating restrictions may be imposed on the Company, its customers and suppliers, and 
consumers of marijuana products.  Such restrictions may negatively impact the Company’s ability to maintain 
operations and the market for the Company’s products. 
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Changes to State Laws Pertaining to Hemp   

The 2018 Farm Bill provides that each state must develop a plan regarding the cultivation and sale of Hemp and 
submit such plan to the USDA for approval.  If a state does not elect to devise a hemp regulatory program, the 
USDA will develop a program under which Hemp cultivators in such states can apply for licenses. Continued 
development of the Hemp industry will be dependent upon new legislative authorization of Hemp at the state level, 
and further amendment or supplementation of legislation at the federal level. Any number of events or occurrences 
could slow or halt progress all together in this space. While progress within the Hemp industry is currently 
encouraging, growth is not assured. While there appears to be ample public support for favorable legislative action 
at the state and federal levels, numerous factors may impact or negatively affect the legislative process(es) within 
the various states the Company intends to pursue its business interests  in.  Any one of these factors could slow or 
halt use of Hemp or CBD, which would negatively impact the Company's plans for business or growth, including 
possibly causing us to discontinue operations as a whole.  

Changes to Federal Laws Pertaining to Hemp   

Federal regulations under the 2018 Farm Bill have not yet been promulgated. There is no guarantee that such 
regulations will be on terms favourable to the Company's business. Should the regulations result in stricter 
requirements on the Company than those of the 2014 Farm Bill, such changes could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Risks Associated with Numerous Laws and Regulations   

The production, labeling and distribution of the products that the Company distributes are regulated by various 
federal, state and local agencies. These governmental authorities may commence regulatory or legal proceedings, 
which could restrict the permissible scope of the Company's product claims or the ability to sell its products in the 
future. The FDA regulates the Company's products to ensure that the products are not adulterated or misbranded. 

The Company will be subject to regulation by various agencies as a result of the sale of its hemp-based CBD 
wellness products. The shifting compliance environment and the need to build and maintain robust systems to 
comply with different regulations in multiple jurisdictions increases the possibility that the Company may violate 
one or more of the requirements. If the Company's operations are found to be in violation of any of such laws or any 
other governmental regulations, or perceived to be in violation, the Company may be subject to penalties or other 
negative effects, including, without limitation, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, the curtailment or 
restructuring of the Company's operations or asset seizures and the denial of regulatory applications (including those 
regulatory regimes outside of the scope of FDA jurisdiction, but which may rely on the positions of the FDA in the 
application of its regulatory regime), any of which could adversely affect the Company's business and financial 
results.  

Failure to comply with FDA requirements may result in, among other things, injunctions, product withdrawals, 
recalls, product seizures, fines and criminal prosecutions. The Company's advertising is subject to regulation by the 
Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") under the Federal Trade Commission Act as well as subject to regulation by the 
FDA under the U.S. Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act of 1994 (DSHEA). In recent years, the FTC has 
initiated numerous investigations of dietary and nutritional supplement products and companies based on allegedly 
deceptive or misleading claims. At any point, enforcement strategies of a given agency can change as a result of 
other litigation in the space or changes in political landscapes, and could result in increased enforcement efforts, 
which would materially impact the Company's business. Additionally, some states also permit advertising and 
labeling laws to be enforced by state attorney generals, who may seek relief for consumers, class action 
certifications, class wide damages and product recalls of products sold by the Company. Private litigants may also 
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seek relief for consumers, class action certifications, class wide damages and product recalls of products sold by the 
Company. Any actions against the Company by governmental authorities or private litigants could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Baseline products may not be sold as dietary supplements 

The Company markets the Baseline CBD as dietary supplements, consistent with the industry. This  may not be 
legal under current United States Food and Drug Administration  guidelines. This could slow or halt the sale of 
Baseline CBD. 

The Company may be subject to heightened scrutiny by Canadian regulatory authorities. 

For the reasons set forth herein, the Company’s existing investments and operations in the United States, and any 
future investments and operations, may become the subject of heightened scrutiny by regulators, stock exchanges, 
third party service providers, financial institutions, depositories and other authorities in Canada and the U.S. As a 
result, the Company may be subject to significant direct and indirect interaction with public officials. There can be 
no assurance that this heightened scrutiny will not in turn lead to the imposition of certain restrictions on the 
Company’s ability to operate in the U.S., Canada and other jurisdictions.  

On February 8, 2018, following discussions with the Canadian Securities Administrators and recognized Canadian 
securities exchanges, the TMX Group announced the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) with 
Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., the CSE, the Toronto Stock Exchange and the TSX Venture Exchange. The MOU 
outlines the parties’ understanding of Canada’s regulatory framework applicable to the rules, procedures and 
regulatory oversight of the exchanges and the Canadian Depository for Securities (“CDS”) as it relates to issuers 
with cannabis-related activities in the United States. The MOU confirms, with respect to the clearing of listed 
securities, that CDS relies on the stock exchanges to review the conduct of listed issuers. As a result, there is no 
CDS ban on the clearing of securities of issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States. However, there 
can be no guarantee that this approach to regulation will continue in the future. If such a ban were to be 
implemented at a time when the Company’s common shares are listed on a Canadian stock exchange, it would have 
a material adverse effect on the ability of holders of the Company’s common shares to make and settle trades. In 
particular, the Company’s common shares would become highly illiquid until an alternative was implemented, and 
investors would have no ability to effect a trade of the Company’s common shares through the facilities of the 
applicable stock exchange. 

Banking regulations in the cannabis industry may create significant challenges to the Company’s operations. 

The Company has experienced disruption to its banking services to date.  Because banks in the U.S. often refuse to 
provide banking services to businesses involved in the cannabis industry due to the present state of the laws and 
regulations governing financial institutions, the Company faces unique and significant challenges in operating its 
business. Canadian banks are likewise hesitant to deal with cannabis companies due to the uncertain legal and 
regulatory framework of the industry. Therefore, the Company may face a potential lack of a secure place in which 
to deposit and store cash, the inability to pay creditors through the issuance of checks and the inability to secure 
traditional forms of operational financing, such as lines of credit. 

The Company’s investments in the United States may be subject to applicable U.S. anti-money laundering laws and 
regulations. 

Under U.S. federal law, it may be a violation of money laundering statutes for financial institutions to take any 
proceeds from the sale of cannabis or any other Schedule I controlled substance under the Federal CSA. Banks and 
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other financial institutions, particularly those that are federally chartered in the United States, could be prosecuted 
and possibly convicted of money laundering for providing services to businesses with operations or a connection to 
cannabis. Therefore, investments held in U.S. banks are subject to seizure by the U.S. federal government.  

If any of the Company’s operations, or any proceeds thereof, any dividends or distributions therefrom, or any profits 
or revenues accruing from such operations in the United States were found to be in violation of money laundering 
legislation or otherwise, such transactions may be viewed as proceeds of crime. This could restrict or otherwise 
jeopardize the ability of the Company to declare or pay dividends and could affect other distributions, including the 
Company’s ability to transfer such funds into Canada. Furthermore, while the Company has no current intentions to 
declare or pay dividends in the foreseeable future, in the event that a determination was made that the Company’s 
proceeds from operations (or any future operations or investments in the United States) could reasonably be shown 
to constitute proceeds of crime, the Company may decide, or be required, to suspend declaring or paying dividends 
without advance notice and for an indefinite period of time. 

Third party service providers could suspend or withdraw services as a result of our cannabis business. 

As a result of any adverse change to the approach in enforcement of U.S. cannabis laws, adverse regulatory or 
political change, additional scrutiny by regulatory authorities, adverse changes in public perception in respect of the 
consumption of cannabis or otherwise, third party service providers to the Company could suspend or withdraw their 
services, which may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, revenues, operating results, financial 
condition or prospects. 

Courts may not enforce the Company’s contracts. 

It is a fundamental principle of law that a contract will not be enforced if it involves a violation of law or public 
policy.  Because cannabis remains illegal in the United States at the federal level, judges in multiple U.S. states have 
on a number of occasions refused to enforce contracts for the repayment of money when the loan was used in 
connection with activities that violate U.S. federal law, even if there was no violation of state law. There remains 
doubt and uncertainty that the Company will be able to legally enforce contracts it enters into, if necessary. The 
Company cannot be assured that it will have a remedy for breach of contract, which would have a material adverse 
effect on the Company. 

Public opinion, consumer perception or unfavorable publicity could influence the regulation of the cannabis 
industry. 

Public opinion may also significantly influence the regulation of the cannabis industry in Canada, the United States 
or elsewhere. Public opinion and support for medical and adult-use cannabis has traditionally been inconsistent and 
has varied from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. A negative shift in the public’s perception of cannabis in the United 
States or any other applicable jurisdiction could affect future legislation or regulation of cannabis. Among other 
things, such a shift could cause state jurisdictions to abandon initiatives or proposals to legalize medical and/or 
adult-use cannabis, thereby limiting the number of new jurisdictions into which the Company could expand. Any 
inability to fully implement the Company’s expansion strategy may have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, results of operations or prospects. 

Results of future clinical research could influence the regulation of the cannabis industry and may have an adverse 
effect on the Company’s business. 

The Company believes the medical and adult-use cannabis industries are highly dependent upon consumer 
perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of cannabis. Consumer perception can be significantly 
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influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity 
regarding the consumption of cannabis products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research or 
findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention or other publicity will be favorable to the cannabis 
industry or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, regulatory 
investigations, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favorable than, or that question, 
earlier research reports, findings or other publicity could have a material adverse effect on the demand for medical 
or adult-use cannabis and on the business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows or prospects of the 
Company. Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of 
cannabis in general, or associating the consumption of medical and adult-use cannabis with illness or other negative 
effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations or prospects of the 
Company. There is no assurance that such adverse publicity reports or other media attention will not arise. 

United States Border Crossing and Travel Ban  

Investors in the Company and the Company’s directors and officers may be subject to travel and entry bans into the 
U.S. Media articles have reported that certain Canadian citizens have been rejected for entry into the U.S., due to 
their involvement in the cannabis sector. In at least one widely reported incident, an investor in companies operating 
in the cannabis sector in states where it is legal to do so, received a lifetime ban. 

The majority of persons travelling across the Canadian and U.S. border do so without incident, whereas some 
persons are simply barred entry one time. The U.S. Department of State and the Department of Homeland Security 
has indicated that the U.S. has not changed its admission requirements in response to the pending legalization in 
Canada of recreational cannabis, but anecdotal evidence indicates that the U.S. may be increasing its scrutiny of 
travelers and their cannabis related involvement. Admissibility to the U.S. may be denied to any person working or 
‘having involvement in’ the cannabis industry, including in U.S. states where it is deemed legal, according to United 
States Customs and Border Protection.  

Ability to Access Public and Private Capital 

The Company has historically, and continues to have, access to equity and debt financing from the prospectus 
exempt (private placement) markets in Canada and the United States. While the Company is not able to obtain bank 
financing in the U.S. or financing from other U.S. federally regulated entities, it currently has access to equity 
financing through the private markets in Canada and the U.S. The Company’s executive team and board also have 
extensive relationships with sources of private capital (such as funds and high net worth individuals), that could be 
investigated at a higher cost of capital.  

If such equity and/or debt financing was no longer available in the public markets in Canada due to changes in 
applicable law, then the Company expects that it would have access to raise equity and/or debt financing privately. 
Commercial banks, private equity firms and venture capital firms have approached the cannabis industry cautiously 
to date. However, there are increasing numbers of high net worth individuals and family offices that have made 
meaningful investments in companies and projects similar to the Company’s projects. Although there has been an 
increase in the amount of private financing available over the last several years, there is neither a broad nor deep 
pool of institutional capital that is available to cannabis license holders and license applicants. There can be no 
assurance that additional financing, if raised privately, will be available to the Company when needed or on terms 
which are acceptable. The Company’s inability to raise financing to fund capital expenditures or acquisitions could 
limit its growth and may have a material adverse effect upon future profitability. See “Risk Factors - The Company 
may require additional capital to finance its operations in the future, but that capital may not be available when it is 
needed and could be dilutive to existing shareholders”. 
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Our business is dependent on laws pertaining to the marijuana industry.  

Continued development of the marijuana industry is dependent upon continued legislative authorization of the use 
and cultivation of marijuana at the state level.  Any number of factors could slow or halt progress in this area.  
Further, progress, while encouraging, is not assured.  While there may be ample public support for legislative action, 
numerous factors impact the legislative process.  Any one of these factors could slow or halt use of marijuana, which 
would negatively impact our proposed business. 

Currently, there are thirty three states plus the District of Columbia that have laws and/or regulation that recognize 
in one form or another legitimate medical uses for cannabis and consumer use of cannabis in connection with 
medical treatment. There are currently ten states and the District of Columbia that allow recreational use of 
cannabis. Currently, the policy and regulations of the U.S. Federal government and its agencies is that cannabis has 
no medical benefit and a range of activities including cultivation and use of cannabis for personal use is prohibited 
on the basis of federal law and may or may not be permitted on the basis of state law. Active enforcement of the 
current federal regulatory position on cannabis on a regional or national basis may directly and adversely affect the 
willingness of our customers to invest in or buy products. Active enforcement of the current federal regulatory 
position on cannabis may thus indirectly and adversely affect our revenues. 

Further, while we do not harvest, distribute or sell marijuana, by branding products of growers of marijuana, we 
could be deemed to be participating in marijuana cultivation, which remains illegal under federal law, and exposes 
us to potential criminal liability, with the additional risk that our business could be subject to civil forfeiture 
proceedings. 

The Company has a limited operating history and operates in a relatively new industry, and the Company may not 
succeed 

The Company has a limited operating history and may not succeed. The Company is subject to all risks inherent in a 
developing business enterprise. The Company’s likelihood of continued success must be considered in light of the 
problems, expenses, difficulties, complications, and delays frequently encountered in connection with the 
competitive and regulatory environment in which it operates. For example, the adult use marijuana industry is a 
relatively new industry which, as a whole may not succeed, particularly should the Federal government change 
course and decide to prosecute various parties under Federal law. If that happens there may not be an adequate 
market for the Company’s branded products. As a relatively new industry, there are not established players whose 
business model the Company can follow or build on the success of. Similarly, there is no information about 
comparable companies available for potential investors to review in making a decision about whether to invest in the 
Company.  

Shareholders and investors should further consider, among other factors, the Company’s prospects for success in 
light of the risks and uncertainties encountered by companies that, like the Company, are in their early stages. For 
example, unanticipated expenses and problems or technical difficulties may occur and they may result in material 
delays in the operation of the Company’s business. The Company may not successfully address these risks and 
uncertainties or successfully implement its operating strategies. If the Company fails to do so, it could materially 
harm the Company’s business to the point of having to cease operations and could impair the value of the Company 
securities to the point investors may lose their entire investment. 

The Company’s success is dependent on additional states legalizing marijuana 

Continued development of the recreational marijuana market is dependent upon continued legislative authorization 
of marijuana at the state level and, in certain states, on local governments authorizing a sufficient number of 
dispensaries. Any number of factors could slow or halt the progress. Further, progress, while encouraging, is not 
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assured and the process normally encounters set-backs before achieving success. While there may be ample public 
support for legislative proposal, key support must be created in the legislative committee or a bill may never 
advance to a vote. Numerous factors impact the legislative process. Any one of these factors could slow or halt the 
progress and adoption of marijuana for medical and recreational purposes 

The success of the Company’s products and services is uncertain 

The Company has committed, and expects to continue to commit, significant resources and capital to develop and 
market existing products and new products and services. These products and services are relatively untested, and the 
Company cannot assure shareholders and investors that it will achieve market acceptance for these products and 
services, or other new products and services that the Company may offer in the future. Moreover, these and other 
new products and services may be subject to significant competition with offerings by new and existing competitors 
in the business. In addition, new products and services may pose a variety of challenges and require the Company to 
attract additional qualified employees. The failure to successfully develop and market these new products and 
services could seriously harm the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The Company’s business is dependent upon continued market acceptance by consumers 

The Company is substantially dependent on continued market acceptance of its brands by dispensaries, consumers 
and industry participants. The Company cannot predict the future changes, growth rate and size of this market. 

Closing of bank accounts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and/or results of 
operations. 

As a result of the regulatory environment in the industry we operate, we have experienced the closing of several of 
our bank accounts since 2014. We have been able to open other bank accounts, however, we may be subject to 
further closures of bank accounts. These factors impact Management and could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and/or results of operations. 

RISKS RELATED TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS 

The Company currently depends primarily on a limited number of brands for its revenue 

While the Company expects to develop new products and add additional brands through its continued pursuit and 
expansion of its business, the Company currently primarily relies on its marketing and distribution of the LVV 
family of brands. The Company currently does not have a broad portfolio of other products or services that the 
Company could rely on to support its operations today if the Company were to experience any difficulty with the 
manufacture, marketing, sale, or distribution of the LVV products. 

Reliance on License 

LVV’s ability to manufacture and distribute cannabis products in California is dependent on maintaining its licenses 
in good standing with the California State regulator. Failure to comply with the requirements of any of its licenses or 
any failure to maintain any of its licenses would have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition 
and operating results of the Company. LVV’s licenses in California are currently in good standing and LVV remains 
fully compliant with the state laws and regulations.  LVV currently relies upon a third party agreement to distribute 
cannabis products in Nevada.  A failure by the third party to comply with the various requirements of the state of 
Nevada could have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of the 
Company. 
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The Company’s ability to manage growth is currently limited 

Anticipated growth in all areas of the Company’s business is expected to continue to place a significant strain on its 
managerial, operational and technical resources. The Company expects operating expenses and staffing levels to 
increase in the future. To manage such growth, the Company must expand its operational and technical capabilities 
and manage its employee base while effectively administering multiple relationships with various third parties. 
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to manage its expanding operations effectively. Any 
failure to implement cohesive management and operating systems, to add resources on a cost-effective basis or to 
properly manage the Company’s expansion could have a material adverse effect on its business and results of 
operations. 

The Company relies on key personnel 

The Company’s success will depend in large measure on certain key personnel. The Company does not have key 
personnel insurance, nor does the Company expect to obtain such insurance in the near future. The loss of the 
services of such key personnel may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, 
results of operations and prospects. The contributions of the existing management team to the immediate and near 
term operations of the Company are likely to be of central importance. In addition, there can be no assurance that 
The Company will be able to continue to attract and retain all personnel necessary for the development and 
operation of its business. Investors must rely upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion, integrity and good 
faith of the management of the Company. 

The Company has a history of operating losses 

The Company was formed in 2014 and has recorded fairly modest revenues to date. Since incorporation, the 
Company has accumulated net losses and expects such losses to continue through the initial stages of its operations. 
Management expects to continue to incur operating losses unless and until such time as product sales generate 
sufficient revenues to fund continuing operations. The Company has neither a history of earnings nor has it paid any 
dividends and it is unlikely to pay dividends or enjoy earnings in the immediate or foreseeable future. There is no 
assurance that the Company will produce a profit after the successful acquisition of the Company. 

The Company currently has a limited marketing capacity 

To be successful, the Company’s business must be successfully marketed. The market for the Company’s products 
and services has and is expected to grow significantly and may require substantial sales and marketing capability. At 
the present time, the Company has independent parties to market its products and services. There can be no 
assurance that the Company can continue to market, or can enter into satisfactory arrangements with third parties to 
continue to market its products and services in a manner that would assure its growth and acceptance in the market 
place. 

The Company’s Intellectual Property requires protection 

The Company’s success will depend to a significant degree upon its ability to develop, maintain and protect its 
brands, as well as the proprietary products it develops. The Company has not filed and does not intend to file patent 
applications in the United States as part of its strategy to protect its Intellectual Property. Therefore, third parties 
may be able to replicate the Company’s products and compete against it.   
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The Company may have to engage in litigation to protect the Company’s Brands 

The Company’s future success and competitive position depends in part upon its ability to maintain its brands and 
related trademarks. The Company may be required to maintain registrations and filings related to the intellectual 
property associated with its brands and take such action as is necessary to preserve, protect and advance the status of 
the brands, including taking such action as may be necessary to take enforcement against infringement or imitation 
of the brands.  Enforcement of the various trademarks in foreign jurisdictions will depend on the legal procedures in 
those jurisdictions. The Company’s involvement in intellectual property litigation could have a material adverse 
effect on its ability to distribute any products that are the subject of such litigation. In addition, the Company’s 
involvement in intellectual property litigation could result in significant expense, which could materially adversely 
affect the use responsibilities, whether or not such litigation is resolved in the Company’s favor. 

The Company will require additional capital to finance its operations in the future, but that capital may not be 
available when it is needed and could be dilutive to existing shareholders 

The Company may require additional capital for future operations and to fund investments. The Company plans to 
finance anticipated ongoing expenses and capital requirements with funds generated from the following sources: 
cash provided by operating activities; available cash and cash investments; and capital raised through debt and 
equity offerings. 

Current conditions in the capital markets are such that traditional sources of capital may not be available to the 
Company when needed or may be available only on unfavorable terms. The Company’s ability to raise additional 
capital, if needed, will depend on conditions in the capital markets, economic conditions and a number of other 
factors, many of which are outside its control, and on its financial performance. Accordingly, the Company cannot 
assure Shareholders that it will be able to successfully raise additional capital at all or on terms that are acceptable to 
it. If the Company cannot raise additional capital when needed, it may have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s liquidity, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Further, if the Company raises capital 
by issuing equity, the holdings of its existing shareholders will be diluted. 

If the Company raises capital by issuing debt securities, such debt securities would rank senior to its common shares 
upon its bankruptcy or liquidation. In addition, the Company may raise capital by issuing equity securities that may 
be senior to its common shares for the purposes of dividend and liquidating distributions, which may adversely 
affect the market price of its common shares. Finally, upon bankruptcy or liquidation, holders of its debt securities 
and preferred shares and lenders with respect to other borrowings will receive a distribution of the Company’s 
available assets prior to the common shareholders. Additional equity offerings may dilute the holdings of existing 
shareholders or reduce the market price of the Company’s common shares, or both. 

The Company does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future 

The Company intends to retain its future earnings, if any, in order to reinvest in the development and growth of its 
business and, therefore, does not intend to pay dividends on its common shares for the foreseeable future. Any future 
determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of its board of directors and will depend on its financial 
condition, results of operations, capital requirements, and such other factors as its board of directors deems relevant. 
Accordingly, shareholders may need to sell their shares of the Company’s common shares to realize a return on their 
investment, and shareholders may not be able to sell their shares at or above the price they paid for them. 
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There is a limited market for the Company’s securities 

There can be no assurance that an active and liquid market for the Company’s securities will develop and an investor 
may find it difficult to resell any securities of the Company. 

We have limited insurance. 

We currently have limited directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and no limited commercial liability insurance 
policies. Any significant claims would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results 
of operations.   

The market price of our common stock may be volatile.  
 
The market price of our common stock has been and is likely in the future to be volatile. The Company’s common 
shares may fluctuate in response to factors such as:  
 
●     Halting of trading by the CSE, SEC or FINRA. 
 
● Announcements by us regarding liquidity, legal proceedings, significant acquisitions, equity investments and

divestitures, strategic relationships, addition or loss of significant customers and contracts, capital expenditure
commitments, loan, note payable and agreement defaults, loss of our subsidiaries and impairment of assets, 

      
● Issuance of convertible or equity securities for general or merger and acquisition purposes, 
      
● Issuance or repayment of debt, accounts payable or convertible debt for general or merger and acquisition

purposes, 
      
● Sale of a significant number of shares of our by shareholders, 
      
● General market and economic conditions, 
  
● Quarterly variations in our operating results, 
      
● Investor relation activities, 
      
● Announcements of technological innovations, 
      
● New product introductions by us or our competitors, 
      
● Competitive activities, and 
      
● Additions or departures of key personnel. 
  
These broad market and industry factors may have a material adverse effect on the market price of the Company’s 
shares, regardless of our actual operating performance. These factors could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, and/or results of operations. 

Risks related to potential changes to determining  Foreign Private Issuer status in the United States 

The Company is currently a Foreign Private Issuer as defined in Rule 405 under the U.S. Securities Act and Rule 
3b-4 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).  The term Foreign Private 
Issuer is defined as any non-U.S. corporation, other than a foreign government, except any issuer meeting the 
following conditions: 
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(a)      more than 50 percent of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer are, directly or indirectly, held of 
record by residents of the United States; and 

(b)      any one of the following: 

(i)         the majority of the executive officers or directors are United States citizens or residents, or 

(ii)        more than 50 percent of the assets of the issuer are located in the United States, or 

(iii)       the business of the issuer is administered principally in the United States. 

A “holder of record” is defined by Rule 12g5-1 under the Exchange Act.  Generally speaking, the holder identified 
on the record of security holders is considered as the record holder. 

In December 2016, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued a Compliance and Disclosure 
Interpretation to clarify that issuers with multiple classes of voting stock carrying different voting rights may, for the 
purposes of calculating compliance with this threshold, examine either (i) the combined voting power of its share 
classes or (ii) the number of voting securities, in each case held of record by U.S. residents. Based on this 
interpretation, Based on this interpretation, each preferred share is counted as one and each common share is 
counted as one for the purposes of determining the 50 percent U.S. resident threshold and the Company was a 
“foreign private issuer" upon closing of the Transaction.  The Company preferred share rights and preferences 
contain a limitation on conversion, which is designed to mitigation the risk that the Company will lose its “foreign 
private issuer" status. 

Should the SEC’s guidance and interpretation change, it is likely that the Company will lose its Foreign Private 
Issuer status.  

Risks related to the Company loss of foreign private issuer status in the United States 

The Company is currently a Foreign Private Issuer. If, as of the last business day of the Company’s second fiscal 
quarter for any year, more than 50% of the Company’s outstanding voting securities (as determined under Rule 405) 
are directly or indirectly held of record by residents of the United States, subject to certain exceptions, the Company 
may no longer meet the definition of a Foreign Private Issuer, which may have adverse consequences on the 
Company’s ability to raise capital in private placements or Canadian prospectus offerings.  In addition the loss of the 
Company’s Foreign Private Issuer status may likely result in increased reporting requirements and increased audit, 
legal and administration costs. These increased costs may significantly affect the Company’s results of operations 
and profitability. 

There are U.S. tax risks 

It is anticipated that Section 7874(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (“Code”) will apply to treat the Company as 
a U.S. domestic corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If, as anticipated, Section 7874(b) were to apply, 
the Company would be subject to U.S. federal income tax as a U.S. domestic corporation on its worldwide income 
and any dividends paid by the Company to Non-U.S. holders may be subject to U.S. federal income tax withholding 
at a 30% rate or such lower rate as provided in an applicable treaty.  

Moreover, because the Company Shares will be treated as shares of a U.S. domestic corporation, the U.S. gift, estate 
and generation-skipping transfer tax rules generally apply to a “Non-U.S. Holder” of Company Shares. 

The transactions contemplated herein may result in an “ownership change” of Company within the meaning of the 
United States federal income tax laws addressing net operating loss carry-forwards, alternative minimum tax credits 
and other similar tax attributes. If an ownership change occurs, there will be specific limitations on the ability to use 
net operating loss carry-forwards and other tax attributes from periods prior to the reverse take-over with Drop Leaf, 
LLC. It is possible that such limitations could limit Company’s ability to utilize such tax attributes and, therefore, 
result in an increase in Company’s United States federal income tax liability. In addition, it is possible that all or a 
portion of Company’s net operating loss carry-forwards may expire before they can be utilized. 
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Prospective investors should discuss the tax consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of Company Shares 
with their own tax advisors.   

Potential Adverse Tax Consequences from the Payment of Dividends on the Company Shares 

The Company does not contemplate paying any dividends on the Company Shares in the foreseeable future. 
However, dividends received by shareholders who are residents of Canada for purpose of the ITA will be subject to 
U.S. withholding tax. Any such dividends may not qualify for a reduced rate of withholding tax under the Canada-
United States Tax Convention. In addition, a foreign tax credit or a deduction in respect of foreign taxes may not be 
available. 

Dividends received by U.S. shareholders will not be subject to U.S. withholding tax but will be subject to Canadian 
withholding tax. After giving effect to the Transaction, it is anticipated that the Company will be considered to be a 
U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As such, dividends paid by the Company will be 
characterized as U.S. source income for purposes of the foreign tax credit rules under the Code. Accordingly, U.S. 
shareholders generally would not be able to claim a credit for any Canadian tax withheld unless, depending on the 
circumstances, they have excess foreign tax credit limitation due to other foreign source income that is subject to a 
low or zero rate of foreign tax. 

Dividends received by shareholders that are neither Canadian nor U.S. shareholders will be subject to U.S. 
withholding tax and would also be subject to Canadian withholding tax. These dividends may not qualify for a 
reduced rate of U.S. withholding tax under any income tax treaty otherwise applicable to a shareholder of the 
Company, subject to examination of the relevant treaty.  

18. PROMOTERS 
 
A promoter is defined as a person or company who, acting alone or in conjunction with others, directly or indirectly 
takes the initiative in founding, organizing or substantially reorganizing the business of an issuer.  There are no 
persons who may be considered a promoter of the Company within the two years immediately preceding the date of 
the Listing Statement. 

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
Occasionally, the Company may be a party to legal claims or proceedings of which the outcomes are subject to 
significant uncertainty. In accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the 
Company will assess the likelihood of an adverse judgment for any outstanding claim; as well as ranges of probable 
losses. See Note 26 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, 
attached as a schedule hereto. 

20. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 
 
Other than as disclosed in the Company Financial Statements attached as Appendix “A” to this Listing Statement, 
no director or executive officer of the Company, to the knowledge of the Company, no person or company that is the 
direct or indirect beneficial owner of, or who exercises control or direction over, more than ten percent (10%) of the 
Common Shares, or an associate or affiliate thereof had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction 
within the three (3) years before the date of this Listing Statement, or in any proposed transaction, that has 
materially affected or will materially affect the Company or a subsidiary of the Company. 

21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 
 
Auditor 

The auditor of the Company is Manning Elliott  LLP, 1700-1030 W. Georgia St., Vancouver, BC V6E 2Y3. 
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Transfer Agent and Registrar 

The register and transfer agent of the Common Shares is Computershare Trust Company at its Calgary office located 
at 600, 530 - 8 Avenue SW, Calgary, AB T2P 3S8. 

22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 
  
The material contract, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business that were entered into 
within the two (2) years before the date of this Listing Statement by the Company are set out below: 

1. The Share Exchange Agreement dated June 17, 2018, among GEA International Inc., DropLeaf LLC and 
the members of DropLeaf LLC.  

2. Share Purchase Agreement dated September 19, 2018, as amended, among the Company, LVV Holding 
Company Ltd., La Vida Verde, Inc. and the shareholders of La Vida Verde, Inc. 

3. LLC Purchase Agreements and LLC Right to Purchase Agreement dated May 10, 2020, relating to the 
purchase of Sierra Superfoods, LLC; DB3 Management, LLC and BioNeva Innovations of Carson City, 
LLC. 

A copy of these material contracts will be available under the Company’s profile on www.sedar.com. 

23. INTERESTS OF EXPERTS  
 
Manning Elliott LLP are the Company's independent auditors.  Manning Elliott LLP have confirmed they are 
independent in accordance with the applicable rules of professional conduct and accordingly do not own, directly or 
indirectly, any securities of the Company. 

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 
 
There are no other material facts about the Company that are not elsewhere disclosed herein and which are 
necessary in order for this Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to 
the Company. 

25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The e audited financial statements of the Company and the notes thereto for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 
2018 are attached as Appendix “A” to this Listing Statement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders and Directors of Radiko Holdings Corp. (formerly International Cannabrands Inc.) 
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Radiko Holdings Corp. (formerly 
International Cannabrands Inc.) and its subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of 
financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the  consolidated statements of comprehensive loss,  changes in 
equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year then ended  and the related notes, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial 
statements”). 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at December 31, 2019 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year ended December 
31, 2019 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our reports. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter - Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements which describes matters and 
conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.  Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.   
 
Emphasis of Matter – Comparative Information and Restatement  

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at December 31, 2018 and for the year then ended, which are 
presented for comparative purposes, were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those 
consolidated financial statements in their report dated April 30, 2019.  
 
We draw attention to Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes that certain comparative 
information presented for the year ended December 31, 2018 has been restated. Our opinion is not modified in respect 
of this matter.  Note 25 explains the reasons for the restatements and discloses the adjustments that were applied to 
restate certain comparative information. As part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2019, we also audited the adjustments that were applied to restate certain comparative 
information presented for the year ended December 31, 2018. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and 
have been properly applied. Other than with respect to the adjustments that were applied to restate certain comparative 
information, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2018. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on 
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 taken as a whole. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information, which comprises the information included in the Company’s 
Management Discussion & Analysis which is filed with the relevant Canadian securities commissions.  
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 

We obtained the information included in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis to be filed with the relevant 
Canadian Securities Commissions. If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

•   Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•   Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company's internal control.   

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 
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•   Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•   Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

  •  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Joseph Bonvillain. 
 

/S/ MANNING ELLIOTT LLP 

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 

Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada 

July 9, 2020
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Radiko Holdings Corp. (formerly International Cannabrands Inc.)  

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in United States Dollars) 
 

Notes
As at 

December 31, 2019
As at 

December 31, 2018
(Restated -

ASSETS Note 25)
Current Assets $ $

Cash and cash equivalents 6 231,923                  670,894                    
Trade and other receivables 7 101,566                  4,882                        
Inventories 8 781,952                  235,398                    
Prepaid expenses and deposits 23,002                    91,168                      
Total current assets 1,138,443               1,002,342                 

Non-current Assets
Investment in Riotus SODO LLC 9 375,000                  500,000                    
Investment in La Vida Verde, Inc. 10 -                         2,300,000                 
Note receivable 15 33,792                    33,152                      
Property, plant and equipment 11 400,325                  6,376                        
Intangible asset- Juju license 12 -                         173,250                    
Intangible assets- La Vida Verde, Inc. 12 770,000                  -                            
Total non-current assets 1,579,117               3,012,778                 

Total Assets 2,717,560               4,015,120                 

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13 1,201,508               314,823                    
Notes payable 15,16 2,032,066               460,000                    

Current portion of lease liability 14 82,253                    -                            
Payable to La Vida Verde, Inc. 10, 25 -                         700,000                    
Derivative liability 18 1,174,578               637,263                    
Total current liabilities 4,490,405               2,112,086                 

Non-current Liabilities
Note payable 15,16 -                         469,551                    
Non-current portion of lease liability 14 98,748                    -                            
Deferred income tax liability  23 120,382                  -                            
Total non-current liabilities 219,130                  469,551                    

Total liabilities 4,709,535               2,581,637                 

EQUITY
Share capital 17 9,339,531               4,625,118                 
Additonal paid in capital 17 7,159,792               5,326,611                 
Accumulated deficit (19,165,850)           (8,518,246)                
Equity attributable to shareholders of parent (2,666,527)             1,433,483                 
Non controlling interest - La Vida Verde, Inc. 17 674,552                  -                            
Total Equity (deficit) (1,991,975)             1,433,483                 

Total Liabilities and Equity (deficit) 2,717,560               4,015,120                 

 
Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 
    “Steve Gormley”     Director     “Scott Reeves”     Director                                                               
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements     
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Radiko Holdings Corp. (formerly International Cannabrands Inc.) 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 

(Expressed in United States Dollars) 
  
 

Notes 2019 2018
(Restated -

Note 25)
$ $

Revenue 5,180,756                 106,584                    
Cost of Sales 8 6,784,692                 280,937                    
Gross Margin (Loss) (1,603,936)                (174,353)                   

Operating Expenses 19 8,914,746                 6,327,622                 

Loss before other expenses (10,518,682)              (6,501,975)                

Other expenses
Interest expense, net (42,518)                     (63,090)                     
Impairment of goodwill - La Vida Verde, Inc. 10 (7,271,974)                -                                
Unrealized fair value investment loss in Riotus 9 (125,000)                   -                                
Foreign exchange (2,626)                       (58,703)                     
Change in fair value of derivative liability 18 897,478                    658,658                    
Total other expenses (6,544,640)                536,865                    

Loss before income tax (17,063,322)              (5,965,110)                

Income taxes
Deferred income tax recovery 23 760,495                    -                                

Net loss and comprehensive loss (16,302,827)              (5,965,110)                

Net loss attributable to 
Shareholders (10,647,604)              -                                
Noncontrolling interest 17 (5,655,223)                -                                

(16,302,827)              (5,965,110)                

Basic and diluted loss per common share (0.06)                         (0.05)                         
Weighted average number of common shares oustanding 284,570,562             130,253,996             

For the Years Ended December 31,

 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements    
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Radiko Holdings Corp. (formerly International Cannabrands Inc.)  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in United States Dollars) 

2019 2018
$ $

(Restated -
Note 25)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss (16,302,827)                    (5,965,110)                
Items not affecting cash:  

Deferred income tax recovery (760,495)                         -                                
Amortization of property and equipment 134,783                          11,389                      
Amortization of intangible assets 493,450                          -                                
Share-based payments 2,741,484                       3,965,852                 
Impairment of goodwill 7,271,974                       375,245                    
Impairment of intangible assets 1,861,800                       (3,199)                       
Unrealized fair value investment loss in Riotus 125,000                          -                                
Change in fair value of derivative liability (897,478)                         (658,658)                   

Changes in non-cash working capital items:
(Increase) decrease  in trade and other receivables (94,881)                           10,280                      
Decrease (increase)  in inventories 918,506                          (58,989)                     
(Increase) in prepaid expenses and deposits 68,166                            (86,818)                     
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (4,662)                             35,912                      
Decrease in deferred revenue -                                      (1,042)                       

Net cash used in operating activities (4,445,180)                      (2,375,138)                

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of  La Vida Verde, Inc. (1,534,145)                      -                                
Cash acquired in acquisition of La Vida Verde, Inc. 925,704                          -                                
Purchase of property and equipment (173,280)                         (6,466)                       
Investment in Riotus SOTO LLC -                                      (500,000)                   
Investment in La Vida Verde, Inc. -                                      (1,600,000)                

Net cash used in investing activities (781,721)                         (2,106,466)                

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Promissory notes issued 2,000,000                       -                                
Promissory notes repaid (800,000)                         -                                
Repayments of leases (62,636)                          -                               
Proceeds from issuance of shares and units 3,610,002                       4,127,218                 
Stock options and warrant exercises 40,565                            793,631                    
Cancellation of common shares -                                      123,750                    

Net cash provided by financing activities 4,787,931                       5,044,599                 

Cash and cash equivalents (438,970)                         562,995                    
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 670,894                          107,899                    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 231,923                          670,894                    

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
Income taxes paid -$                                -$                          
Interest paid (42,518)$                         (63,090)$                   

For the Years Ended December 31,

 
  

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements     
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1.  NATURE OF BUSINESS AND GOING CONCERN 

 
Business Description 
 
Radiko Holdings Corp., formerly International Cannabrands Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under 
the provisions of the Business Corporations Act in the Province of Alberta on May 3, 2011. The common 
shares of the Company are listed and posted for trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange and currently 
trade under the symbol RDKO. The Company's head office is located at PO Box 13039, Des Moines WA 
98198. The Company operates at Suite #04-131, 12655 W Jefferson Blvd, Los Angeles, CA, 90066. 
  
On October 29, 2019, the Company announced that the Company had requested a change of its 
ticker symbol on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) from "JUJU" to "INCB," effective at the 
start of trading two business days from the date of CSE’s bulletin announcing same.  The effective date was 
November 4, 2019. On April 14, 2020, the Company began doing business as Radiko Holdings and began 
to trade under RDKO. The Company officially changed its corporate name at the company's Annual 
General Meeting held June 29, 2020. 
 
On September 19, 2018, the Company signed a definitive agreement for the acquisition of 51% of La Vida 
Verde, Inc. (“La Vida Verde” or “LVV”), a licensed cannabis product manufacturer and distributor based 
in Santa Cruz, CA.  The Company completed the acquisition on January 3, 2019. See Note 11. The 
transaction was at arm's length.  LVV is a U.S. focused, consumer packaged goods (CPG) company 
operating in the cannabis industry. LVV holds a manufacturing license issued by the California Department 
of Public Health and a distribution license issued by the California Bureau of Cannabis Control.  
 
On September 18, 2019, the Company ceased any further funding for the development of the Julian Marley 
JuJu Royal brand. This decision was based on the current cost for the use of Julian Marley's image and 
name, coupled with the royalty arrangement, made it difficult for the brand to reach profitability. The 
Company cut costs by closing down its Denver office and all personnel working on the brand resigned. On 
October 5, 2019, the license agreement for the JuJu Royal brand was terminated (See Note 26 (b)). 

  
Going Concern  
 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis. The going concern basis 
assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize 
its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. 
 
During the 2019 year end the Company incurred a net loss of $16,302,827 and as at December 31, 2019 the 
Company has a working capital deficit of $3,351,962 and an accumulated deficit of $19,165,850. These 
factors form a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. These consolidated financial statements do not give effect to adjustments to the 
carrying value and classification of assets and liabilities and related expense that would be necessary should 
the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.  
 
Management expects losses to lessen moving forward into the foreseeable future as it continues to develop 
and commercialize its products and generate additional revenues from sales though LVV. The Company 
has funded its current cash needs primarily through private placements of equity to investors. The 
Company anticipates addressing future financial requirements through the additional issuance of equity 
and/or debt from public capital markets. The Company's ability to continue as a going concern and to 
realize the carrying value of its assets and discharge its liabilities when due, is dependent upon the 
Company's ability to obtain the ongoing support of its lenders, investors, obtain profitable operations, and 
raise additional capital.  
 
 
The Company derives its revenues from the cannabis industry in the State of California and Nevada, USA 
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and the cannabis industry remains illegal under US federal law and the approach to enforcement of U.S. 
federal laws against cannabis is subject to change. Because the Company engages in cannabis related 
activities in the U.S., it assumes certain risks due to conflicting state and federal laws. 
 
Notwithstanding the permissive regulatory environment of adult-use recreational and medical cannabis at 
the California and Nevada State level, cannabis continues to be categorized as a controlled substance under 
the Controlled Substances Act in the United States and as such, cannabis-related practices or activities, 
including without limitation, the manufacture, importation, possession, use or distribution of cannabis are 
illegal under United States federal law. Strict compliance with state laws with respect to cannabis will 
neither absolve the Company of liability under United States federal law, nor provide a defense to any 
federal proceeding which may be brought against the Company. Any such proceedings brought against the 
Company may adversely affect the Company’s operations and financial performance. 
 

2.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
Statement of Compliance 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB”).  
 
The Board of Directors approved the consolidated financial statements on July 7, 2020. 
 
Basis of Measurement 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. 
 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared at the year ended date of the Company's financial 
statements. In the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of financial 
position, consolidated statements of cash flows, and consolidated statements of changes in equity (deficit), 
certain items are combined for the sake of clarity. These are explained within the notes. The consolidated 
statement of comprehensive loss is prepared using the cost-of-sales method. Assets and liabilities are 
classified by maturity. They are regarded as current if they mature within one year or within the normal 
business cycle of the Company. The normal business cycle is defined for this purpose as beginning with the 
procurement of the resources necessary for the production process and ending with the receipt of cash or 
cash equivalents as consideration for the sale of the goods produced in that process. Trade and other 
receivables and payable, claims for tax refunds, tax liabilities and inventories are always presented as 
current items; deferred tax assets and liabilities, if any, are presented as non-current items. Provisions, debt 
and other liabilities are shown between current and non-current. 
 
Basis of Consolidation  
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and subsidiaries. Subsidiaries 
are entities controlled by the Company. The financial transactions of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date control is obtained. Intercompany balances, transactions, 
income, and expenses are eliminated and gains or losses on intercompany transactions are eliminated.  
 
Where the Company does not own 100% of the subsidiary or associate, non-controlling interest is classified 
as a component of equity. The accounting policies of subsidiaries are the same as those of the Company. 
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Principal Subsidiaries December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 Country of incorporation
(i) LVV Holding Company Ltd. 100% 100% United States
(ii) ICL Finance Ltd. (ii) 100% 100% Canada
(iii) Interntional Cannabrands Ltd. 100% 100% United States
(iv) Rasta Puppy LLC 100% indirect through 

International Cannabrands Ltd.

100%

United States
(v) La Vida Verde, Inc. 51% indirect through LVV 

Holding Cmpany Ltd.

-

United States

Percentage Ownership

 
  

The Company has the following wholly owned subsidiaries: 
 

(i) LVV Holding Company Ltd is a Nevada holding company formed on September 19, 2018 for the 
acquisition of 51% of La Vida Verde, Inc.; 

(ii) ICL Finance Inc. is an Alberta management and administration company formed on November 8, 
2018 for banking purposes; 

(iii) International Cannabrands Ltd. is a Nevada cannabis distribution company formed  on September 
21, 2017; and  

(iv) Rasta Puppy LLC is a holding based in Nevada. It is a limited liability company formed on March 2, 
2018. This entity is inactive and was dissolved on February 2020.  

(v) Floral Wellness, LLC It is a limited liability company formed in the state of Washington on 
December 12, 2019. 

 
On January 3, 2019, the Company acquired a total 51% ownership (see Note 10) and control of: 
 
(vi) La Vida Verde, Inc., a California company formed on December 7, 2017 and involved in 

manufacturing and distribution of cannabis products. 
 

Functional and Presentation Currency 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are presented in United States dollar which is the 
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the United States dollar. 
 
The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries has been determined based on the 
consideration of the economic factors that primarily influence the Company’s revenues and the costs of its 
business operation. Changes to these factors may have an impact on the judgment applied in the 
determination of the Company’s functional currency. 
 
Foreign currency transactions that are in a different currency other than the United States dollar are 
recorded at the exchange rate as at the date of the transaction and are recorded as follows: 
 
(i) Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at current rates of exchange with the resulting gains or 

losses recorded in foreign exchange gain/loss in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss; 
 

(ii) Non-monetary items are translated at historical exchange rates; and 
 

(iii) Expense items are translated at the average rates of exchange with any gains or losses recognized 
within foreign exchange gain/loss in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
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Assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. 
Exchange rate variations resulting from the retranslation at the closing rate of the net investment in these 
subsidiaries, together with differences between their statement of comprehensive loss items translated at 
actual and average rates, are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss. On disposition or partial 
disposition of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of related exchange difference is recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive loss. 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
(a) Revenue Recognition 
 
The Company is accounting for revenues under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 
15”). Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to 
the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can 
be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably. 
 
IFRS 15 established a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. The 
Company recognizes revenues on product sales when the performance obligations relating to the sale of its 
products are satisfied.  
 
Through its ownership in LVV, the Company earns revenues from manufacturing and sale of cannabis 
products. Revenue is recognized at the point in time when control over the goods has been transferred to the 
customer. For cannabis products sales, the Company satisfies its performance obligation and transfers 
control to the customer upon delivery and acceptance by the customer. 
 
Through its subsidiary in Nevada, International Cannabrands Ltd, the Company also derives revenue from 
product sales in accordance with distribution agreements. The distribution agreement gives the customer 
the right to use the trademark in conjunction with the use, marketing, selling and distribution of the branded 
products. Revenue for product sales under distribution agreements is recognized when products are shipped 
to the customer.  
 
Revenue is recognized when there is evidence of arrangement, the amount is fixed or determinable, and 
collection is reasonably assured and is recorded net of discounts or sales incentives. Amounts received prior 
to the shipment of products are recognized as deferred revenue in the year received and recorded as revenue 
when the products are shipped and the above criteria is met.  
 
(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents and Cash Flows 
 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise of cash at banks and on hand and 
short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above. The Company uses the 
indirect method of reporting cash flow from operating activities. 

 
(c)  Inventories 
 
Inventories consist of cannabis recreational products, extracts, and concentrates. Inventories are valued at 
the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes the cost of purchase net of vendor allowances plus 
other costs, such as direct labour, amortization of equipment and manufacturing licenses, transportation 
costs that are directly incurred to bring the inventory to their present location and condition. The Company 
uses the first-in-first-out method to determine the cost of inventories. The Company estimates net realizable 
value as the amount that inventories are expected to be sold while taking into consideration the estimated 
selling costs.  
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Inventories are written down to net realizable value when the cost of inventories is estimated to be 
unrecoverable due to obsolescence, damage, or declining market prices. When the circumstances that 
previously caused inventories to be written down below cost no longer exist or when there is apparent 
evidence of an increase in selling price then the amount of the write-down previously recorded is reversed. 
Storage costs, indirect administrative overhead, and certain selling costs related to inventories are expensed 
in the period incurred. 
 
(d) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and/or accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property and equipment and 
borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. When significant 
parts of property and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Company recognizes such parts 
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major 
inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the property and equipment as a 
replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive loss as incurred.  
 
The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of the asset after its use is included in the 
cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.  
 
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 
 
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment, and is recognized 
net within other income (expenses) in the statement of comprehensive loss. 
 
Depreciation is calculated based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of 
individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of 
that asset, then the component is depreciated separately. 
 
Depreciation is recognized in statement of comprehensive loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of each item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of 
the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term in which case it is depreciated over the useful life. Depreciation is provided for 
using the following methods and annual rates: 
Machinery and equipment: 3-7 years and straight-line   
Furniture and fixtures: 3 years straight-line 
Leasehold improvements: 7-15 years straight line 
 
The Company assesses at each year-end the useful lives and residual values of all property, plant and 
equipment and changes its estimates if required. 

 
(e) Intangible Assets 

 
Intangible assets consist of Juju License agreement and intangibles acquired on acquisition of LVV (Note 
10): distribution and manufacturing licenses, brands and customer relationships.  
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Certain internally generated intangible assets are capitalized, as they meet the criterion 
under IAS 38. 
 
Intangible assets have a finite life and are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated 
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useful lives. The useful lives of the intangible assets are reviewed at least annually. 
 
Estimated useful lives of intangible assets are shorter of the economic life and the period the right is legally 
enforceable. The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of 
financial position date. The useful lives of the Company’s intangible assets are as follows: 
 
Juju license agreement: over the agreement term  
Distribution and manufacturing licenses: 10 years 
Brands: 5 years 
Customer relationships: 5 years 
 
At each financial position reporting date, the carrying amounts of the Company’s long-lived assets, 
including property and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any.  
 
Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Company 
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. 
 
(f) Business Combination 
 
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. At the acquisition date the 
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value, except deferred tax 
assets or liabilities, which are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 – Income Taxes. 
Subsequent changes in fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition if they qualify as 
measurement period adjustments. The measurement period is the period between the date of the acquisition 
and the date where all significant information necessary to determine the fair values is available and cannot 
exceed 12 months. All other subsequent changes are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive loss. 
 
The purchase price allocation process resulting from a business combination requires management to 
estimate the fair value of identifiable assets acquired including intangible assets and liabilities assumed 
including any contingently payable purchase price obligation due over time. The Company uses valuation 
techniques, which are generally based on forecasted future net cash flows discounted to present value. 
These valuations are closing linked to the assumptions used by management on the future performance of 
the related assets and the discount rates applied. The determination of fair value involves making estimates 
relating to acquired intangible assets, property and equipment, and contingent consideration. 
 
In certain situations, goodwill or a bargain purchase gain may result from a business combination. 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the consideration transferred over the net amounts of the identifiable 
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess is recognized immediately 
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss as a bargain purchase gain. 
 
Acquisition related costs are recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss as incurred. 
 
(g) Goodwill 
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the price paid for the acquisition of an entity over the fair value of the net 
identifiable tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired on the date of acquisition less any 
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to the Cash Generating Units (“CGU”) to which it relates. 
Goodwill is measured at historical cost and is evaluated for impairment annually and more often if events 
or circumstances indicate there may be impairment.  
 
Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing if the carrying value of a CGU, including the allocated 
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goodwill, exceeds its recoverable amount determined as the greater of the estimated fair value less costs to 
sell and the value in use. Impairment losses recognized in respect of a CGU are first allocated to the 
carrying value of goodwill and any excess is allocated to the carrying amount of assets in the CGU. Any 
goodwill impairment is recorded in income in the year in which the impairment is identified. Impairment 
losses on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. 
 
(h) Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset or a group of 
assets (CGU) may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of its fair value less disposal costs and its value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset 
(CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (CGU) is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit. In determining fair value less costs of 
disposal, an appropriate valuation model is used. The Company has cash generating units which 
impairment could be tested against.  
 
Impairment losses, if any, of continuing operations are recognized in the statement of comprehensive loss 
in those expense categories consistent with the function and nature of the impaired asset. 
 
For non-financial assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication 
exists, the Company estimates the non-financial asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used 
to determine the non-financial asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. 
The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the non-financial asset does not exceed its recoverable 
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the non-financial asset in prior periods. Such 
reversal is recognized in the statement of comprehensive loss. 

 
(i) Taxes 
 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax expense is recognized in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive loss. 
 
     Current Income Tax 
 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the respective and prior years are measured at the amount    
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, by the reporting date, in the 
country where the Company operates and generates taxable income. Current income tax relating to 
items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the statement of comprehensive 
loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in 
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate. 

 
     Deferred Tax 
 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes. 
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
 

 Where the deferred tax liability arises from an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss. 
 

 In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in the subsidiary where 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 

 Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except: 
 

 Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 
 

 In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in the subsidiaries, 
deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilized. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date 
and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. 
Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other 
comprehensive income (loss) or directly in equity. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred tax relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
     Sales Tax 
 

Revenues, expenses, liabilities and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax except: 
 

 Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense item as applicable. 
 

 Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included. 
 

 The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 
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 (j) Financial Instruments  
 

Financial instruments are accounted for in accordance with IFRS, “Financial Instruments: Classification 
and Measurement”. A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability of equity instrument of another entity. 
 

 Financial Assets  
 

On initial recognition, financial assets are recognized at fair value and are subsequently classified and 
measured at: (i) amortized cost; (ii) fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or (iii) 
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of financial assets is generally based on 
the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. A 
financial asset is measured at fair value net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 
acquisition except for financial assets at FVTPL where transaction costs are expensed.  
 
All financial assets not classified and measured at amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. 
On initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably 
elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income. The 
Company derecognizes financial assets only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the 
financial assets expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all of the associated 
risks and rewards of ownership to another entity.  
 
The classification determines the method by which the financial assets are carried on the statement of 
financial position subsequent to inception and how changes in value are recorded. Cash is measured at 
FVTPL. 

 
 Impairment of Financial Assets 

 
IFRS 9 uses the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. The credit loss model groups receivables based on 
similar credit risk characteristics and days past due in order to estimate bad debts. The ECL model 
applies to the Company’s receivables.  
 
An ‘expected credit loss’ impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be recognized 
based on expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash flows associated with the 
asset is determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between this amount and the 
carrying amount as follows: the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of 
the future cash flows associated with the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate, either directly or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is 
recognized in profit or loss for the period. 
 
In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets measured at 
amortized cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to 
the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not 
exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. 

 
 Financial Liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities are designated as either: (i) fair value through profit or loss; or (ii) other financial 
liabilities. All financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost except for 
financial liabilities at FVTPL. The classification determines the method by which the financial 
liabilities are carried on the statement of financial position subsequent to inception and how changes in 
value are recorded. Accounts payable and loans payable are classified under other financial liabilities 
and carried on the statement of financial position at amortized cost. Warrant liability is classified under 
other financial liabilities and carried on the statement of financial position fair value through profit or 
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loss . At December 31, 2019, the Company classified derivative liability from share purchase warrants 
with an exercise price in Canadian dollars (see Note 18) as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss. As these warrants are exercised, the fair value of the recorded derivative liability on date 
of exercise is included in share capital along with the proceeds from the exercise. If these warrants 
expire unexercised, the related decrease in derivative liability is recognized in net income. 

 
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled or expire. The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when the terms of the liability 
are modified such that the terms and / or cash flows of the modified instrument are substantially 
different; in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value. 

 
Offsetting of Financial Instruments 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. 

 
Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting 

 
The Company has not entered any derivative financial instruments except for the warrants described in 
Note 18 and has not applied hedge accounting for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

 
(k) Leases 
 
At the inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease. If so, the 
Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right of 
use asset is initially measured at cost, which consists of: 
 

 The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability 
 Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date 
 Any indirect costs incurred 
 An estimate of costs to dismantle or remove the underlying asset or to restore the site on 

which the asset is located 
 Any incentives received from the lessor 

 
The Company has elected not to recognize right of use assets and lease liabilities for short-term lease that 
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low value assets. The lease payments associated with 
these leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.  
 
However, for the leases of land and buildings in which it is a lessee, the Company has elected not to 
separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease 
component. 

 
The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.  The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying 
asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.   The right-of-use asset is 
subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the 
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of 
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right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the 
right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-
measurements of the lease liability.  
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its incremental 
borrowing rate as the discount rate. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 

 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate as at the commencement date; 
 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
 the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, 

lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably 
certain not to terminate early.   

 
The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is re-measured when 
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in 
the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee or if the 
Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.   
When the lease liability is re-measured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset has been reduced to zero.  
 
The Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in 
‘property and equipment’ in the statement of financial position. 
 
(l) Borrowing Costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial year of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of 
the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the year they occur. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that the Company incurs relating to the borrowing of funds. For the 
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company did not capitalize any borrowing costs. 

 
              (m) Stock Based Compensation  
 

Employees and consultants of the Company may receive a portion of their compensation in the form of 
share based payment transactions, whereby employees or consultants render services as consideration for 
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).  
 
 
In situations where equity instruments are issued for goods or services, the transaction is measured at the 
fair value of the goods or services received by the entity. When the value of the goods or services cannot be 
specifically identified, they are measured at fair value of the share-based payment. The costs of equity-
settled transactions with employees are measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they 
are granted.  

 
The costs of equity-settled transactions are recognized, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on 
which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (“the vesting date”). The cumulative 
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expense is recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the 
Company’ best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The profit or loss 
charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning 
and end of that period and the corresponding amount is represented in contributed surplus.  

 
No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is 
conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market 
condition is satisfied provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.  

 
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense 
as if the terms had not been modified. An additional amount is recognized on the same basis as the amount 
of the original award for any modification which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment 
arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. 
 
(n) Share Capital 
 
Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as share capital only to the extent that they do 
not meet the definition of a financial liability or financial assets. The Company’s common shares are 
classified as equity instruments. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new common 
shares, common share warrants, or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds. . Common shares issued for non-monetary consideration are measured based on their market 
value at the date the common shares are issued. Transaction costs directly attributable to derivative 
warrants are charged to operations as a finance cost. 
 
Valuation of Equity Units Issued in Private Placements 
 
The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and warrants 
issued as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the more easily 
measurable component based on fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable 
component. The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement is determined to be the more 
easily measurable component and are valued at their fair value, as determined by the closing quoted bid 
price on the day prior to the announcement date. The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached warrants. 
Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as share-based payments reserve. 
 
Share Purchase Warrants and Options 
 
The fair value of warrants and options issued by the Company are determined on their issuance date, using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and are recorded as a component of equity reserves. When the 
warrants or options are granted as compensation for the receipt of goods or services, they are recorded 
either as an expense or as a cost, capitalized to share capital or assets, on the same basis as equivalent cash 
payments. 
 
When share purchase warrants or options are exercised, the cash proceeds and their fair value previously 
recorded in equity reserves are recorded as share capital. 
 
(o) Earnings (Loss) Per Share 
 
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per unit data for its shares. Basic earnings (loss) 
per unit are calculated by dividing the income (loss) for the period by the weighted average number of 
shares that are outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per unit are calculated using the 
weighted average number of common and potential shares outstanding during the period. Potential units 
consist of the incremental units issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants using the treasury 
method. The treasury method assumes that the proceeds from the issuance of potential shares are used to 
purchase shares at the average market price during the period. 
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(p) Segment Reporting 
 

A business segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that related to transactions with the 
Company’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), being the Chief Operating Decision Marker (“CODM”), to 
make decisions about the allocation of resources and to assess their performance, and for which discrete 
financial information is available. 
 
Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.   

 
4. SIGNIFICANT ESTIMATES, JUDGEMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make certain 
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results could 
differ from these estimates. 
 
Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation and judgment uncertainty that 
management has made at the end of the reporting period, that could result in a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, 
relate to:  

 
     (a)  Estimates 
 

(i) Business Combinations 

In a business combination all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair 
values.  In determining the allocation of the purchase price in a business combination requires management 
to make certain judgments and estimates about future events, including but not limited to future revenue   
and future operating costs. 

(ii) Fair Value Measurement of Stock Options, Performance Warrants and Broker Warrants 
 
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date on which they are granted. Estimating fair value for stock options, performance 
warrants and broker warrants requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is 
dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires the determination of the 
most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the stock options and broker 
warrants, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them.  The assumptions and models 
used for estimating fair value for stock options, performance warrants and broker warrants are disclosed in 
Note 17. 

 
(b) Accounting judgments 

 
(i) Business acquisitions 

Management determines whether assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business.  A business 
consists of inputs and processes applied to those inputs that have the ability to create outputs.  
 
The Company acquired control of La Vida Verde Inc. on January 3, 2019 (Note 10) which was assessed to 
be a business combination and it was accounted for under IFRS 3 Business Combinations.   
 
(ii) Income Taxes 

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and the amount and timing 
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of future taxable income. Given the range of business relationships and the long-term nature of existing 
contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or future 
changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense already 
recorded. The Company establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences 
of audits by the tax authorities. The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as 
experience of previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and 
the responsible tax authority. 
 
(iii) Current Income Tax 
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 
to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amounts are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Company operates and 
generates taxable income. 
 
Provisions for taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on a 
qualitative assessment of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at the 
end of the reporting period. However, it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could 
result from audits by taxing authorities. 
 
(iv) Deferred Income Tax 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting   purposes. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are 
recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable income will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. The effect of a change in the enacted or substantively enacted 
tax rates is recognized in net earnings and comprehensive income or in equity depending on the item to 
which the adjustment relates. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
(v) Going Concern 
 
The assumption that the Company will be able to continue as a going concern is subject to significant 
judgments by management including the Company’s short and long-term operating budget, expected 
profitability, investing and financing activities, and management’s strategic planning.  

 
(vi)  Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 
The Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets, including equipment, when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate the assets may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets carried at fair value 
are excluded from impairment analysis. 
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows to be derived from continuing use of the asset or cash generating unit 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Fair value less costs of disposal is the amount 
obtainable from the sale of an asset or cash generating unit in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the cost of disposal. When a binding sale agreement is not available, 
fair value less costs of disposal is estimated using a discounted cash flow approach with inputs and 
assumptions consistent with those of a market participant. If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash 
generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash 
generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in net 
income. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash 
generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, such that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognized. 

 
5. RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS  
 
              IFRS 16 Leases  
 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases, which will replace IAS 17 Leases. This standard 
introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all 
leases with a term of more than twelve months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is 
required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease 
liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.  

 
The Company adopted IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019.  The adoption of IFRS 16 had no impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements as the Company did not have any leases with a lease term of 
over 12 months at January 1, 2019. 
 
The Company has applied the new standard using the modified retrospective approach with no restatement 
of comparative periods. There were no adjustments to retained earnings as a result of adoption. 
 
The Company has elected not to reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at the date of initial 
application. Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition date the Company relied on its previous 
assessment made under IAS 17 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease. The definition of 
a lease under IFRS 16 was applied only to contracts entered into or modified on or after January 1, 2019. 

 
6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand in the amount of $231,923 as at December 
31, 2019 (2018 – $670,894). 
 

7.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Trade receivables $ 121,566                         $ 9,882                             
Less: Reserve for doubtful accounts (20,000)                         (5,000)                           

Total trade and other receivables $ 101,566                         $ 4,882                              
  

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 60 day terms. The aging analysis of trade 
receivables is as follows: 
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<30 days 30-60 days >60 days
December 31, 2019 121,566$                 -$                         60,343$                   1,900$                     59,323$                   
December 31, 2018 9,882$                     1,254$                     -$                         3,763$                     4,865$                     

Total
Neither past due 

nor impaired
Past due but not impaired

 
 
Provision for uncollectable accounts is provided by using the allowance method based on management 
estimates and past experience. The reserve for uncollectable accounts was $20,000 and $5,000 as at 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 

8.  INVENTORIES AND COST OF SALES 
 

(a) Inventories 
  

Year ended December 
31, 2019 

Year ended December 
31, 2018 

Raw materials (at cost) $ 418,127                         $ -                                    
Packaging materials (at cost) 144,812                         33,197                           
Finished goods (at cost) 304,468                         167,802                         
Inventory in production (at cost) 14,545                           39,499                           
Less: Reserve for impaired inventory (100,000)                       (5,100)                           
Total inventories (lower of cost and NRV) $ 781,952                         $ 235,398                           
 
Inventory expensed in the cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2019 amounted to $4,548,404 
(2018 - $249,598). The reserve for impaired inventory is based on management estimates, past experience, 
condition of the inventory and regulatory changes. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the 
Company incurred a write-down of inventory in the amount of $173,811 (2018 – $5,100) of which $73,811 
is related to obsolete or damaged inventory (2018 – $5,100) and $100,000 is for the write-down of slow 
moving inventory (2018 – $Nil).  

 
 
(b) Cost of Sales 

 
Year ended 

December 31, 2019 
Year ended 

December 31, 2018 
Inventories $ 4,548,404                  $ 249,598                     
Labour 872,432                     -                             
Overhead 441,689                     -                             
Product packaging 105,927                     31,339                       
Depreciation of equipment 108,298                     -                             
Amortization of manufacturing licenses 78,500                       -                             
Impairment of manufacturing licenses 221,500                     -                             
JuJu restructuring costs 407,942                     -                             
Cost of sales $ 6,784,691                  $ 280,937                      
 

 
9.  INVESTMENT RIOTUS LLC – SERIES SODO 
 

Effective August 29, 2018, the Company purchased 500,000 Class A units of Riotus LLC – Series SODO 
(Riotus SODO). Each unit was purchased at $1.00 for $500,000 in total. This represents a 20.6% ownership 
position however ICI does not have joint control nor a position of significant influence in management nor 
decision making ability and therefore the Company records the investment in Riotus SODO at fair value 
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through profit and loss.  Riotus SODO provides its investors with an opportunity to earn profits from its 
investments in real estate, facilities and operations expansion in the cannabis industry.  
 
The Company received distribution of $35,259 and recorded it as other income during the year ended 
December 31, 2019. The cash distributions during the year ended December 31, 2019 were negatively 
impacted by a crop failure in late 2019.  
 
Riotus SODO is a private entity without observable market prices for its equity units and this investment is 
measured at its estimated fair value which is calculated based on a valuation technique that uses inputs 
derived by management which are considered level 3 in the fair value hierarchy (see Note 20). The 
Company has reviewed the expected cash distributions from Riotus and prepared a cash flow projection at 
December 31, 2019. The Company used a discount rate of 12% to estimate the recoverable cash flows at 
December 31, 2019.   Based on a comparison of the recoverable cash flows at December 31, 2019 to the 
recoverable cash flows estimated at August 2018 when the investment was made, it was determined that 
there is a decline in the expected cash flows and therefore a decline in the recoverable cash flows which 
represented a decrease in fair value.   As a result, the Company recorded an unrealized loss in fair value of 
the Riotus SODS investment that was determined by management to be $125,000 at December 31, 2019.  
During 2018 management determined that the fair value remained unchanged from date of the initial 
investment to December 31, 2019 due to the relatively short time frame between these dates and 
considering that no events were known to have occurred that would have reasonably impacted fair value or 
expected cash flows to be generated by Riotus SODO as at December 31, 2018.   
 
A continuity schedule of the investment in Riotus SODO follows: 

 
Balance as of January 1, 2018 $ -                 
Investment 500,000         
Balance of December 31, 2018 500,000         
Unrealized loss in fair value during the year ended December 31, 2019 (125,000)        
Balance as at December 31, 2019 $ 375,000          

 
 
10.  BUSINESS ACQUISITION – La Vida Verde, Inc. 

  
a) Acquisition  
 
On September 19, 2018, the Company signed a definitive agreement for the acquisition of 51% of La Vida 
Verde, Inc. (“La Vida Verde” or “LVV”), a licensed cannabis product manufacturer and distributor based 
in Santa Cruz, CA.  On January 3, 2019 the Company acquired control of LVV (the “acquisition”) at arm’s 
length. As part of the acquisition, the Company acquired LVV brands, trademarks, customer list, and 
distribution and manufacturing licenses that constitute identifiable intangibles, as well as the access to 
LVV’s workforce, including the existing strategic management functions and associated processes of LVV. 
In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, this was determined to be the acquisition of a business 
and is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting whereby the assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed were recorded at their estimated fair value at the acquisition date.  
 
The acquisition was completed through two significant closing events based on the agreement, the first on 
November 1, 2018 when the Company acquired an 8.5% equity interest at a cost of $2.3 million with $1 
million paid in cash to the LVV shareholder as vendor and the remainder to be paid by a working capital 
contribution  into LVV of $1,300,000 ($600,000 paid in 2018 and $700,000 paid after January 3, 2019); 
and a second closing on January 3, 2019 when the Company acquired an additional 42.5% of LVV in 
exchange for consideration paid to the LVV shareholders as vendors comprised of 25,225,161 Common 
Shares issued by the Company and the issuance of promissory notes for an aggregate of $2,000,000 (the 
“Notes”) due as to 50% on March 31, 2019 and October 31, 2019, and an additional cash payment of 
$700,000 as a working capital contribution into LVV. The Notes bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum 
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and are secured by a pledge of the LVV securities purchased. The common shares issued by the Company 
as part of consideration were recorded at a value of $1,588,133 based on the market price of shares as of 
the closing on January 3, 2019. The consideration paid as working capital contributions to LVV were 
investments that planned to support an expansion of sales and operations staff, purchase of inventory 
required for growth and funds to expand manufacturing capacity. 
 
Included in the acquisition consideration is: (i) $1,000,000 in cash paid for the initial 8.5% interest, (ii) 
$2,000,000 for the promissory notes (see Note 17); (iii) 25,225,161 Common Shares of the Company with 
an estimated value of $0.06 per share, and (iv) $2,000,000 in the working capital contributions ($600,000 
paid in 2018, $700,000 paid  in January 2019 and $700,000due in April 2019 – see Note 27).  
  
Acquisition consideration:  
 
Cash  $ 1,000,000                  
Promissory notes 2,000,000                  
Fair value of common stock 1,588,133                  
Working capital contribution 2,000,000                  
Total acquisition consideration $ 6,588,133                   
 
 The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of LVV as at the date of acquisition: 
 
Cash $ 872,830                     
Accounts receivable 529,381                     
Working capital contribution receivable 1,400,000                  
Inventory 1,416,561                  
Property and equipment, including right of use assets 357,256                     
Identifiable intangibles (Note 12) 2,952,000                  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (805,785)                    
Lease liability (195,432)                    
Deferred income tax liability (880,877)                    
Identifiable net assets $ 5,645,934                   
 
The gross contractual amount of acquired accounts receivable is $529,381. At the date of the acquisition of 
LVV, the total amount of acquired accounts receivable was expected to be collected in full. 
  
The cash flows on acquisition were $1,600,000 paid and $925,704 acquired, for a net use of cash of 
$674,296. Any transaction costs were incurred prior to the purchase and sale agreement was finalized in 
2018, and transaction costs were expensed in fiscal 2018.   
 
The calculation of goodwill as at the date of acquisition:  
Acquisition consideration $ 6,588,133                  
Non-controlling interest 6,329,775                  
Less: Identifiable net assets (5,645,934)                 
Goodwill 7,271,974                   
 
The non-controlling interest is recognized at its fair value.   
 
The resulting goodwill represents the sales and growth potential of LVV and business synergies.  

 
b) Goodwill impairment  
 
Due to negative cash flows and losses incurred in LVV’s operations during 2019 and in assessing projected 
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future cash flows the carrying amount of goodwill recognized on acquisition of LVV could not be 
supported as recoverable as at December 31, 2019.  As a result, the carrying amount of goodwill was 
written off as an impairment expense.      
 
c) Legal claims and settlement 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company paid $800,000 under the Notes.  The Company 
had a remaining obligation of $200,000 that was due March 31, 2019 and $1,000,000 that was due on 
October 31, 2019. At December 31, 2019, the Company also had a remaining working capital contribution 
obligation of $700,000. 
 
On September 20, 2019, the Company received a default notice from the founding shareholders of LVV 
due to non-payment under the terms of the notes and working capital contribution. The Company 
responded by filing a complaint for compensatory and punitive damages in court on November 26, 2019. 
The Company and the respective parties resolved these matters by a subsequent settlement described as 
follows.     

 
 On April 21, 2020, the Company and LVV entered into a settlement agreement under which the Company’s 

51% ownership interest of LVV has been confirmed and the Company has renewed its commitment to 
invest a total of $700,000 in the working capital of LVV over the course of the next several months, with 
the final payment $300,000 to be made by September 30, 2020.  In lieu of the outstanding notes of $1.2 
million due the amount is to be paid is based on compensation as a percentage of LVV's future earnings as 
cash flow permits.  As security for the future payment of the working capital contributions, the Company 
has agreed to pledge approximately 16% of its ownership in LVV. The April 21, 2020 settlement is a 
subsequent event with no adjustments reflected to any figures presented as at December 31, 2019. 

 
11.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 

Computer and Furniture and Machinery and Right of
Software other Equipment Leaseholds Other Use Assets Total

Cost:
At December 31, 2017 827                         -                         -                         -                         -                         827                         
Additions 6,466                      -                         -                         -                         -                         6,466                      
Disposals -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
At December 31, 2018 $ 7,293                      $ -                         $ -                         $ -                         $ -                         $ 7,293                      
Assets acquired in acquisition 26,615                    52,563                    65,554                    17,082                    195,432                  357,246                  
Additions -                         12,660                    450                         106,759                  53,411                    173,280                  
Disposals (1,794)                    -                         -                         -                         -                         (1,794)                    
At December 31, 2019 $ 32,114                    $ 65,223                    $ 66,004                    $ 123,841                  $ 248,843                  $ 536,025                  

Depreciation:
At December 31, 2017 528                         -                         -                         -                         -                         528                         
Depreciation for the year 389                         -                         -                         -                         -                         389                         
At December 31, 2018 $ 917                         $ $ $ $ $ 917                         
Depreciation for the year 12,136                    12,883                    13,321                    22,732                    73,711                    134,783                  
At December 31, 2019 $ 13,053                    $ 12,883                    $ 13,321                    $ 22,733                    $ 73,711                    $ 135,700                  

Net Book Value:
At December 31, 2019 $ 19,061                    $ 52,340                    $ 52,683                    $ 101,108                  $ 175,132                  $ 400,325                  
At December 31, 2018 $ 6,376                      $ -                         $ -                         $ -                         $ -                         $ 6,376                       

 
Depreciation for the year ended December 31, 2019 is allocated as follows: $108,298 (2018 – $Nil) is 
included in cost of sales and $26,485 (2018 – $Nil) is included in operating expenses. 
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12.        INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

 Juju License 
Agreement

LVV Distribution 
and Manfacturing 

Licneses
LVV             

Brands
LVV Customer 
Relationships Total

Cost: -                                
At December 31, 2017 $ 220,000                    $ -                               $ -                             $ -                               $ 220,000                   
Additions -                                -                               -                             -                               -                              
Disposals -                                -                               -                             -                               -                              
Impairment -                                -                               -                             -                               -                              
At December 31, 2018 $ 220,000                    $ -                               $ -                             $ -                               $ 220,000                   
Intangibles acquired in acquisition -                                1,052,000                171,000                  1,729,000                 2,952,000                
Additions -                                -                               -                             -                               -                              
Disposals -                                -                               -                             -                               -                              
Impairment 165,000                    206,800                   106,800                  1,383,200                 1,861,800                
At December 31, 2019 $ 55,000                      $ 845,200                   $ 64,200                    $ 345,800                    $ 1,310,200                

Amortization:
At December 31, 2017 $ 35,750                      $ -                               $ -                             $ -                               $ 35,750                     
Amortization charge for the year 11,000                      -                               -                             -                               11,000                     
At December 31, 2018 $ 46,750                      $ -                               $ -                             $ -                               $ 46,750                     

Amortization charge for the year 8,250                        105,200                   34,200                    345,800                    493,450                   
At December 31, 2019 $ 55,000                      $ 105,200                   $ 34,200                    $ 345,800                    $ 540,200                   

Net Book Value:
At December 31, 2019 $ -                                $ 740,000                   $ 30,000                    $ -                               $ 770,000                   
At December 31, 2018 $ 173,250                    $ -                               $ -                             $ -                               $ 173,250                    
 

On October 5, 2019, the license agreement for the JuJu Royal brand was terminated. The Company 
recorded an expense of $432,229 related to the termination of the brand, including license fees, inventory 
and other expenses. As at December 31, 2019, the carrying value of the Juju License agreement was 
entirely impaired as the Company terminated the agreement in fiscal 2019. 
 
As part of the acquisition of LVV (see Note 10), the Company acquired LVV brands, trademarks, customer 
list, and distribution and manufacturing licenses that constitutes identifiable intangibles. As at December 
31, 2019, the carrying value of the customer relationships and brands were impaired due to the decline in 
LVV’s sales and other factors that had negative impact on LVV’s operations in fiscal 2019 and a write-
down was recorded to the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount for the manufacturing and 
distribution licenses was estimated as their estimated fair value (based on comparison to market value of 
similar licenses) less costs to sell. The recoverable amount for the brands was estimated as their value in 
use using a discount rate of 19%.    
 
Amortization and impairment of JuJu License Agreement and LVV manufacturing licenses have been 
recorded in costs of sales for the year. Amortization and impairment of other intangible assets have been 
recorded in operating expenses for the year.  

 
13.  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
  

 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Trade payables $ 799,591                         $ 201,954                         
Accrued liabilities (i) 318,634                         1,991                             
Credit cards 83,291                           110,878                         

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,201,516                      $ 314,823                         

 
Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities: 
 
 Trade payables are non-interest bearing 
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 Accrued liabilities are non-interest bearing 
 Commodity and business taxes payable are non-interest bearing 
 
(i) The accrued liability includes costs (see Note 26 (b)) related to the termination of the JuJu Royal brand 
of $269,176 as at December 31, 2019.  

                       
 
14.  LEASES  

  
The Company leases certain assets under lease agreements. The lease liability consists of leases for office 
space and vehicles. The leases bear interest at 8% per annum and expire in 2022. 
 
At December 31, 2019 the Company’s lease liability related to office and vehicle leases are as follows: 
 
Lease liability December 31, 2019
Current portion 82,253                       
Long-term portion 98,748                       
Total lease liability $ 181,001                      

  
 At December 31, 2019 the Company is committed to minimum lease payments as follows: 

 
Maturity analysis December 31, 2019
Less than one year 93,781                       
One to five years 104,337                     
More than five years -                             
Total undiscounted lease liabilities $ 198,118                      
 
Other disclosures are as follows: 
 
Amounts recognized in profit or loss December 31, 2019
Interest on lease liabilities $ 15,274                       
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use-asset -                             
Expenses related to short-term leases -                             

Amounts recognized in the statement of cash flows December 31, 2019
Principal payments on lease liabilities 62,636                       
Total cash outflows for leases $ 62,636                        

 
15. KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
  

All related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. All amounts 
either due from or due to related parties other than specifically disclosed are non-interest bearing, 
unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayments. 

 
Key Management Compensation  
 
Key management personnel are comprised of Company’s Executive Officers and the Board of Directors 
with compensation as follows:  
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December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

$ 942,527                         $ 489,609                         
Share-based compensation -                                881,111                         

Total key management compensation $ 1,841,334                      $ 1,269,412                      

Salaries, fees and short-term benefits

 
 
Related Party Transactions 
 
Transactions with related parties and balances not disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial 
statements are summarized below: 
 

(a) As at December 30, 2019, $264,642 (2018 – $4,219) was payable to officers and directors, as well 
as the companies controlled by officers and directors, for outstanding salaries, fees and benefits, 
which is included in key management compensation (above) and in the amount of trade payables 
(Note 13). 

(b) During the year, the Company purchased inventory from entities that are controlled by LVV’s    
non-controlling shareholders (Note 10).  The amount of inventory purchased totals $1,571,267 
(2018 – $Nil), which represents 73% of all purchases of inventory in 2019 (2018 – 0%). 

(c)  During the year, the Company earned sales revenues from a company with an officer of LVV in 
common in the amount of $117,116 (2018 – $Nil). 

 
Due from former officer and director 
 
On March 16, 2017, a former officer and director, was issued 536,522 shares in exchange for a $32,000 
note receivable. The note is due on March 15, 2020 with accrued interest of $1,792 at December 31, 2019. 
 
Due to former officer and director 
 
At December 31, 2019, the total loans payable to a former officer and director is summarized as follows: 
 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Note payable $ 701,600                         $ 911,600                         
Accrued interest- note payable 61,117                           17,951                           

Total note payable $ 762,717                         $ 929,551                          
 
The loans represented advances from a former officer and director with no fixed terms of repayment. The 
advances accrued simple interest at a rate of 2% per annum starting January 1, 2015. On September 4, 
2018, the Company entered into a Promissory Note with the former officer and director for $941,600. The 
Note is due on September 20, 2020 and provides for monthly payments of $26,155 plus interest. Interest 
accrues at 6% from September 4, 2018. The Company has repaid $210,000 during the year ended 
December 31, 2019 and recorded interest of $61,117 and $17,951 during the years ended December 31, 
2019 and 2018, respectively. The Company has stopped payments under the note payable and recorded 
interest at the note rate related to the legal action discussed in Note 26(a). 
 

16.  PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE 
 

On January 3, 2019, the Company issued Promissory Notes and Pledge Agreements to the stockholders of 
LVV totaling $2,000,000 (the “Notes”). Refer to Note 10 on the acquisition of LVV. The Notes were due 
50% on March 31, 2019 and October 31, 2019 and provided for interest at 5% per annum. The note 
payments are collateralized by the pro rata number of shares of LVV common stock held by the Company 
that were purchased with the amount represented by the notes.   
 
The Company paid $800,000 under the Notes during the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company had 
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a promissory note payable to the LVV stockholders with $200,000 which remained outstanding that was 
due March 31, 2019 and $1,000,000 that was due on October 31, 2019. The Company accrued interest of 
$69,349 as at December 31, 2019.  See Note 27 (c). 
 
Summary of promissory notes payable:  
 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Note payable $ 1,200,000                      $ -                                    
Accrued interest- note payable 69,349                           -                                    

Total note payable $ 1,269,349                      $ -                                     
 
17.  EQUITY 
 

Authorized 
 
The authorized share capital of the Corporation consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares and 
1,836,628 Preferred Shares. 
  
Shares Outstanding 
 
The Company had 334,406,762 common shares outstanding and nil preferred shares outstanding as at 
December 31, 2019. Each common shareholder is entitled to one vote for each common share held.  
 
Shares Issued in 2019 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company raised an aggregate amount $3,812,014 from 
issuances of units (common shares and warrants). The common shares have a four-month hold period from 
the date of issuance. See Note 18 for details of the derivative liability recorded for the warrants issued as 
part of the units in 2019.  
 
The Company paid $208,542 in cash commissions to finders and recorded them as a deduction from equity 
for share issuance costs. 
 
The Company issued a total of 3,949,250 warrants to the brokers as issuance costs. The warrants are 
exercisable into one common share at $0.06 - $0.08 for a three year period.  The value of these warrants 
was estimated using the Black-Scholes model at $266,620 using the following assumptions: stock price of 
$0.06 - $0.08, exercise price of $0.08, volatility of 150%, average risk -free rate of 1.86%, expected life of 
3 years and dividend yield of 0%.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 31,653,315 shares and units to various 
consultants with an aggregate total value of $1,379,307.  $331,050 was recorded as share issuance costs for 
4,250,000 shares and 1,564,000 units issued to the finders, and $1,048,257 was expensed as share-based 
payments related to service agreements. The value of the shares was estimated based on the share price at 
the date of issuance. The value of the units issued to the finders was allocated to the shares issued as part of 
the units, whereas the underlying warrants were determined to have nominal value.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 25,225,161 common shares valued at 
$1,590,336 related to the acquisition of LVV (Note 10). The shares were recorded at the estimated value 
upon date of issuance of $0.06 per share.  

 
Stock Options   
 
The options granted by the Company are governed by the terms of a stock option incentive plan. The 
Company had the following stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2019:  
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CAD $ CAD$
Weighted Weighted  Weighted 

Average Average Average
Number Remaining Life Exercise Price Number Exercise Price

Expiry Date Outstanding in Years Exercisable Exercisable Exercisable
April 12, 2022 220,000                         0.04 0.00$                          220,000                     
May 31, 2022 535,322                         0.09 0.00$                          446,102                     
May 31, 2022 535,322                         0.09 0.00$                          446,102                     

January 5, 2023 250,000                         0.05 0.01$                          83,333                       
January 5, 2023 250,000                         0.05 0.01$                          83,333                       
January 5, 2023 250,000                         0.05 0.01$                          83,333                       

January 31, 2023 250,000                         0.06 0.01$                          83,333                       
July 23, 2023 12,292,969                    3.13 0.05$                          12,292,969                

August 14, 2024 600,000                         0.19 0.00$                          250,000                     
May 5, 2024 500,000                         0.16 0.00$                          -                             

August 14, 2024 250,000                         0.08 0.00$                          -                             
15,933,613                    3.99 0.09$                          13,988,505                0.05$                     

 
  
The following table discloses the number of options outstanding as at December 31, 2019: 
 
On May 5, 2019, the Company issued a total of 1,500,000 stock options to consultants of the Company. 
The options are exercisable at a price of $0.07 per option expiring on May 5, 2024. These options had a fair 
value of $0.06 per option using the Black Scholes model with the following inputs: i) exercise price: $0.07; 
ii) share price: $0.07; iii) expected term of 3 years; iv) volatility of 150%; v) discount rate: 1.86%. The 
options vest as follows:  over 3 years starting on first annual anniversary. 400,000 options were forfeited 
before they vested. 
 
On August 13, 2019, the Company issued 250,000 stock options to consultants of the Company. The 
options are exercisable at a price of $0.05 per option expiring on August 13, 2020. These options had a fair 
value of $0.01 per option using the Black Scholes model with the following inputs: i) exercise price: $0.05; 
ii) share price: $0.03; iii) expected term of 1 year; iv) volatility of 150%; v) discount rate: 1.86%. The 
options vested in fiscal 209.   
 
On August 13, 2019, the Company also issued 400,000 stock options to consultants of the Company, 
however these options were forfeited before they vested.  
 
A portion of the options issued in previous years and in 2019 and vested in fiscal 2019 was included in 
stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2019. 
 
The Company expensed $19,522 during the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018 - $1,410,571, see Note 
25).  
 
 



RADIKO HOLDINGS CORP. (formerly International Cannabrands Inc.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(expressed in United States Dollars) 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

34 
 

 
Warrants 
 
The following warrants are outstanding as at December 31, 2019:   
  

CA $
Date Exercise

Issued Number Price Term
Private Placements
August 22, 2018 2,232,142 0.0940                        2 yrs
August 28, 2018 2,631,578 0.1187                        2 yrs
September 11, 2018 4,007,400 0.1500                        2 yrs
September 26, 2018 1,887,118 0.3000                        1 yr
December 7, 2018 7,896,000 0.1500                        3 yrs
December 14, 2018 5,775,000 0.1500                        3 yrs
December 21, 2018 4,200,000 0.1500                        3 yrs
January 24, 2019 31,280,000 0.1500                        3yrs
April 25, 2019 3,174,603 0.1313                        3 yrs
May 17, 2019 526,984 0.1500                        3 yrs
August 7, 2019 2,000,000 0.0500                        5yrs
September 5, 2019 3,978,900 0.0500                        5yrs
November 8, 2019 7,920,000 0.0500                        5yrs
November 23, 2019 6,072,000 0.0500                        5yrs

83,581,725 0.1263                        
Broker Warrants
July 30, 2018 240,000 0.0500                        2 yrs
August 30, 2018 383,670 0.0500                        2 yrs
December 7, 2018 526,400 0.1000                        3 yrs
December 14, 2018 385,000 0.1000                        3yrs
December 21, 2018 280,000 0.1000                        3 yrs
January 24, 2019 3,753,600 0.1500                        3 yrs
January 30, 2019 966,000 0.1000                        3 yrs
April 25, 2019 793,650 0.1000                        3 yrs
Total broker warrants 7,328,320 0.1214                        

Performance Warrants
September 4, 2019 5,000,000 0.0500                        5 yrs
July 3, 2019 200,000 0.0720                        3 years
July 16, 2018 71,299,222 0.0700                        5 yrs
September 14, 2018 10,350,000 0.2750                        5 yrs
Total performance warrants 86,849,222 0.0933                        

Total 177,759,267 0.110$                         
 
The Company expensed $1,691,003 during the years ended December 31, 2019 in relation to performance 
warrants vested in 2019 (2018 - $2,643,202, see Note 25).  
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On July 16, 2018, the Company entered into agreements with its officers regarding the services to be 
provided by them. The parties were granted 12,292,969 options and 4,917,188 options, respectively, under 
the Company’s stock option plan and 31,961,720 and 39,337,502 performance warrants, respectively. The 
options are exercisable into common shares at a strike price of CAD$0.07 per share for 5 years. The 
performance warrants are exercisable into common shares at a strike price of CAD$0.07 for a period of five 
years with 50% of the warrants being immediately vested and 50% of the warrants vested over a one year 
period or immediately upon closing of a Significant Acquisition, as defined in National Instrument 51-102 
Continuous Disclosure Obligations. The acquisition of LVV on January 3, 2019 (see Note 10) triggered the 
vesting of the second 50% of the warrants issued.  50% of these warrants vested upon issuance in 2018, and 
the remaining 50% vested on January 3, 2019. The value of these warrants was estimated at $3,086,211 
using the Black-Scholes model using the following assumptions: stock price of CAD$0.07, exercise price 
of CAD$0.07, volatility of 150%, average risk-free rate of 2.06%, expected life of 3 years and dividend 
yield of 0%. $2,338,894 was expensed for these warrants in fiscal 2018 (see Note 25), and the remaining 
portion of $747,317 was expensed in 2019.  
 
The Company also issued 10,350,000 performance warrants on September 14, 2018 with an exercise price 
of CAD$0.275. The value of these warrants was estimated at $1,707,292 using the Black-Scholes model 
using the following assumptions: stock price of CAD$0.265, exercise price of CAD$0.275, volatility of 
150%, average risk-free rate of 2.06%, expected life of 3 years and dividend yield of 0%.  $304,309 was 
expensed for these warrants in fiscal 2018 (see Note 25), and the remaining portion of $525,624 was 
expensed in 2019.  
 
In addition, in 2019, the Company issued 9,000,000 performance warrants in September 2019 to a 
consultant exercisable at CAD$0.05, for cashless exercise whereas no cash is payable by the consultant 
upon exercise of these warrants. 4,000,000 warrants vested in fiscal 2019 were exercised immediately upon 
vesting. The share-based expensed related to these warrants was recorded at the estimated market value of 
shares at the date of issuance.  
 

  Non-controlling interest 
  

The non-controlling interest represents equity (see Note 10) that is not attributable to the Company, which 
results from the non-controlling interest in LVV of 49% that is not held by the Company. 
 
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance for non-controlling interest is as follows: 
 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Balance - beginning of the year $ -                                $ -                                
Contribution on date control assumed  6,329,775                      -                                
Share of net loss (5,655,223)                    -                                
Balance - end of the year $ 674,552                         $ -                                 
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As of December 31, 2019, non-controlling interest included the following amounts before intercompany 
eliminations: 
 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Current assets $ 498,911                         $ -                                
Non-current assets 571,391                         -                                
Total assets $ 1,070,303                      $ -                                
Current liabilities 253,099                         -                                
Non-current liabilities 48,390                           -                                
Total liabilties $ 301,490                         $ -                                

Revenue $ 5,111,238                      $ -                                
Net loss $ (5,655,223)                    $ -                                 
 
There are no items comprising other comprehensive income or loss during the year ended December 31, 
2019 that would be attributed to the non-controlling interest. 
 

18.      DERIVATIVE LIABILITY 
 
The Company’s derivative liability arose as a result of the issuance of warrants exercisable in Canadian 
dollars being denominated in a currency different from the U.S. dollar functional currency of the Company. 
The Company recognized a derivative liability for these warrants and remeasures the liability at the end of 
each reporting period using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.   
 
A reconciliation of the changes in the derivative liability during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 
2018 is as follows: 

 

December 31, 
 2019 

December 31, 
2018

Derivative liability, opening balance    $         637,263 $                     - 
Recognition upon issuance  1,464,786 1,371,753
Change in fair value    (897,478) (582,369)
Derecognition due to expiry of warrants  (76,289)
Derecognition due to exercise of warrants (29,993) (75,833)
Derivative liability, ending balance      $       1,174,578 $            637,263 

 
The following weighted average assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the derivative warrant 
liability:  

 December 31, 
 2019 

December 31, 
 2019 

   
Weighted average expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%
Weighted average expected volatility 150.0% 150.0%
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 2.06% 2.07%
Weighted average expected term 3.75 years 2.27 years

 
 

19.  OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
 The Company’s operating expenses are comprised of the following: 
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December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Accounting and filing fees $ 126,612                      $ 53,295                           
Amortization of intangible assets 406,700                      -                                 
Amortization of property and equipment 26,485                        389                                
General and administrative expenses 858,425                      1,328,434                      
Impairment of intangible assets 1,475,300                   -                                 
Juju expenses 24,287                        
Legal fees 511,404                      187,374                         
Licenses and regulatory 135,545                      -                                 
Management fees 899,476                      482,919                         
Marketing, investor and public relations 582,281                      211,645                         
Selling expenses 159,159                      -                                 
Share-based payments 2,741,485                   3,965,852                      
Wages and benefits 967,589                      97,714                           
Total $ 8,914,746                   $ 6,327,622                       
 
 
 

20.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 

As at December 31, 2019, the Company’s financial instruments are comprised of cash, accounts receivable, 
accounts payable, the investment in Riotus and the derivative liability. The fair values of the accounts 
receivable and accounts payable approximate their carrying values due to their short-term maturity. Fair 
values of financial instruments are classified in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used to determine 
fair values. The levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 
 
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 
observable, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not 
based on observable market data. 

 
 Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amount and fair value of the Company's financial 
instruments that are carried in the financial statements.   

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 231,923                          $ 670,894                    $ 231,923                      $ 670,894                    
Trade and accounts receivables 101,566                          4,882                        101,566                      4,882                        
Investment in Riotus LLC (Note 9) 375,000                          500,000                    375,000                      500,000                    

Total financial assets $ 708,489                          $ 1,175,776                 $ 708,489                      $ 1,175,776                 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,234,600                       $ 314,823                    $ 1,234,600                   $ 314,823                    
Derivative liability -                                      -                               -                                  -                                

Total financial liabilities $ 1,234,600                       $ 314,823                    $ 1,234,600                   $ 314,823                    

Carrying Amount Fair Value

Carrying Amount Fair Value
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The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values: 
 
 Trade and other receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, other current liabilities 

approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 
 
 Fair values of quoted instruments are based on price quotations at the reporting date. The fair 

value of unquoted instruments and other financial liabilities (loans payable) are estimated by 
discounting future cash flows using rates currently available for debt on similar terms, credit risk, 
and remaining maturities. 

 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company held the following financial instruments measured at fair value:   

December 31, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets measured at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 231,923                          $ 231,923                    $ -                                  $ -                                
Investment in Riouts LLC (Note 9) 375,000                          -                               -                                  375,000                    

Total assets measured at fair value $ 606,923                          $ 231,923                    $ -                                  $ 375,000                    

Liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative liability $ 1,174,578                       $ -                               $ 1,174,578                   $ -                                

Total assets measured at fair value $ 1,174,578                       $ -                               $ 1,174,578                   $ -                                 
 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2019 there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 
fair value measurements.   
  
The change in fair value of the Company’s investment in Riotus (classified as Level 3) is disclosed in Note 
9. The value of investment is assessed based on discounted cash flow model.  
 
The following factors have a potential impact on net earnings/loss based on various combinations of  
changes in unobservable inputs in the Company’s internal valuation models for its investment in Riotus 
(classified as Level 3 at December 31, 2019): 
Fair value of investment - $375,000 
After-tax discount rate – 10% - 15% 
Adjustment of distribution payments received due to risk and uncertainties – 45% - 75%   
Hypothetical $ change effect on fair value measurement and net earning / loss for the year - $(255,190) / 
$27,867. 
 
The analysis assumes variations within a reasonably possible range determined by the Company based on 
an analysis of the return, management’s knowledge of the cannabis and real estate markets and the potential 
impact of changes in interest rates. 
 
The impact on the internal valuation models from changes in significant unobservable inputs deemed to be 
subject to the judgment and estimates disclosed above shows the hypothetical increase (decrease) in net 
earnings / loss. Changes in the after-tax discount rates, adjustment for risk and uncertainty over amounts of 
payments to be received, each in isolation, would hypothetically change the fair value of the company’s 
investments as noted  above. Generally, an increase (decrease) in long term growth rates , or a decrease 
(increase) in after-tax discount rates, would result in a higher (lower) fair value of the company’s 
investment in Riotus. 
 
The change in fair value of the Company’s derivative liability (classified as Level 2) is disclosed in Note 
18. The liability is remeasured at the end of each reporting period using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model.   
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21.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 
The Company’s primary risk management objective is to protect the Company’s financial position and cash 
flow. The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and 
liquidity risk. 

 
The Company’s senior management oversees the management of these risks and advises on financial risks 
and the appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Company. The Company’s senior 
management provides assurance that the Company’s financial risk-taking activities are governed by 
appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured, and managed in 
accordance with the Company’s policies and group risk appetite. All derivative activities, if any, for risk 
management purposes are carried out by a team that has the appropriate skills, experience, and supervision. 
It is the Company’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken. 
 
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarized 
below. 
 
(a)  Credit Risk 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date is best represented by the carrying amount 
of the Company's cash and accounts receivables. 

 
The Company is not exposed to a credit risk with respect to cash from the potential default by 
counterparties that carry the Company's cash, and attempts to mitigate this risk by dealing only with large 
financial institutions with good credit ratings. All the financial institutions that the Company deals with 
meet these qualifications. The Company is exposed to normal credit risk with respect to the Company’s 
accounts receivables. To mitigate this credit risk, the Company evaluates the creditworthiness of its 
customers and establishes credit limits accordingly. The Company may require deposits or collateral (letters 
of credit or liens) from customers prior to shipping. The Company provides for anticipated credit losses 
based on incurred losses. 
 

 
The aging of accounts receivables are as follows:  
 

2019 2018
(a) Credit Risk (accounts receivable aging):
Current $ -                              $ 1,254                          
1-30 days 60,343                        -                              
31-60 days 1,900                          3,763                          
61-90 days 59,323                        4,865                          
More than 90 days -                              -                              

121,566                      9,882                          
Less: Provision for doubtful accounts (20,000)                       (5,000)                         

Total credit risk $ 101,566                      $ 4,882                           
 

 
(b)  Liquidity Risk 
 
The Company manages risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipated investing and 
financing activities. To maintain an optimum level of cash flow, the Company actively pursues the 
collection of its accounts receivables by closely monitoring and controlling the operation and capital 
expenditures.   
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The Company's accounts payable including the amounts due to related parties have contractual maturities 
of less than 30 days and are subject to normal trade terms. In addition, the Company may have financial 
obligations on its investments and proposed acquisitions. The Company has a working capital deficit of 
$3,351,962 as at December 31, 2019 and requires additional funding to meet its short-term obligations. 
 
(c)  Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market prices comprise several types of risk: interest rate risk, 
currency risk, commodity price risk, and other price risk, such as equity risk.  
 

             (i)  Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk consists of two components: 
(i) To the extent that payments made or received on the Company’s monetary assets and liabilities are 
affected by changes in the prevailing market interest rates, the Company is exposed to interest rate cash 
flow risk. 
(ii) To the extent that changes in prevailing market rates differ from the interest rates on the Company’s 
monetary assets and liabilities, the Company is exposed to interest rate price risk. 
 
The interest rates on leases and notes payable are fixed. The Company did not arrange any interest rate 
swap or financial contracts to hedge the interest rate risk. The Company does not believe it is exposed to 
significant interest rate risk. 

 
             (ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in 
foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Company’s operating activities when revenue or expense are 
denominated in a different currency from the Company’s functional currency. The Company’s functional 
currency is the United States Dollar. The Company has certain monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in Canadian dollars. The Company does not believe it is exposed to significant foreign exchange risk. A 
10% change in the US / Canadian exchange rates would result in an increase or decrease of approximately 
$21,000 to net loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2019.    

 
            (iii)  Commodity price risk 

 
            The Company is not subject to price risk from fluctuations in market prices of commodities.  

 
             (iv)  Equity price risk 

 
            The Company has no exposure to equity price risk. 

 
22.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 
The Company seeks the amount of capital it requires in proportion to risk. The Company manages its 
capital structure and adjusts it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of 
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue new shares when 
the time is appropriate.  
 
The Company monitors the return on capital, which is defined as stockholders’ (deficit) equity in the 
amount of $(1,991,975) as at December 31, 2019 (2018 – $1,433,483). 
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The Company will continually assess the adequacy of its capital structure and capacity and make 
adjustments within the context of the Company’s strategy, economic conditions, and the risk characteristics 
of the business. 

 
23.  INCOME TAXES 
 

Income tax expense (recovery) varies from the amount that would be computed from applying the 
combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate to income before taxes as follows: 

 
The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows: 
 
As at December 31,  2019   2018 
        

$ $ 
Share issue costs 59,490  - 
Property and equipment 248,810  - 
Other 82,138  - 
Intangibles (880,880) - 
Non-capital losses available for future periods 1,846,790  131,740 
Deferred tax assets not recognized (1,476,730) (131,740) 
Net deferred tax liability             (120,382)                            -   
 
 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company has available non-capital tax losses for Canadian income tax 
purposes of approximately $3,318,000 available for carry-forward to reduce future years’ taxable income, 
if not utilized, expiring between 2031 and 2039. At December 31, 2019 the Company has available non-
capital tax losses for United States income tax purposes of approximately $705,545 available for indefinite 
carry-forward to reduce future years’ taxable income. 
 

24.          SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The management of the Company considers the business to have two operating segments: (i) US cannabis 
manufacturing and sales and (ii) head office.   

 
 

 

 
 For the years ended December 31, 

2019 
 

2018 

        

$ $ 
Loss for the year before taxes (17,063,322) (5,965,110) 
Statutory Canadian corporate tax rate 27.00%   27.00% 

Expected income tax recovery (4,607,097) (1,610,580) 
Non-deductible items and other differences 2,442,084  1,478,840 
Foreign income taxed at rate other than Canadian rate 59,528  - 
Change in unrecognized deferred income tax assets 1,344,990    131,740 
Deferred income tax recovery             (760,495)                            -  
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The reporting for the year ended December 31, 2019 was as follows:  

ICL LVV

US Cannabis 
Products 

Manufacturing and 
Sale  Head Office Total

Revenue $ 69,518                      $ 5,111,238                 $ 5,180,756                $ -                    $ 5,180,756        
Cost of goods sold 318,251                    6,466,441                 6,784,692                -                    6,784,692        

Gross Margin (248,733)                   (1,355,203)                (1,603,936)               -                    (1,603,936)       
Operating expenses 2,214,514                 3,446,795                 5,661,309                3,253,437         8,914,746        

Loss before other expenses $ (2,463,247)                $ (4,801,998)                $ (7,265,245)               $ (3,253,437)        $ (10,518,682)    
Other expenses

Interest expense, net (16,685)                     49,699                      33,014                      (75,532)             (42,518)            
Impairment of goodwill - La Vida Verde, Inc. (7,271,974)                (7,271,974)               -                    (7,271,974)       
Unrealized fair value investment loss in Riotus (125,000)                   -                            (125,000)                  -                    (125,000)          
Foreign exchange (2,626)                       -                            (2,626)                       -                    (2,626)               
Change in fair value of derivative liability -                            -                            -                            897,478            897,478           

Loss before taxes $ (2,607,558)                $ (12,024,273)              $ (14,631,831)            $ (2,431,491)        $ (17,063,322)    

Income tax recovery -                            -                            -                            760,495            760,495           
Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (2,607,558)                $ (12,024,273)              $ (14,631,831)            $ (1,670,996)        $ (16,302,827)    

Total Assets $ 560,466                    $ 1,414,291                 $ 1,974,757                $ 1,280,118         $ 2,717,560        
Total Liabilities $ 1,309,739                 $ 615,277                    $ 1,925,016                $ 2,784,519         $ 4,709,535         

 
The operating segments are managed on a worldwide basis, but sales functions are primarily in the United 
States.  
 
The geographic information analysis separates the group’s revenue and non-current assets by the 
Company’s country of domicile and other countries. In presenting the geographic information, segment 
revenue has been based on the geographic location of customers and segment assets were based on the 
geographic location of the assets. 
 

 
US Canada Total 

Total revenue $ 5,180,756     $ -            $ 5,180,756     

Non-current assets
Investment in Riotus SODO LLC $ 375,000        $ -            $ 375,000        

Note receivable -                33,792       33,792          
Property, plant and equipment 396,105        4,220         400,325        
Intangible assets- La Vida Verde, Inc. 770,000        -            770,000        

-            
$ 1,541,105     $ 38,012       $ 1,579,117      
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25. RESTATEMENT 
 

During the preparation of the 2019 year end consolidated financial statements the Company identified 
certain errors in the comparative figures presented for the 2018 year ended, which were corrected and 
restated.  The errors relate to shares issues for services, the shares issued as share issuance costs, the 
amount recorded for the share-based compensation for performance warrants and warrants that formed a 
derivative liability.   
  
The table below summarizes the restated consolidated financial statements for December 31, 2018: 
 
Consolidated statement of financial position 

Assets $ $ $
Current assets 1,002,342         -                     1,002,342           
Non-current assets 2,312,778         (i) 700,000             3,012,778           

Total assets 3,315,120         700,000             4,015,120           

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities 774,823            (i) 700,000             2,112,086           

 (f) 637,263             
Non-current liabilities 469,551            -                     469,551              

Total liabilities 1,244,374         1,337,263          2,581,637           

Equity
Share capital 5,759,474         (a) 379,842             4,625,118           

(b) (119,153)            
(b) 119,153             
(b) (43,127)              
(d) 17,700               
(f) (1,371,753)         
(f) 75,833               
(b) (69,101)              
(g) (123,750)            

Additional paid in capital 3,307,567         (a) (498,995)            5,326,611           
(c) 1,781,221          
(d) 630,768             
(d) (17,700)              
(g) 123,750             

Deficit (6,996,295)        (a) (1,521,951)         (8,518,246)          
Total equity 2,070,746         (637,263)            1,433,483           

Total liabilities and equity 3,315,120         700,000             4,015,120           

As at December 31, 2018
As Previously 

Reported       
Adjustments  As Restated  Note
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Consolidated statement of   comprehensive loss 
 

$ $ $
Revenue 106,584            -                     106,584              
Cost of sales 280,937            -                     280,937              
Gross Margin (Loss) (174,353)           -                     (174,353)             
Operating Expenses (2,044,257)        (a) (2,102,756) (6,327,622)          

(b) 43,126
(b) 119,153
(c) (1,781,221)
(b) 69,101
(d) (630,768)

Loss before other items (2,218,610)        (6,501,975)          
Other items
Interest expense, net (63,090)             (63,090)               
Fair value change in derivative liability -                    (f) 658,658             658,658              
Foreign exchange (58,703)             -                     (58,703)               
Amortization (2,102,756)        (a) 2,102,756          -                      
Total other items (2,224,549)        536,865              

Net loss and comprehensive loss (4,443,159)        (1,521,951)         (5,965,110)          

Basic and diluted 0.03                  0.05                    

For the year ended December 31, 2018
As Previously 

Reported       
Adjustments  As Restated  Note

 
 
 
 
Consolidated statement of equity (deficit) 

As at December 31, 2018
Note Share Capital

Additional      
Paid in Capital  

Accumulated 
Deficit          

  $   $   $
As Previously Reported 5,759,474             3,307,567          (6,996,295)          
Adjustments (h) (1,134,356)           2,019,044          (1,521,951)          
As Restated 4,625,118             5,326,611          (8,518,246)           
  
 
Restatement adjustments  
 
(a) Upon restatement, the amount of share-based payments and amortization originally included in Other 
expenses under Amortization was moved to Operating Expenses.   
 
(b) In fiscal 2018, the Company expensed $74,358 for brokers’ warrants, of which $43,126 (portion 
attributable to the issuance of shares issued as part of the units in the completed private placement) should 
have been recorded as a share issuance cost.  In connection with the same private placement, the Company 
expensed $147,102 in shares issued to brokers, of which $119,153 should have been recorded as share 



RADIKO HOLDINGS CORP. (formerly International Cannabrands Inc.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(expressed in United States Dollars) 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

45 
 

issuance costs. Upon restatement, a total of $162,280 has reclassified from share-based compensation 
expense to a reduction of equity in share capital. This amount was also reclassified from expenses to a 
reduction of equity in share capital. Additionally the total amount of shares issued for services of $498,995, 
which includes $147,102 issued to brokers, was originally credited to additional paid-in capital (“APIC”) 
instead of share capital. Upon restatement, this amount was reclassified from APIC to share capital.  
 
In addition, the Company expensed cash commissions paid to the brokers upon closing of private 
placements of units in 2018. Out of total amount expensed of $119,140, the amount allocated to the 
issuance of shares issued as part of the units of $69,101 was reclassified from share-based compensation 
expense to a reduction of equity in share capital. 
 
(c) In fiscal 2018, the Company expensed $861,981 for performance warrants granted in vested in 2018. It 
was noted that the vesting terms and the value of performance warrants required correction, and as a result 
the share-based compensation expense for 2018 was increased by $1,781,221 to bring the value recorded 
for the performance warrants to $2,643,202.  
 
(d) Share-based payment expense for 2018 has been increased by $630,768 as a result of immediate 
recognition of expense as certain options vested immediately, and use of graded-vesting amortization 
method for the recognition of the expense for the options with the vesting terms. In addition, upon 
restatement $17,700 was reversed out of APIC to share capital for the exercise of stock options in 2018.  
 
(e) The number of common shares issued on conversion of preferred shares into 72,266,817 common shares 
required a correction and was updated from 317,465 to 722,668. The number of preferred shares cancelled 
in 2018 was updated from 1,317,474 to 912,271. These corrections did not have any impact on the ending 
number of common of preferred shares outstanding at December 31, 2018, or the amounts of share capital, 
APIC or deficit at December 31, 2018.  

 
(f) The figures for the year ended December 31, 2018 have been restated to correct for an error in the 
valuation of share purchase warrants that were issued in the unit placements.  Upon restatement, the amount 
of $1,371,753 has been reallocated from share capital based upon value of issued warrants  and recorded as 
a derivative liability due to the exercise price of these warrants being denominated in Canadian dollars 
whereas the Company’s functional currency is the US dollar. This warrant based derivative liability  has 
been  revalued as at December 31, 2018 using the estimated share price, remaining term of the warrants, 
volatility and foreign-exchange rate at December 31, 2018 resulting in revaluation gain of $582,369. In 
addition, $75,833 of the liability was derecognized upon exercise of warrants in 2018, and $76,289 - upon 
expiry of warrants unexercised in 2018. The resulting fair value change in the warrant derivate liability for 
2018 was $658,658. See Note 18.   
 
(g) In 2018, the Company recorded $123,750 to share capital with an offsetting amount recorded to APIC 
upon cancellation of 24,630,405 common shares. This amount was revised to $Nil upon restatement. This 
correction had no impact on the ending net equity at December 31, 2018.  
  
(h) As a result of the above adjustments, the share capital decreased by $1,134,356, APIC increased by 
$2,019,044, and deficit increased by $1,521,951. 
 
(i) According to the purchase agreement to acquire a 51% interest in LVV (Note 10), the Company was 
required to make a working capital contribution payment of $700,000 as part of the purchase consideration 
for the initial 8.5% interest in LVV. At December 31, 2018, the Company disclosed ownership of 8.5% 
interest in LVV. Therefore, the Company should have accrued for the outstanding payment of $700,000. 
The accrual was recorded upon restatement which resulted in an increase in investment in LVV of 
$700,000 and increase in current liabilities of $700,000 at December 31, 2018. This adjustment had no 
impact on the net loss or cash flows for 2018. 
 
The change in consolidated statement of cash flows for 2018 is not described in a table as the restatements 
described above did not have any significant impact on the cash flows. Most of the adjustments were to 
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non-cash items such as share-based payments and derivative liability, which are included as adjustments for 
non-cash items within cash flows from operating activities, and as a result these adjustments did not have 
any impact on net cash flows from operating activities, investing activities or financing activities. The only 
adjustment that had impact on cash flows was the reclassification of $69,101 from share-based 
compensation expense to a reduction of equity (see details under (b) above). As a result of this 
reclassification, the net cash used in operating activities decreased by $69,101 and the net cash received 
from financing activities increased by $69,101. 

 
26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
(a) Legal Proceedings 

Occasionally, the Company may be a party to legal claims or proceedings of which the outcomes are 
subject to significant uncertainty. In accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, the Company will assess the likelihood of an adverse judgment for any outstanding 
claim; as well as ranges of probable losses.  

The Company has launched an action in both California and Alberta against its former CEO and President 
seeking damages of CAD$2 million for breaches of contract, fiduciary duties, good faith, and acts of 
negligence in connection with the above noted broker’s claim and other matters.  The Company is also a 
party to an action by the former CEO and President of the Company claiming remedies for alleged 
oppression and misrepresentation, including return of 757,217.52 preferred shares of the Company that he 
agreed to cancel, or alternatively $20,066,264 in damages as compensation for his cancelled preferred 
shares. He also seeks a direction to pay on a promissory note ($762,717 as at December 31, 2019), and 
indemnification for credit card payments of which he is guarantor, plus legal fees.  Management believes 
the suit by the former CEO and President is frivolous and vexatious and is vigorously defending the claim 
and pursuing remedy on the Company’s claims.  Apart from the promissory note in the amount of $762,717 
which currently appears in the financial liabilities of the Company, the Company has not made any 
provision for any other amounts. 

 
 (b) Royalty Commitment under License Agreement  
 
On September 18, 2019 the Company ceased any further funding for the development of the Julian Marley 
JuJu Royal brand. This decision was based on the current cost for the use of Julian Marley's image and 
name, coupled with the royalty arrangement, made it difficult for the brand to reach profitability. The 
Company cut costs by closing down its Denver office and all personnel working on the brand resigned. On 
October 5, 2019, Julian Marley Management notified the Company that the license agreement for the JuJu 
royal brand was terminated. The Company incurred recorded an expense of $432,229 related the 
termination of the brand, including license fees, inventory and other expenses. The restructuring costs by 
nature are summarized as follows: 
 
Unamortized license fee (i) $ 165,000                     
Remaining license fee under amended agreement (i) 87,500                       
Inventory impairment (i) 155,342                     
Uncollectible accounts receivable (ii) 12,888                       
Personnel costs (ii) 11,499                       
Total restructuring costs $ 432,229                      

 
  
 
The restructuring costs are included in the financial statements as expense amounts by function as follows: 
(i) costs of sales  – total of $407,842; (ii) operating expenses – total of $24,287. 
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27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

The Company has evaluated all subsequent events through July 9, 2020, which is the date the financials 
were available to be issued. Management has determined that, except as set out below, no events or 
transactions occurring after the balance sheet date substantially affects the amounts, presentation, and 
disclosure of the accompanying financial statements. 

 
(a) During the period from January 1, 2020 to June 15, 2020, the Company raised an aggregate of 

CAD$921,000 through the issuance of promissory notes (CAD$327,000) and non-brokered private 
placements (CAD$594,000). The Company also issued three promissory notes as follows:  (i) 
US$25,000 bearing in interest at 15% per annum and due December 31, 2024; (ii) US$200,000 due July 
6, 2020, and bearing interest at 15% per annum; (iii) CAD$30,000 due December 31, 2021, and bearing 
interest at 15%, with interest payable quarterly commencing  January 31, 2021.  The Company issued 
an aggregate of 11,880,000 units at a price of $0.05 consisting of 11,880,000 common shares and 
11,880,000 share purchase warrants. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at 
a price of $0.05 per share for a period of 5 years from the date of issue.  In addition, the Company 
issued an aggregate of 45,040,000 common shares and 1,260,000 share purchase warrants in a number 
of transactions for non-cash consideration.  Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common 
share at a price of $0.05 per share for a period of 5 years from the date of issue.  See also details below 
regarding common shares issued in connection with acquisitions. 

 
(b) On April 13, 2020, the Company announced that it had unveiled a new name, new logo and new ticker 

symbol as part of a rebranding initiative. The Company announced it had commenced doing business as 
Radiko Holdings and expects to officially change its corporate name at the Company's next Annual 
General Meeting. Additionally, the Company changed its ticker symbol on the Canadian Securities 
Exchange to “RDKO”. 

 
(c) On April 22, 2020, the Company announced the settlement and withdrawal of the respective legal 

actions between the Company and its 51% subsidiary La Vida Verde, Inc. (see Note 10).   The 
settlement agreement dated April 21, 2020 confirms the Company’s 51% ownership interest of LVV 
and the Company renewed its commitment to invest a total of US$700,000 in the capital of LVV (the 
“Capital Investment”) over the course of the next several months, with the final payment US$300,000 to 
be made by September 30, 2020.  In lieu of the outstanding notes of US$1.2 million due to LVV 
shareholders, the shareholders of LVV will obtain this compensation as a percentage of LVV's future 
earnings as cash flow permits.  As security for the payment of the Capital Investment, the Company has 
agreed to pledge approximately 16% of shares of ownership of LVV.  

 
(d) On May 11, 2020, the Company announced it had completed the transaction formerly announced on 

February 13, 2020, with BioNeva Innovations of Carson City, LLC (“BioNeva”), Sierra Superfoods, 
LLC (“Sierra”) and DB3 Management, LLC (“DB3”), private Nevada limited liability corporations. 
Bob Yosaitis, a director of the Company, held 25.3% in BioNeva, a 25.3% interest in Sierra and a 40% 
interest in DB3, and therefore the transaction is considered to involve a related party. The Company 
acquired Sierra and DB3, as well as the right to acquire BioNeva.  The Company issued an aggregate of 
28,805,833 common shares and obtained a vendor take-back loan with a principal amount of US$3.25 
million (the "VTB Loan"). The VTB Loan bears interest at the rate of 5% per annum and the principal 
amount is payable in a lump sum payment due on December 31, 2024. The VTB is secured by a pledge 
of the various LLC interests acquired, as well as over the assets of Sierra.  There are no principal or 
interest payments on the VTB Loan for the first two years, after which point interest only is payable 
quarterly through the issuance of common shares of the Company at a price equal to the volume-
weighted average closing price of the common shares for the 20 trading days prior to each quarterly 
interest payment date.  The Nevada Department of Taxation, the entity that regulates the cannabis 
industry in Nevada, announced on October 17, 2019, that it had implemented an extended review 
process and that it would not be processing any existing or new applications that relate to the transfer of 
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licenses and change of ownership/interests while the extended review is in place. The acquisition of 
BioNeva will be completed as soon as practicable following termination of the extended review period.   

 
(e) On May 19, 2020, the Company announced that its 51% subsidiary La Vida Verde, Inc. (“LVV”) had 

entered into an agreement with the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary DB3 Management, LLC 
relating to the operation of the Carson City, Nevada cultivation (the “Facility”) effective immediately.  
The agreement provides for a phased approach with LVV initially being responsible for sales of 
cultivated products beginning with the first harvest (currently underway). After the LVV team becomes 
more familiar with the operation, they will provide management consulting services in order to optimize 
production and operations, as well as oversight of genetic selection, marketing and branding of 
products, and go-to-market strategy. The final phase is expected to see LVV assume full responsibility 
for the Facility in all aspects.  Additionally, further to the press release dated May 11, 2020, the 
Company completed the final piece of its acquisition of the Carson City cultivation, namely the land 
leased by the cultivation operations.  The Company entered into an agreement to purchase 
approximately one acre of land on which the cultivation operations reside, as well as a right of first 
refusal on an adjoining one acre parcel in Carson City, NV, that will provide the opportunity for further 
expansion of the operation as growth demands. The Company issued 17,727,866 common shares and 
agreed to pay US$150,000 in cash over six months starting July 15, 2020.  The common shares will 
remain in escrow until the final payment is received by the vendors. 

 
(f) On May 27, 2020, the Company announced its intention to commence a normal course Company bid 

(“NCIB”), under which the Company may purchase, from surplus cash flow anticipated by the 
Company’s recently acquired BioNeva asset, up to 21,793,023 of the Company’s common Shares, 
representing approximately 5% of its issued and outstanding common shares.  The Company intends to 
appoint Leede Jones Gable Inc. as its broker to conduct the NCIB on its behalf. The NCIB is expected 
to commence on May 29, 2020 and terminate on May 29, 2021, or an earlier date in the event that the 
number of Shares sought in the NCIB has been repurchased or if the Company feels that it is 
appropriate. All Shares purchased under the NCIB will be purchased on the open market through the 
facilities of the Canadian Securities Exchange. All purchases made under the NCIB will be at the 
prevailing CSE market price for the Shares at the time of purchase. Shares acquired by the Company 
under the NCIB are being purchased for cancellation.     

 
(g) On June 30, 2020, the Company issued 3,418,102 common shares to Julian Marley at a price of 

CDN0.05 to satisfy its contractual obligation to issue $125,000 in common shares to Mr. Marley. 
 

(h) Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2019, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused significant and 
negative impact to the global financial markets. The Company’s manufacturing and distribution 
activities in California were temporarily suspended in April 2020 due to the pandemic, but have since 
restarted. The cash distributions received from Riotus have been affected as well and have declined 
compared to original expected amounts, but are expected to increase by end of 2020.  The Company 
continues to monitor and assess the impact of COVID-19 on its business activities. Currently the 
potential impact is uncertain, and it is difficult to reliably measure the extent of the effect of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on future financial results. Procedures to protect the Company’s employees 
remain in place. The Company remains flexible both financially and operationally to adjust to the 
changing situation as appropriate and will continue to monitor the situation and provide updates 
accordingly. 
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Radiko Holdings Corp.  
(formerly International Cannabrands Inc.) 

Management’s Discussion & Analysis for the Year Ended December 31, 2019 

 
FORWARD 

 
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) comments on the consolidated financial 
statements of Radiko Holdings Corp. (formerly International Cannabrands Inc.) together with its wholly 
owned subsidiary International Cannabrands Ltd., and its indirectly owned 51% subsidiary La Vida Verde, 
Inc. (“LVV”) (collectively, the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,  2019. All data in this MD&A 
has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee. 
 
The information contained herein should be read in conjunction with the Company’s annual consolidated 
financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.   
 
The Company initially acquired International Cannabrands Ltd. ("International Cannabrands"), a private 
company incorporated under the laws of Nevada (the "Transaction") in September 2017.  The 
Transaction constituted a reverse acquisition of the Company by International Cannabrands. On January 
3, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of 51% of a micro-brand and manufacturer in La Vida 
Verde, Inc. (“La Vida Verde” or “LVV”) a private company based in California. The financial results of 
LVV are consolidated with the financial results of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019. 
Unless the context otherwise requires, all references to the “Company”, “our”, “us”, and “we” refers to the 
Company as consolidated with its subsidiaries.   
 
This MD&A has been prepared by management as of July 9, 2020.  The financial statements and related 
notes, and this MD&A have been approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. All amounts are 
presented in United States dollars, unless otherwise noted. 
 
 

ADVISORY REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements. When used in this MD&A the words “may”, “would”, 
“could”, “will”, “intend”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “seek”, “propose”, “estimate”, “expect”, and similar 
expressions, as they relate to the Company, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. In 
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particular, this MD&A contains forward-looking statements with respect to, among other things, our 
objectives, goals, strategies, intentions, plans, estimates, outlook, expected growth and business 
opportunities. Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking 
statements are reasonable, such statements involve risks and uncertainties and undue reliance should 
not be placed on such statements. Certain material factors or assumptions are applied in making forward-
looking statements, including without limitation, factors and assumptions regarding revenues, operating 
costs and tariffs, taxes and fees, changes in market competition, governmental or regulatory 
developments, changes in tax legislation and general economic conditions. Actual results may differ 
materially from those expressed or implied in such statements.  Important factors that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from these expectations include, among other things:  (a) the continuing market 
demand for the Company’s products; (b) the Company’s expectations regarding certain revenue, profit 
and cash flow targets; (c) the Company’s ability to successfully execute on its growth strategies, including 
attracting new customers and distributors, successfully launching new products, and marketing or 
branding campaigns; (d) the Company’s ability to gain access to, and generate sales in, domestic and 
international markets; (e) the Company’s ability to attract and retain key employees, executives and 
advisors; (f) the Company’s ability to raise working capital in the near to medium term; (g) assumptions 
about possible sources of funding for future growth; (h) interest rates and maturity dates applicable to the 
Company’s borrowings; and (i) other expectations, intentions, projections and plans contained in this 
document that are not historical facts. 
 
The Company cautions you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements 
made in this document. The Company’s actual results, performance or achievements could differ 
materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements and, accordingly, no 
assurances can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will 
transpire or occur, or if any of them do, what benefits that the Company will derive therefrom.  Readers 
are cautioned that the foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive.  When relying upon our forward-looking 
statements to make decisions with respect to the Company, investors and others should carefully 
consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and potential events. All subsequent forward-
looking statements, whether written or oral, attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf 
are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. Furthermore, the forward-looking 
statements contained in this document are made as at the date of this document and the Company does 
not undertake any obligation to update publicly or to revise any of the included forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required 
by applicable securities laws. 
 

GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS on a going concern basis that 
presumes the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business.  The 
financial statements and this MD&A do not reflect the adjustments that would be necessary if the going 
concern assumption was not appropriate. 
 
The Company has attained a net loss before income taxes of $17,063,322 for the year ended December 
31, 2019 (2018 - $5,965,110) and has an accumulated deficit of $19,165,850 as at December 31, 2019 
(2018 - $8,518,246). Net cash used in operations was $4,445,180 for the year ended December 31, 2019 
(2018 - $2,375,138).  These factors form a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the 
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Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company expects losses to lessen moving forward 
into the foreseeable future as it continues to develop and commercialize its products and close 
acquisitions. The Company has funded its current cash needs primarily through private placements of 
equity to investors. The Company anticipates addressing future financial requirements through the 
additional issuance of equity and/or debt from public capital markets. 
 
The Company has not yet realized profitable operations and has mainly relied on non-operational sources 
of financing to fund operations. Management has been able to raise sufficient funds to finance its 
operations in the past through private placements of both equity and debt and will need to continue to do 
so to fund operations in the future.  The financial statements and this MD&A do not include any 
adjustments to the amounts and classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the 
Company be unable to continue as a going concern.  Such adjustments could be material. 
 

ABOUT RADIKO HOLDINGS CORP (FDBA INTERNATIONAL CANNABRANDS) 

 
Radiko Holdings Corp., formerly International Cannabrands Inc. (“Radiko” or the “Company”) was 
incorporated under the provisions of the Business Corporations Act in the Province of Alberta on May 3, 
2011. The common shares of the Company are listed and posted for trading on the Canadian Securities 
Exchange under the symbol RDKO. The Company's head office is located at PO Box 13039, Des Moines 
WA 98198. The Company operates at Suite #04-131, 12655 W Jefferson Blvd, Los Angeles, CA. 90066. 
  
Radiko is a hemp and cannabis focused brand portfolio, leveraging the potential of the plant by offering 
best of breed products that naturally complement today’s consumer lifestyles. The Company is focused 
on aggregating, building, and marketing a diversified portfolio of CBD, hemp, and cannabis brands, with 
strategic manufacturing and distribution partnerships to support better EBITDA and margins. 
  
The THC portfolio currently comprises three brands: 
 

 La Vida Verde™ 
 Skunk Feather Cannabis™ 
 Blank Brand™ 

 
The CBD portfolio currently comprises of one brand: 
 

 Baseline 
 

The cultivation portfolio currently comprises of one licensed cultivator (BioNeva Innovations of Carson 
City, LLC (“BioNeva”) in Carson City, NV) managed by DB3 Management, LLC (“DB3”) and a 
management agreement held by DB3 to manage a licensed cultivator  in Washoe County, NV: 
 

 BioNeva  
 DB3 

 
The Company expects to develop additional CBD brand initiatives, including a potential collaboration with 
renowned Beverly Hills plastic surgeon and Radiko’s Chief Medical Officer, Dr. David Rosenberg. 
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Currently in the R&D stage, this branded line would be developed specifically for outpatient cosmetic 
procedures.  
 
The Company additionally has interest in other supportive businesses in order to ensure supply-chain 
control, product consistency and to generate income. The Company negotiates transfer pricing between 
entities in order to optimize margins. Currently, the additional interest includes:  
 

 Riotus LLC – Series SODO – A Washington based entity of which we own 20.6% and that 
provides services to a cannabis cultivation operation. 

 

RADIKO’S CORPORATE HISTORY 

 
Overview  
 
The Company was initially built around an exclusive, worldwide license obtained in 2014 to use Julian 
Marley’s name and image for cannabis and branded merchandise relating to cannabis.  In November 
2014, the Company began licensing growers, oil extractors, vape manufacturers, edible manufacturers 
and merchandise companies to produce products bearing the trademark Julian Marley, JuJu Royal. 
These early agreements were structured with an initial upfront licensing fee and ongoing royalty 
payments. The initial business model did not gain the desired traction and did not generate sufficient 
revenues.  On September 18, 2019, the Company determined to cease any further funding for the 
development of the Julian Marley JuJu Royal brand and the license was terminated on October 4, 2019.  
See additional detail below. 
 
On July 16, 2018, The Company hired a new CEO, Steve Gormley, and a strategic and financial advisor, 
Neal Pomroy, with a view to implementing a new business strategy for the growth of the Company.  In 
August 2018, the Board of Directors formally approved a strategy with the following three elements: 
 

 aggregating emerging brands who sell consumer packaged goods in the cannabis industry, 
 identifying and acquiring regional distribution companies, and 
 acquiring select, highly profitable value chain investments, including modest-size cultivation 

and/or manufacturing and distribution businesses 
 
Effective August 29, 2018, the Company made its first investment in a value chain investment in the 
Washington cannabis sector with its investment of $500,000 or 20.6% in Riotus LLC – Series SODO 
(“Riotus”), a series LLC structured to provide services for cannabis cultivation in Washington State. 
 
In September 2018, the Company took an important step and restructured its share capital, which 
resulted in the conversion of all the outstanding preferred share class and the cancellation of both 
common and preferred shares representing an aggregate of 115.8M voting shares. The Company’s stock 
trading symbol was changed from “JUJU.A” to “JUJU”. 
 
On September 18, 2019, after careful review, the Board of Directors for Radiko voted to cease any further 
funding for the development of the Julian Marley JuJu Royal brand. The Company closed down its 
Denver office thereby eliminating redundancies and excess operational overhead in order to operate 
more efficiently. Further to this announcement, Management repurposed the infrastructure and key 
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members of the management team developed under the Juju Royal brand toward the launch of its new in-
house developed CBD brands, which it had been developing since mid-summer 2019. 
 
On November 4, 2019, the Company changed its stock symbol from “JUJU” to “INCB” and on April 13, 
2020 the Company changed its stock symbol to “RDKO”. 
 
Acquisition of LVV 
 
On September 19, 2018, the Company signed a definitive agreement for the acquisition of 51% of La 
Vida Verde, Inc. (“La Vida Verde” or “LVV”), a licensed cannabis product manufacturer and distributor 
based in Santa Cruz, CA.  On January 3, 2019 the Company acquired control of LVV (the “acquisition”) at 
arm’s length. As part of the acquisition, the Company acquired LVV brands, trademarks, customer list, 
and distribution and manufacturing licenses that constitute identifiable intangibles, as well as the access 
to LVV’s workforce, including the existing strategic management functions and associated processes of 
LVV.  The acquisition was structured using LVV Holding Company Ltd., a 100% owned subsidiary of the 
Company.   

 
 The acquisition was completed through two significant closing events.  The first closed on November 1, 
2018 when the Company acquired an 8.5% equity interest at a cost of $2.3 million with $1 million paid in 
cash to an LVV shareholder as vendor and the remainder to be paid by a working capital contribution into 
LVV of $1,300,000 ($600,000 paid in 2018 and $700,000 paid after January 3, 2019). The second closing 
was on January 3, 2019, when the Company acquired an additional 42.5% of LVV in exchange for 
consideration paid to the LVV shareholders as vendors, comprised of  25,225,161 Common Shares 
issued by the Company and the issuance of promissory notes for an aggregate of $2,000,000 (the 
“Notes”) due as to 50% on March 31, 2019 and October 31, 2019, and an additional cash payment of 
$700,000 as a working capital contribution into LVV due on or before April 30, 2019. The Notes had an 
interest of 5% per annum and were secured by a pledge of the LVV securities purchased with the Notes. 
The common shares issued by the Company as part of consideration were recorded at a value of 
$1,588,133 based on the market price of shares as of the closing on January 3, 2019. The consideration 
paid as working capital contributions to LVV were investments that planned to support an expansion of 
sales and operations staff, purchase of inventory required for growth and funds to expand manufacturing 
capacity. 
 
Included in the acquisition consideration was: (i) $1,000,000 in cash paid for the initial 8.5% interest, (ii) 
$2,000,000 for the promissory notes (see Note 17); (iii) 25,225,161 Common Shares of the Company with 
an estimated value of $0.06 per share, (iv) $600,000 in the working capital contribution paid toward 
acquisition of the initial 8.5%; (v) $700,000 in the working capital contribution toward acquisition of the 
initial 8.5% due in November 2018 and paid in January 2019; and (vi) $700,000 that was due in April 
2019 (not made as at December 31, 2019 – see Note 27 of the Financial Statements).  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company paid $800,000 under the Notes.  The Company 
had a remaining obligation of $200,000 that was due March 31, 2019 and $1,000,000 that was due on 
October 31, 2019. At December 31, 2019, the Company also had a remaining working capital contribution 
obligation of $700,000.  On September 20, 2019, the Company received a default notice from the 
founding shareholders of LVV due to non-payment under the terms of the notes and working capital 
contribution. The Company responded by filing a complaint for compensatory and punitive damages in 
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court on November 26, 2019. The Company and the respective parties resolved these matters by a 
subsequent settlement described as follows.     
 

 On April 21, 2020, the Company and LVV entered into a settlement agreement under which the 
Company’s 51% ownership interest of LVV has been confirmed and the Company has renewed its 
commitment to invest a total of $700,000 in the working capital of LVV over the course of the next several 
months, with the final payment $300,000 to be made by September 30, 2020.  In lieu of the outstanding 
notes of $1.2 million due the amount is to be paid is based on compensation as a percentage of LVV's 
future earnings as cash flow permits.  As security for the future payment of the working capital 
contributions, the Company has agreed to pledge approximately 16% of its ownership in LVV. The April 
21, 2020 settlement is a subsequent event with no adjustments reflected to any figures presented as at 
December 31, 2019.  See also “Subsequent Events”. 
 
Events Subsequent to Year Ended December 31, 2019 
 
In February 2020, the Company launched its first in-house developed CBD brand, Baseline. Baseline is a 
direct-to-consumer daily CBD supplement that offers a benefit driven brand architecture with custom CBD 
+ adaptogen formulations designed to support the user to get the most out of their day and night.  
 
On May 11, 2020, the Company announced it had completed the transaction it announced on February 
13, 2020, with BioNeva, Sierra Superfoods, LLC (“Sierra”) and DB3, private Nevada limited liability 
corporations.  Bob Yosaitis, a director of the Company, held 25.3% in BioNeva, a 25.3% interest in Sierra 
and a 40% interest in DB3. The Company acquired Sierra and DB3, as well as the right to acquire 
BioNeva.  The Company issued an aggregate of 28,805,833 common shares and obtained a vendor take-
back loan with a principal amount of US$3.25 million (the “VTB Loan”). The VTB Loan bears interest at 
the rate of 5% per annum and the principal amount is payable in a lump sum payment due on December 
31, 2024. The VTB Loan is secured by a pledge of the various LLC interests acquired, as well as over the 
assets of Sierra.  There are no principal or interest payments on the VTB Loan for the first two years, after 
which point interest only is payable quarterly through the issuance of common shares of the Company at 
a price equal to the volume-weighted average closing price of the common shares for the 20 trading days 
prior to each quarterly interest payment date.  The Nevada Department of Taxation, the entity that 
regulates the cannabis industry in Nevada, announced on October 17, 2019, that it had implemented an 
extended review process and that it would not be processing any existing or new applications that relate 
to the transfer of licenses and change of ownership/interests while the extended review is in place.  The 
acquisition of BioNeva will be completed as soon as practicable following termination of the extended 
review period.   
 
On May 19, 2020, the Company announced that its 51% subsidiary LVV had entered into an agreement 
with DB3 related to the operation of the Carson City, Nevada cultivation (the “Facility”) effective 
immediately.  The agreement provides for a phased approach with LVV initially being responsible for 
sales of cultivated products beginning with the first harvest (currently underway). After the LVV team 
becomes more familiar with the operation, they will provide management consulting services in order to 
optimize production and operations, as well as oversight of genetic selection, marketing and branding of 
products, and go-to-market strategy. The final phase is expected to see LVV assume full responsibility for 
the Facility in all aspects.  Additionally, on May 19, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement to 
purchase approximately one acre of land on which the BioNeva cultivation operations reside, as well as a 
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right of first refusal on an adjoining one acre parcel in Carson City, NV, that will provide the opportunity for 
further expansion of the operation as growth demands. The Company issued 17,727,866 common shares 
and agreed to pay US$150,000 in cash over six months starting July 15, 2020.  The common shares will 
remain in escrow until the final payment is received by the vendors. 
 

RADIKO’S STRATEGY & BUSINESS MODEL 

 
The Company’s strategy centers on acquiring mid-size CBD, hemp, and cannabis (THC) brands, in 
addition to developing “in-house” CBD, hemp, and cannabis brands. The Company also looks to acquire 
interest in strategic manufacturing, distribution, and retail businesses in order to support better EBITDA, 
margins, and distribution for its brands. 
 
The Company's business model is to generate revenue from CBD, hemp, and cannabis brands (with 
products including flower, edibles, concentrates, supplements, and topicals), as well as strategic 
cultivation interests and ancillary products. The Company markets products with THC content where that 
practice has been legalized at the state level through either medicinal or full recreational use. The 
Company also markets products containing CBD in the U.S. The Company believes as the CBD, hemp, 
and legal cannabis markets evolve, high-quality, unique branded products will increasingly capture market 
share and provide a valuable platform for growth. 
 
The Company currently generates revenue through the sale of its branded products and expects to 
receive monthly disbursements from its investment in Riotus. 
 
The Company is working with La Vida Verde to further develop and expand the La Vida Verde brands 
and pursue the other elements of its business strategy. Additionally, The Company is generating sales 
through its direct-to-consumer CBD brand, Baseline. 
 
The Company acquired BioNeva and DB3 to expand its interest in ancillary businesses that ensure 
product quality, supply continuity, and development agility while providing better EBITDA margins for our 
brands. Profit from BioNeva’s cultivation and DB3 management agreement should show starting in Q3 
2020. 
 
The Company currently derives, and expects to derive for the foreseeable future; all of its revenue from 
U.S. cannabis-related (CBD and THC) activities and so 100% of its balance sheet and operating 
statement are exposed to U.S. cannabis-related activities. See “U.S. Regulatory Overview and Risk”. 
 
The Company has identified the following objectives for the next twelve months, with an emphasis on its 
strategic direction of aggregating emerging CBD, hemp, and cannabis (THC) brands; developing “in-
house” CBD, hemp, and cannabis brands; and acquiring interesting in select, supportive, highly profitable 
value chain investments: 
 

 Brand Development: Further develop and launch additional tightly targeted CBD and/or hemp 
brands with an emphasis on direct-to-consumer and mainstream retail friendly product offerings 
in Q3 & Q4 2020. Launching CBD product lines is much less capital intensive than launching 
THC lines. (THC is the core of La Vida Verde's business and management believes that further 
investing in La Vida Verde’s THC brands will become a priority in the coming quarters.)  
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 Additional Acquisitions: The Company may acquire 1-2 operations to support brand growth, 
enhance margins and bolster cash flow. Targets include the addition of select cultivation (canopy 
ft2) and/or manufacturing and distribution capacity. The Company intends to increase control of 
product quality/testing seed-sale and add select new brands to fill out the product portfolio. 

 
 Realize the benefits from the Acquisition of 51% of La Vida Verde: This includes geographic 

expansion into southern California and Nevada, direct-to-consumer delivery and monetization of 
digital properties, development of distribution partnerships and multi-state sales through licensing. 

 
 Enter New Markets and Expand Existing THC Product Lines: Entering into additional distribution 

agreements will allow the Company to enter new markets and also offer new and innovative 
products in markets where it currently offers products. The Company sees an opportunity to 
expand each of the THC brands into newer and emerging US-based cannabis markets and 
expects that consumers in these emerging markets will respond to the broad appeal of Santa 
Cruz culture as captured by LVV. 

 

ADRESSABLE MARKET 

 
Cannabis (both THC and CBD) have broad appeal, and cannabis products speak to a range of 
consumers. Management believes that the counterculture, young adults over 21 years of age, college 
students, professionals, and socially conscious artists are the individuals dictating current trends, styles, 
and fads. The Company broadly targets these audiences and segments of Generation X (born between 
1965 and 1976), Generation Y and Millennials (born between 1977 and 1995), and the originators of the 
counterculture movement; Baby Boomers (born between 1946 and 1964). 
 
More specifically, the Company targets consumers who are willing to invest in health, wellness, and 
recreation. This audience deals with anxiety, stress, overwhelm, and associated ailments like depression 
and insomnia. They may also be dealing with age-related ailments and seeking ways to combat 
inflammation and pain. They may also view cannabis as a healthier alternative to alcohol and other 
recreational substances. They tend to be tech- and design-savvy and are highly engaged and loyal with 
the brands they love. They value their health and are seeking natural, non-pharma solutions. They have 
varying experience with cannabis but are generally curious about it, and whether or not they’ve tried it 
they’ve heard or read about it and want to know more. 
 
The Company must be proactive, using research and data, to anticipate future market changes. The 
current market and trends in this particular industry are inspired by styles and music that originate from 
the 60’s generation, current styles, fashion trends, art movements, environmental issues, human rights 
issues, and world politics. 
 
Hemp-Derived CBD 
 
The CBD and/or hemp market has seen exponential growth since the 2018 “Farm Bill” was passed. 
Legalization and regulations are still evolving, but currently CBD sourced from industrial hemp plants is 
legal in all 50 states, providing it contains less than 0.3% THC. These products can also be marketed and 
sold online and internationally, however, on the date that the 2018 Farm Bill was signed into law, the 
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) released a statement from then-Commissioner Scott Gottlieb 
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reaffirming its position that products containing CBD may not be sold as food or dietary supplements, and 
the FDA has issued similar statements from time to time, including most recently on March 5, 2020. The 
FDA’s position may create additional barriers to lawfully selling CBD and CBD-based products in the 
United States.  See “CAUTION REGARDING BUSINESS” and “Risk Factors – Risks Associated with 
Numerous Laws and Regulations” below. 

According to the Green Market Report (Sept 2019; which references a BDS Analytics report), 2018 CBD 
sales hit $1.9 billion. BDS predicts that these sales will grow 49% annually. The report went on to say, 
"Further, sales of hemp-derived CBD (as opposed to CBD from marijuana) in U.S. general retail stores 
are expected to make up $12.6 billion of the $20 billion in CBD sales forecast for 2024." This is a big point 
– it shows that estimated 60% of hemp-derived CBD will move through traditional retail vs. dispensaries 
and low volume specialty retailers. 

Additionally, according to a June 2019 article on The Motley Fool, 2014 global CBD sales were 
approximately $3.4 billion. By 2018 that number was up to $11 billion. They also showed that year-over-
year CBD product sales growth in the United States of 706% in 2019 to around $5 billion - not a typo - 
and sales of $23.7 billion by 2023. Comparatively, about $620 million worth of CBD products were sold 
last year in the United States (based on 706% growth to $5 billion). Growing CBD revenue from about 
$620 million in 2018 to $23.7 billion by 2023 works out to (drum roll) a compound annual growth rate 
(CAGR) of a whopping 107%! 

BDS Analytics Consumer Insights research revealed: "That consumers primarily use CBD as a ‘natural' 
remedy for pain, stress, anxiety, and depression. Further, CBD consumers are divided 45% female, 55% 
male with an average age of 43, 40% are higher-educated and 50% are employed full-time." 

 
Cannabis (THC) 
 
The legal US cannabis market continues to grow rapidly. Eleven states and Washington, DC, have now 
legalized marijuana for recreational use for adults over 21, and 33 states have legalized medical 
marijuana. According to polls, 66% of Americans support making marijuana use legal and around 90% 
support for allowing medical marijuana, 
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From 2016 to present, cannabis has seen a 28% compound annual growth rate (CAGR). Growth 
estimates are materially increasing, and while the industry is currently valued at $9 billion that number will 
likely to grow to $100 billion within coming years. Despite this momentum and growth, there remains a 
broad spread of expectations about how large the global and US cannabis market can become. The 
Company strongly believes that the US market potential is materially larger than many sources currently 
believe and that we will witness a number of upward revisions in the coming years.  
 
At the beginning of the year, ArcView Market Research released a report projecting global legal cannabis to 
grow to $57 billion by 2027 with North America representing growth from $9.2 billion in 2017 to $47.3 billion 
by 2027. New Frontier estimates US legal cannabis revenues as a $30.6 billion market by 2025 when likely 
new state entrants are included. A new set of high-profile financial institutions are now weighing in as well. 
The venerable Bernstein Research released a report this week with a $70 billion US cannabis market 
estimate which they then walk back, as the total “errs on the optimistic because per capital spending in legal 
states is driven by tourism”. They then randomly adjust their estimate down 43% to $40 billion to account for 
this affect and, in their opinion, no evidence of any impact on alcohol consumption! The global investment 
bank Credit Suisse reportedly has set a $96 billion US target. Obviously, there are numerous other sources 
as well. 
  
So in summary, we are seeing estimates of $30 billion to $100 billion for the US market over the coming 
decade. International Cannabrands believes these estimates may be understated by 100% and that the US 
market may exceed $100 billion to $150 billion over the coming years. As cannabis becomes mainstream, it 
is entering non-traditional categories from beauty products to beverages to supplements. The basis for our 
more aggressive market perspective is that research analysts are taking a too narrow view on how cannabis 
use may disrupt consumer product categories and growth and will: (1) replace more traditional 
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pharmaceutical categories, (2) cannibalize alcohol sales and (3) grow faster amongst less recognized 
consumer segments such as women, professionals and the pre-retirement/retired community. 
 

OPPORTUNITY 

 
The Company believes the potential for market disruption and a much greater role for hemp-derived CBD 
and cannabis (both recreational and medical) supports a dramatically higher US market size perspective. 
How fast growth happens and how high it goes will be revealed over the coming years. We recognize that 
change or non-change in US Federal regulations, new state adoptions, banking changes and other macro 
factors will have substantial impact on both size and speed of legal cannabis growth. However, we 
believe that ultimately the “green wave” that has been released in the US will wash over many obstacles 
and become a larger business than the current conservative estimates. 
 
In an article published in February 2020, Paul Demko of Politico wrote, "Marijuana has been classified as 
a Schedule 1 controlled substance since 1970, placing it alongside LSD and heroin as the most 
dangerous drugs. In a stark reversal from the War on Drugs waged for decades under Republican and 
Democratic administrations, presidential candidates are now embracing full legalization." 
 
In short, cannabis has surfaced as a major platform issue in this election, with nearly every democratic 
candidate calling for full federal legalization and expungement of past cannabis-related criminal 
convictions. As we move closer to federal acceptance in the US, companies that demonstrate strategic 
advantages will be well positioned for exponential growth. 
 
Cannabis and hemp research is under-developed, although this is rapidly being addressed through an 
increase in studies ranging from concussion protocols to oncology to Tourette’s syndrome to cardiac 
disease and others. There are a number of other large treatment categories that also may favor cannabis 
over traditional prescription alternatives. The University of Georgia conservatively estimates that cannabis 
may capture more than $4 billion of pharma sales in the interim term 
 
Cannabis and hemp research is under-developed, although this is rapidly being addressed through an 
increase in studies ranging from concussion protocols to oncology to Tourette’s syndrome to cardiac 
disease and others. There are a number of other large treatment categories that also may favor cannabis 
over traditional prescription alternatives. The University of Georgia conservatively estimates that cannabis 
may capture more than $4 billion of pharma sales in the interim term. 
 
An article from Harvard medical school states, “The fact that opioid overdose deaths appear to be falling 
in states with medical marijuana laws complements this new research that suggests that fewer opiates 
are being prescribed.” 
 
The US “sleep market” is estimated to be worth $28.6 billion in 2017 and forecast to exceed $35 billion by 
2023. The prescription brand giants – Ambien, Lunesta and Belsomra – are declining as they come off 
patent and are being replaced by cheaper generics and an explosion in over-the-counter solutions. The 
Center for Disease Control and Prevention estimates 4% of US adults use a prescription sleep aid with 
prescriptions topping $2.8 billion. IBISWorld estimates that in 2017, sleep labs generated $7.1 billion in 
revenue and is forecast to exceed $10 billion by 2020. Research to clinically establish the commonly held 
belief that THC/CBD and CBD only contributes to improved sleep are reportedly underway. 
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In the US, estimates are that up to 40 million adults or 18% of the population suffers from an anxiety 
disorder. This total includes PTSD, OCD, panic disorders, social anxiety and phobias. The prescription 
drugs Paxil and Zoloft are the 7th and 8th most prescribed medications in the US. Similar to the pain and 
sleep categories, there are reportedly a number of cannabis-related studies planned to establish its 
potential role to alleviate symptoms for specific syndromes and consumers. 
 
These large markets hold real opportunity to alleviate issues for consumers and generate associated 
revenues. A recent report by Chicago-based High Yield Insights found that cannabis consumers used 
27% less over the counter pain medications and 22% less sleep aids. 
 
Second, the impact of how alcohol consumption moderates after the introduction of legal cannabis is still 
in its early stages. As context, the US alcohol market is estimated at $231 billion in 2017. Obviously the 
substantial investment by Constellation in Canopy Growth and reported options being considered by 
Diageo confirm that where “there’s smoke there may be fire”. The same High Yield report mentioned 
above noted cannabis consumers’ use 21% less alcohol spirits and 20% less beer versus states that 
have not legalized adult-use marijuana. A University of Connecticut study of medical marijuana counties 
in the years up to 2015 experienced a 12% reduction in alcohol consumption. While data and studies 
emerge, there is a commonsense basis that personal budget and recreational patterns may support the 
theory that cannabis use may reduce alcohol use. 
 
Third, new consumer segments are rapidly expanding. The recognition of CBD and THC/CBD as part of a 
“health and wellness” lifestyle is gaining traction. Millennials now exceed Baby Boomers as a percentage 
of the US population and more fully accept cannabis as a lifestyle alternative with 84% supporting 
legalization. As but one other example, BDS Analytics recently released a study revealing that 12% of 
consumers 50 years and older had used cannabis in the previous six months and that another 40% were 
considering it. The primary reasons were pain relief and to relax. Eighteen percent of respondents say 
they personally know someone who uses marijuana for medical purposes. “I’d say this is a tipping point 
for medical marijuana,” noted Alison Bryant, SVP of research at AARP in a recent article. “As more of a 
person’s acquaintances use it, it becomes more normalized.” 
 
Finally, the international legal cannabis market is expanding. Uruguay, Canada, South Africa and Israel 
are leading the way, and a number of countries in Europe and South America are not far behind. 
Currently hemp-derived CBD has few restrictions when being shipped from the US to other countries, 
typically as long as they’re extracted from industrial hemp and generally contain less than 0.2 percent 
THC, although some countries do still restrict it, including Canada. Management of the Company believes 
that opportunities are on the rise outside of the United States for strong brands. 
 
 

BASELINE COMPANY PROFILE 

 
Baseline CBD is a wholly owned US-focused, consumer packaged goods (CPG) company operating in 
the hemp industry in the state of California since February 2020. The brand consists of 4 SKUs, in 
capsule form, direct-to-consumer on its ecommerce platform, “baseline-wellness.com”.  
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BASELINE PRODUCTS 

 

 
 

Radiko developed Baseline to specifically address market gaps within the crowded CBD landscape. 
Baseline was created as a daily supplement to naturally support the endocannabinoid system, which 
supports many vital functions and maintains homeostasis in the body. 
 
Each of the four formulations include full-spectrum, hemp-derived CBD infused with whole plant 
ingredients and adaptogens.  
 
The Company believes the product line is uniquely differentiated by: 
 

● A daily supplementation approach  
○ Baseline formulations are designed for daily use to naturally supplement and provide 

cumulative benefits. 
● Need State Specific Formulations 

○ The Baseline team developed four variances addressing common modern-day ailments:  
Day Shift to promote energy, Fog Lifter to support focus, Ground Control to relieve stress, 
and REM Ritual to promote effective sleep. 

● A Commitment to Bioavailability  
○ Baseline products are created using proprietary dry liposome preparation in which 

liposomal technology is used to encapsulate active ingredients and increase 
bioavailability, which significantly increases the effects in the body. 

BASELINE OUTLOOK 

 
Baseline has growth prospects through its direct-to-consumer marketplace and expansion into national 
retail chains in Q3 of 2020.  
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LA VIDA VERDE (51% SUBSIDIARY) COMPANY PROFILE 

LA VIDA VERDE (51% SUBSIDIARY) COMPANY PROFILE 

 
La Vida Verde (“LVV”) is a US-focused, consumer packaged goods (CPG) company operating in the 
California cannabis industry since 2015. LVV holds a manufacturing license issued by the California 
Department of Public Health and a distribution license issued by the California Bureau of Cannabis 
Control. With these licenses, it continues to build its infrastructure of retailers and has a broker and 
distribution network in California to bring its proprietary brands to market.  LVV has an agreement with 
one of California’s largest Type 11 distributors with state-wide reach who currently distributes to over 90% 
of the retailers in California. In July 2019, LVV became a multi-state operator and announced expansion 
into Nevada through a long-term licensing agreement with Flower One, the largest cannabis cultivator, 
producer and full-service brand fulfilment partner in the state. 
 
LVV currently has extraction, manufacturing and distribution capability. Additionally, LVV has expanded 
its manufacturing capability and has installed state-of-the-art technology to further meet demand. 
 
 

LA VIDA VERDE PRODUCTS 

 
La Vida Verde (LVV) comprises three distinct brands, each with a unique product offering:  
 

 
 
 

 La Vida Verde™: A range of THC and CBD infused edibles and tinctures, geared towards a 
health- and wellness-conscious consumer. All products use only healthy fats, are vegan, organic, 
gluten-free, paleo friendly and low glycemic. La Vida Verde believes the best medicine starts with 
the food you eat, and they take pride in creating products for those seeking a natural, healthy way 
to nurture their body. 
  

 Skunk Feather™: A range of wholesale flower, packaged flower, pre-rolls, and concentrates that 
captures the spirit of Santa Cruz and an aspirational surf, skate, and outdoor culture. They source 
terpene rich cannabis trim and flower to artfully craft some of the finest crumbles, sugars, 
shatters, and distilled cannabis oil on the market. They utilize sustainable cultivation methods, 
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science, and innovation, and products are pharmaceutical grade and free of any pesticides, 
microbial contaminants, heavy metals or additives. Skunk Feather is well known for their 
concentrates, and their potent, aromatic, and flavorful flower and their extracts have attracted a 
cult following. 
 

 Blank Brand™: A range of high quality, value-priced, cannabis infused chocolates, gummies, 
and capsules in unique and chef-created flavors and varieties. 

The Company expects that with the appropriate resources, these authentic lifestyle brands will expand its 
reach far beyond northern California and develop deeply loyal consumers in southern California and 
Nevada marketplaces. Additionally, the Company expects to gain an advantage when looking to capture 
shelf space by offering multiple brands to retailers, and by ensuring consistency of quality and supply 
through vertical integration. 
 

LA VIDA VERDE OUTLOOK: RETURNING TO SHOWING GROWTH 

 
LVV has growth prospects through its family of brands. After losing a major customer in 2018 (out of 
business) and replacing an underperforming distributor in Q1, LVV is now returning to their in-house sales 
efforts and distribution. We expect to see further growth as the benefits of these efforts will continue to 
accrue and to re-engage with a statewide distributor once salespeople penetrate and expand LVV’s 
footprint in southern California.  
 
Manufacturing and distribution licenses provide infrastructure to service the growing cannabis lifestyle and 
wellness market. The combined synergies of both licenses facilitate control of the quality of proprietary 
products while ensuring products go to market quickly and efficiently. 
 
Further growth efforts extend well beyond, and include:  
 

● Geographic expansion into Southern California. With an expanded executive and sales force 
based in Southern California, LVV expects to see a continued increase in retail cannabis 
locations throughout the region. 
 

● Multi-state sales through licensing. In May of this year, La Vida Verde announced expansion into 
Nevada through a licensing agreement with Flower One, the largest cultivator in the state. The 
agreement further diversifies the cannabis offerings made available to Nevada’s cannabis 
retailers and consumers and the announcement marks LVV’s first out-of-state expansion. 

PROFILE 

BIONEVA COMPANY PROFILE 

 
BioNeva is a cannabis cultivator located in Carson City, Nevada. BioNeva is fully operational, however, 
the Company wishes to invest approximately $350,000 in additional capital for buildout. The facility is 
currently growing product and is expected to begin producing revenue towards the end of Q2 2020. 
BioNeva currently holds cultivation facility licenses for both medical and recreational marijuana issued by 
the State of Nevada. Its cultivation operations are conducted in an 8,250 ft2 cannabis indoor facility 
situated on approximately one acre of land near Carson City, NV. The flowering canopy is currently 4,000 
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ft2 and incorporates a highly efficient greenhouse roof glazing material, as well as auxiliary lighting 
systems that require minimal power consumption.  
 
The BioNeva acquisition included this indoor facility as well hard assets and equipment associated with 
the BioNeva cultivation facility as well as the land upon which the facility is situated.  
 
DB3, the manager of the facility acquired by the Company, also derives revenue from a management 
agreement for a cannabis cultivation and manufacturing facility in nearby Washoe County.  The 
agreement provides for a minimum of USD$15,000 per month (with a potential for 30% of net profits). The 
facility is designed for 20,000 ft2 of indoor grow and a best in class extraction/production lab. The Washoe 
facility is still under construction but is expected to be operational in Q4 of 2020 and generating revenue 
by Q1 of 2021. 
 

BIONEVA OUTLOOK 

 
The BioNeva assets represent an opportunity for near term cash flow as well as potential to optimize 
current operations, and plan for newly developed operations as well.  In May 2020, BioNeva entered into 
an operating agreement with LVV.  The agreement provides for a phased approach with LVV initially 
being responsible for sales of cultivated products beginning with the first harvest (currently underway). 
After the LVV team becomes more familiar with the operation, they will provide management consulting 
services in order to optimize production and operations, as well as oversight of genetic selection, 
marketing and branding of products, and go-to-market strategy. The final phase is expected to see LVV 
assume full responsibility for the facility in all aspects. 
 

COMPETITION 

 
The Company believes it will benefit from the authentic resonance of the brands within our portfolio. We 
are in direct competition with every cannabis product in each of the major categories of the industry: 
flower, concentrates, edibles, capsules and tinctures. 
 
The La Vida Verde family of brands is closely competing with brands within our categories such as: 
Island, Lowell Herb Co, Cookies, Raw Garden, and Kiva. The Company believes however, that through 
our highly competitive price points we are positioned to be more accessible which we expect to see 
higher revenues and greater market share as a result. Additionally, LVV received both its Annual 
Manufacturing License and its Annual Distribution License in California. The Company believes that the 
barrier to entry for temporary licenses in California is very low as only local authorization is required, and 
that the bar for annual licenses is much higher as it requires intense disclosures, validation of processes, 
and multiple inspections by state officials. It is the Company’s expectation that many of the companies 
that received temporary licensing will not make it through to obtaining an annual license.  
 
In terms of market share, our current CBD brand, Baseline and forthcoming CBD brand (Brand A)  will 
broadly compete with market leaders such as Charlotte’s Web, Select CBD (Cura), Green Roads, and 
MedTerra. Baseline, a CBD supplement brand, is competing more directly with CBD lifestyle and wellness 
brands such as; Prima, Plant People, Papa & Barkley, Reset, Feals, and Headery, and may indirectly 
compete with other consumer lifestyle brands such as; Ritual, Care/of, HUM Nutrition, Moon Juice, 
Elysium, and Bulletproof. 
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The recreational market in which BioNeva operates in Nevada has fewer barriers to entry and more 
closely reflects free market dynamics typically seen in mature retail and manufacturing industries, 
however, the growth of this market poses a risk of increased competition. BioNeva’s indoor cultivation is 
in an early stage of development and the Company’s market share is at a higher risk than companies with 
a larger footprint.  BioNeva faces competition from other companies that have a higher capitalization, 
more experienced management or may be more mature as a business. The vast majority of both 
manufacturing and retail competitors in the Nevada market consists of localized businesses (i.e., doing 
business in only a single-state market). There are also multi-state operators that BioNeva will compete 
with in Nevada. Aside from this direct competition, out-of-state operators that are capitalized well enough 
to enter Nevada through acquisitive growth are also part of the competitive landscape. 
A VIDA VERDE (51% SUBSIDIARY) COMPANY 

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL AND OPERATING RESULTS 

 
Three months ended December 31, 2019 
 
In the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized revenue of $627,451, 
compared to $Nil in the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2018. The increase in revenue is a result of 
product sales generated by LVV.  
 
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2019 was $4.2 million, 
compared to $2.9 million in the corresponding quarter in 2018. The net increase in the loss is mainly due 
to impairment of goodwill and intangibles initially recognized on acquisition of LVV and written-down to 
the estimated recoverable amount at December 31, 2019, offset by a decrease in fair value of derivative 
liability related to the warrants issued as part of the private placement units, and also offset by a deferred 
income recovery of $760,495 recognized in the fourth quarter. 
 
It should also be noted that in connection with the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s 2018 year-end consolidated financial statements have 
been restated. The restatement adjustments have been recorded at the end of fiscal 2018. As a result, 
the fourth quarter of 2018, which includes the restatement adjustments is not fully comparable to the 
previous three quarters of 2018.  Readers are cautioned to keep this in mind when reviewing the 
Quarterly Results of Operations below. In addition, at the end of 2019, the Company recorded similar 
adjustments to equity and derivative liability applicable for fiscal 2019. These adjustments were also 
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2019, and no adjustment was made to the previous three quarters of 
2019.  Accordingly, the quarterly information for the first three quarters in comparable, with the 
adjustments being reflected in each of the fourth quarters for 2018 and 2019.   
 
The nature of restatement adjustments is described below. The majority of adjustments impact non-cash 
items such as share-based payments and revaluation of derivative liability, and are not expected to have 
a significant impact on decision-making by investors.  
 
Restatement 
 
During the preparation of the 2019 year end consolidated financial statements the Company identified 
certain errors in the comparative figures presented for the 2018 year ended, which were corrected and 
restated.  The errors relate to shares issued for services, the shares issued as share issuance costs, the 
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amount recorded for the share-based compensation for performance warrants and warrants that formed a 
derivative liability.   

 
The tables below summarize the adjustments made in order to restate the consolidated financial 
statements for December 31, 2018, along with notes explaining each adjustment: 

 
Consolidated statement of financial position 

 
 

 

Assets $ $ $
Current assets 1,002,342         -                     1,002,342           
Non-current assets 2,312,778         (i) 700,000             3,012,778           

Total assets 3,315,120         700,000             4,015,120           

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities 774,823            (i) 700,000             2,112,086           

 (f) 637,263             
Non-current liabilities 469,551            -                     469,551              

Total liabilities 1,244,374         1,337,263          2,581,637           

Equity
Share capital 5,759,474         (a) 379,842             4,625,118           

(b) (119,153)            
(b) 119,153             
(b) (43,127)              
(d) 17,700               
(f) (1,371,753)         
(f) 75,833               
(b) (69,101)              
(g) (123,750)            

Additional paid in capital 3,307,567         (a) (498,995)            5,326,611           
(c) 1,781,221          
(d) 630,768             
(d) (17,700)              
(g) 123,750             

Deficit (6,996,295)        (a) (1,521,951)         (8,518,246)          
Total equity 2,070,746         (637,263)            1,433,483           

Total liabilities and equity 3,315,120         700,000             4,015,120           

As at December 31, 2018
As Previously 

Reported       
Adjustments  As Restated  Note
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive loss 
 

 
 
 
 

Consolidated statement of equity (deficit) 

 
  
 

2018 Restatement adjustments  
 
(a) Upon restatement, the amount of share-based payments and amortization originally included in Other 
expenses under Amortization was moved to Operating Expenses.   
 
(b) In fiscal 2018, the Company expensed $74,358 for brokers’ warrants, of which $43,126 (portion 
attributable to the issuance of shares issued as part of the units in the completed private placement) 
should have been recorded as a share issuance cost.  In connection with the same private placement, the 
Company expensed $147,102 in shares issued to brokers, of which $119,153 should have been recorded 

$ $ $
Revenue 106,584            -                     106,584              
Cost of sales 280,937            -                     280,937              
Gross Margin (Loss) (174,353)           -                     (174,353)             
Operating Expenses (2,044,257)        (a) (2,102,756) (6,327,622)          

(b) 43,126
(b) 119,153
(c) (1,781,221)
(b) 69,101
(d) (630,768)

Loss before other items (2,218,610)        (6,501,975)          
Other items
Interest expense, net (63,090)             (63,090)               
Fair value change in derivative liability -                    (f) 658,658             658,658              
Foreign exchange (58,703)             -                     (58,703)               
Amortization (2,102,756)        (a) 2,102,756          -                      
Total other items (2,224,549)        536,865              

Net loss and comprehensive loss (4,443,159)        (1,521,951)         (5,965,110)          

Basic and diluted 0.03                  0.05                    

For the year ended December 31, 2018
As Previously 

Reported       
Adjustments  As Restated  Note

As at December 31, 2018
Note Share Capital

Additional      
Paid in Capital  

Accumulated 
Deficit          

  $   $   $
As Previously Reported 5,759,474             3,307,567          (6,996,295)          
Adjustments (h) (1,134,356)           2,019,044          (1,521,951)          
As Restated 4,625,118             5,326,611          (8,518,246)          
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as share issuance costs. Upon restatement, a total of $162,280 has reclassified from share-based 
compensation expense to a reduction of equity in share capital. This amount was also reclassified from 
expenses to a reduction of equity in share capital. Additionally the total amount of shares issued for 
services of $498,995, which includes $147,102 issued to brokers, was originally credited to additional 
paid-in capital (“APIC”) instead of share capital. Upon restatement, this amount was reclassified from 
APIC to share capital.  
 
In addition, the Company expensed cash commissions paid to the brokers upon closing of private 
placements of units in 2018. Out of total amount expensed of $119,140, the amount allocated to the 
issuance of shares issued as part of the units of $69,101 was reclassified from share-based 
compensation expense to a reduction of equity in share capital. 
 
(c) In fiscal 2018, the Company expensed $861,981 for performance warrants granted and vested in 
2018. It was noted that the vesting terms and the value of performance warrants required correction, and 
as a result the share-based compensation expense for 2018 was increased by $1,781,221 to bring the 
value recorded for the performance warrants to $2,643,202.  
 
(d) Share-based payment expense for 2018 has been increased by $630,768 as a result of immediate 
recognition of expense as certain options vested immediately, and use of graded-vesting amortization 
method for the recognition of the expense for the options with the vesting terms. In addition, upon 
restatement $17,700 was reversed out of APIC to share capital for the exercise of stock options in 2018.  
 
(e) The number of common shares issued on conversion of preferred shares into 72,266,817 common 
shares required a correction and was updated from 317,465 to 722,668. The number of preferred shares 
cancelled in 2018 was updated from 1,317,474 to 912,271. These corrections did not have any impact on 
the ending number of common of preferred shares outstanding at December 31, 2018, or the amounts of 
share capital, APIC or deficit at December 31, 2018.  
 
(f) The figures for the year ended December 31, 2018 have been restated to correct for an error in the 
valuation of share purchase warrants that were issued in the unit placements.  Upon restatement, the 
amount of $1,371,753 has been reallocated from share capital based upon value of issued warrants and 
recorded as a derivative liability due to the exercise price of these warrants being denominated in 
Canadian dollars, whereas the Company’s functional currency is the US dollar. This warrant based 
derivative liability  has been  revalued as at December 31, 2018, using the estimated share price, 
remaining term of the warrants, volatility and foreign-exchange rate at December 31, 2018, resulting in 
revaluation gain of $582,369. In addition, $75,833 of the liability was derecognized upon exercise of 
warrants in 2018, and $76,289 - upon expiry of warrants unexercised in 2018. The resulting fair value 
change in the warrant derivate liability for 2018 was $658,658.   
 
(g) In 2018, the Company recorded $123,750 to share capital with an offsetting amount recorded to APIC 
upon cancellation of 24,630,405 common shares. This amount was revised to $Nil upon restatement. This 
correction had no impact on the ending net equity at December 31, 2018.  
  
(h) As a result of the above adjustments, the share capital decreased by $1,134,356, APIC increased by 
$2,019,044, and deficit increased by $1,521,951. 
 
(i) According to the purchase agreement to acquire a 51% interest in LVV, the Company was required to 
make a working capital contribution payment of $700,000 as part of the purchase consideration for the 
initial 8.5% interest in LVV. At December 31, 2018, the Company disclosed ownership of 8.5% interest in 
LVV. Therefore, the Company should have accrued for the outstanding payment of $700,000. The 
accrual was recorded upon restatement which resulted in an increase in investment in LVV of $700,000 
and increase in current liabilities of $700,000 at December 31, 2018. This adjustment had no impact on 
the net loss or cash flows for 2018. 
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The restatement of the consolidated statement of cash flows for 2018 is not presented in a table as the 
restatements described above did not have any significant impact on the cash flows. Most of the 
adjustments were to non-cash items such as share-based payments and derivative liability, which are 
included as adjustments for non-cash items within cash flows from operating activities, and as a result 
these adjustments did not have any impact on net cash flows from operating activities, investing activities 
or financing activities. The only adjustment that had impact on cash flows was the reclassification of 
$69,101 from share-based compensation expense to a reduction of equity (see details under (b) above). 
As a result of this reclassification, the net cash used in operating activities decreased by $69,101 and the 
net cash received from financing activities increased by $69,101. 
 
Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company reported a total of $5,180,756 in revenue (LVV- 
$5,111,238; JuJu Royal Brand – $69,518) as compared to $106,584 for 2018 (solely from the JuJu Royal 
brand). The Company acquired LVV on January 3, 2019. LVV was impacted by loss of a major customer 
in June 2018 that is no longer in business in California. Also, LVV retained a new distributor in 2019 Q2 
who underperformed in Q3-Q4 2019.  To address these issues LVV brought sales and distribution back 
in-house by April 2020. 
 
The Company relaunched the JuJu Royal Brand during 2019 Q2. On September 18, 2019, the Company 
ceased any further funding for the development of the Julian Marley Juju Royal brand. This decision was 
based on the current cost for the use of Julian Marley's image and name, coupled with the royalty 
arrangement, made it difficult for the brand to reach profitability. The Company cut costs by closing down 
its Denver office and all personnel working on the brand resigned. On October 5, 2019, the license 
agreement for the JuJu Royal brand was terminated. The Company recorded an expense of $432,229 
related the termination of the brand, including license fees, inventory and other expenses.  
 
Based on the analysis of expected cash distributions compared to previous estimate at the time 
investment was made in 2018, the Company recorded an unrealized fair value investment loss of 
$125,000 during the year ended December 31, 2019, for the investment in Riotus SODO LLC. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded non-cash impairment of goodwill and 
intangible assets of $7,271,974 and $1,696,800 respectively, related to the acquisition of LVV. Goodwill 
was fully impaired due to negative cash flows and losses incurred in LVV’s operations during 2019. In 
assessing projected future cash flows the carrying amount of goodwill recognized on acquisition of LVV 
could not be supported as recoverable as at December 31, 2019.  Due to decline in sales and loss of 
customers in 2019, LVV intangibles were written-down to the estimated recoverable amounts at 
December 31, 2019.   
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded non-cash amortization of property, 
plant and equipment of $134,783 (2018 - $389), amortization of intangible assets of $493,450 (2018 – 
$11,000) and share-based payments of $2,741,485 (2018 – $3,965,852). Amortization expense 
increased in 2019 as a result of new equipment and intangibles acquired as part of acquisition of LVV. 
Share-based payments in 2018 were higher due to more stock options and performance warrants issued 
and vested in 2018 as compared to 2019. 
 
Selected financial information for the Company for the indicated periods is provided below: 
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The gross margin loss was $1,603,936 for the year ended December 31, 2019 (LVV- $1,355,203; JuJu 
Royal Brand - $248,733), compared to $174,353 in 2018 and $138,346 in 2017, when revenue was 
derived solely from the JuJu Brand. The increase was due to negative gross margin generated by LVV 
since the date of acquisition to the end of 2019.   

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019, were $8,914,746 compared to $6,327,622 
in 2018 and $1,126,252 in 2017.  The increase of $2,587,124 in 2019 was mainly a result of impairment of 
LVV intangible assets of $1,475,300 (brands, customer lists and distribution licenses) recognized in 2019, 
due to issues with LVV sales in 2019 described above. Other factors included increased payroll, 
management fees, expenses for market maker, accounting and legal expenses due to the closing of the 
acquisition of LVV on January 3, 2019, and as a result overall increase in business activity and costs. 
Operating expenses includes expenses for LVV of $3,446,795.  See also “Liquidity and Capital 
Resources” for a discussion on operating losses.  

The following is a summary of operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019, and 2018.  
Details of the changes between periods are described in the notes to the table below. 

 

2019 2018 2017
Total sales 5,180,786$                106,584$                   138,346$                   
Net loss and comprehensive loss (16,302,827)               (5,965,110) (1,397,859)
Basic and fully diluted loss per unit (0.06)                          (0.05)                          (0.06)                          

As at As at As at
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Total assets 2,717,560$                4,015,120$                520,881$                   
Total liabilities 4,709,535                  2,581,637                  1,212,750                  
Total equity (deficit) (1,991,975)                 1,433,483                  (691,182)                    

Years Ended December 31, 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Accounting and filing fees $ 126,612                      $ 53,295                           
Amortization of intangible assets 406,700                      -                                 
Amortization of property and equipment 26,485                        389                                
General and administrative expenses 858,425                      1,328,434                      
Impairment of intangible assets 1,475,300                   -                                 
Juju expenses 24,287                        
Legal fees 511,404                      187,374                         
Licenses and regulatory 135,545                      -                                 
Management fees 899,476                      482,919                         
Marketing, investor and public relations 582,281                      211,645                         
Selling expenses 159,159                      -                                 
Share-based payments 2,741,485                   3,965,852                      
Wages and benefits 967,589                      97,714                           
Total $ 8,914,746                   $ 6,327,622                      
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Notes:   
(1) Amortization of intangible assets increased by $406,700. This increase is related to the acquisition of LVV on 

January 3, 2019. 
(2) Impairment of intangible assets increased by $1,475,300. This increase is related to the acquisition of LVV on 

January 3, 2019. 
(3) General and administrative and other expenses decreased by $470,009. The decrease is related to reduced 

expenses. 
(4) Marketing, investor and public relations and promotion increased by $370,636. The increase was  

due to increased activity. Marketing costs of the current period relate to the engagement of a public relations 
firm to promote the Company’s products and marketing programs at LVV. 

(5) Legal increased by $324,030. The increase related to legal fees associated with the acquisition of  
LVV, increased fees for assistance with the capital raises, and other general corporate matters.   

(6) Wages and benefits increased by $869,875 and management fees increased by $416,557. The increase 
was due to increased personnel, including a Chief Marketing Officer, Vice President of Sales and Chief 
Operating Officer and the addition of LVV personnel. 

(7) Share-based payments decreased by $1,224,368 in 2019 as compared to 2018. Share-based payments in 
2018 were higher due to more stock options and performance warrants issued and vested in 2018 as 
compared to 2019. 

(8) Selling expenses increased by $159,159 and licenses and regulatory expenses increased by $135,545 due 
to commissions on sales, licenses, penalties and other regulatory expenses incurred by LVV.   

 

The net loss for year ended December 31, 2019, was $17,063,322 as compared to $5,965,110. The 
increase in loss in 2019 is primarily due to impairment of goodwill – LVV of $7,271,974, in addition to the 
increase in operating expenses for the reasons discussed above. 

  
The net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2019, was $0.06 as compared to $0.05 for 2018. 
The impact of the higher net loss was reduced by higher weighted average number of voting securities 
outstanding for the period. The weighted average number of voting shares outstanding for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 was 284,570,562 as compared to 130,253,996 for 2018. 
 

QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
The following table highlights selected financial information for the years ended December 31, 2019, 
and 2018. The Company expects its operating results to vary significantly from quarter to quarter and 
therefore they should not be relied upon to predict future performance.   

Also, see three months ended December 31, 2019 above for comments on adjustments made in the 
fourth quarter of 2018 and 2019.  

 

 

Qt 4 2019 Qt 3 2019 Qt 2 2019 Qt 1 2019 Qt. 4 2018 Qt 3 2018 Qt 2 2018 Qt 1 2018
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue 627,481         1,490,850      1,839,178      1,223,277                  (9,486)               6,090             64,863             45,117 
Interest income -                                    -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -   
Operating expenses 5,820,285                826,153        1,088,253        1,180,055        4,901,762           689,952           415,412           320,496 
Net loss and comprehensive loss (5,971,535)          (4,442,695)      (2,157,794)      (3,730,803)      (3,005,272)      (1,682,578)         (756,458)         (520,802)
Loss per share - basic               (0.01)               (0.02)               (0.01)               (0.02)               (0.02)               (0.01)               (0.01)               (0.01)
Loss per share - diluted               (0.01)               (0.02)               (0.01)               (0.02)               (0.02)               (0.01)               (0.01)               (0.01)
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LIQUIDITY & CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 
Going Concern  
 
Readers should refer to Note 1, Going Concern of the Financial Statements. 

Increased Cash Demands to Meet Planned Growth 
 
Net cash used in operating activities was $4,445,180 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared 
to $2,375,138 in 2018 as detailed in the discussions above.  
 
Net cash used investing activities was $781,721 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to 
$2,106,466  in 2018 due to more cash invested in LVV and Riotus in 2018 as compared to 2019.  
  
For the year ended December 31, 2019, net cash generated from financing activities was $4,787,931 
(2018 - $5,044,599) as a result of proceeds from issuances of shares and units (comprised of shares and 
warrants), and also in 2019 – as a result of $2,000,000 in cash saved upon issuance of promissory notes 
for LLV, less $800,000 in note repayments made in 2019. The funds are being used to fund the 
Company’s growth and to maintain operations.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company had a net decrease in cash of $438,970, (2018 - 
$562,995).  As a result, as at December 31, 2019, and 2018, the Company had cash balances of 
$231,923 and $670,894, respectively. 
 
The increase in cash outflows from operations reflects the following: 
 

 The expenses associated with the relaunch of the JuJu brand during the first six months of 2019. 
 The cost of the acquisition of the 51% interest in LVV.  
 The expenses associated with the investment in high caliber people and resources to implement 

the Company’s acquisition growth strategies. 

 Liquidity 

Since inception, the Company has relied primarily on private equity and debt financings to fund its 
operations, establish the initial sales, marketing and advertising strategies, develop products, protect 
intellectual property (such as trademarks) and establish the Company’s operations in Los Angeles. The 
Company has had recurring operating losses since inception. The Company expects such losses to lessen 
moving forward into the foreseeable future as it continues to develop and commercialize its products and 
pursue its business strategy.  See “Risk Factors.” 

The Company has a working capital deficit of $3,351,962 as at December 31, 2019, and will need to 
continue to rely upon capital raising activities, such as private placements, debt and equity financings to 
fund its future operations. 

Selected financial information about the Company’s financial position as at the indicated dates is 
provided below:   
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The Company recorded a net loss before income tax of $17,063,322 for the year ended December 31, 
2019 (2018 – $5,965,110), has an accumulated deficit of $19,165,850 as at December 31, 2019 (2018 – 
$8,518,246) and negative cash flows from operations of $4,445,180 for the year ended December 31, 
2019 (2018 – $2,375,138). 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company was able to raise funds through equity 
financings and warrant exercises for $3,650,567 (2018 – $5,044,599). The funds are being used to fund 
the Company’s growth and to maintain operations.  
 
The Company’s ability to access the debt and equity markets when required will depend upon factors 
beyond its control, such as economic and political conditions that may affect the capital markets 
generally.  Although the Company has been successful in raising funds to date, there can be no 
assurance that adequate funding will be available in the future. Should Management be unable to raise 
sufficient capital to fund its operations and growth there would be a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations, and its ability to continue as a going 
concern.  
 

Obligations and Commitments 

At December 31, 2019, the Company had current liabilities of $4,490,405 (2018 – $2,112,086). As 
discussed in the Commitment and Contingencies note in the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements, the Company has disclosed its commitments at December 31, 2019, which are also 
described in the following paragraphs.  The Company does not currently have sufficient working capital to 
meet these significant commitments and will be reliant on proceeds from financing activities, anticipated 
returns from Riotus investment, cash flow generated from its acquisitions and net revenue from the sale 
of products to fund these commitments. There is no guarantee the Company will be able to obtain the 
necessary financing or produce sufficient revenues to meet its financial commitments and ongoing 
operational costs. 
 
Occasionally, the Company may be a party to legal claims or proceedings of which the outcomes are 
subject to significant uncertainty. In accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, the Company will assess the likelihood of an adverse judgment for any outstanding 
claim; as well as ranges of probable losses.   See also “Legal Proceedings” below.   

Royalty Commitment under License Agreement  
 

On September 18, 2019, the Company ceased any further funding for the development of the Julian 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Cash  $                             231,923 $                             670,894 
Total assets 2,717,560                             4,015,120                             
Notes payable 2,032,066                             929,551                                
Total liabilities 4,709,535                             2,581,637                             

Share capital, contributed surplus, and warrants reserve                            16,499,323                             9,951,729 

Deficit                           (19,165,850)                             (8,518,246)
Working capital                             (3,351,962)                             (1,109,744)
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Marley JuJu Royal brand. This decision was based on the current cost for the use of Julian Marley's 
image and name, coupled with the royalty arrangement, made it difficult for the brand to reach profitability. 
The Company cut costs by closing down its Denver office and all personnel working on the brand 
resigned. On October 5, 2019, the license agreement for the JuJu Royal brand was terminated. The 
Company incurred an expense of $432,229 related the termination of the brand, including license fees, 
inventory and other expenses. These expenses by nature are summarized as follows: 

 

 
 
The restructuring costs are included in the financial statements as expense amounts by function as 
follows: (i) costs of goods – total of $407,842; (ii) operating expenses – total of $24,287. 
 
La Vida Verde, Inc. Working Capital Payment 
 
As a December 31, 2019, the Company owed a working capital contribution of $700,000 that was initially 
due April 30, 2019. The Company reached a settlement in May 2020 with the shareholders of LVV and 
LVV regarding the late payments.  See “Subsequent Events” and “Risk Factors – Risk Related to the 
Company’s Business” in the Company’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 
 
Promissory Notes Payable 

 
On January 3, 2019, the Company issued Promissory Notes and Pledge Agreements to the stockholders 
of LVV totaling $2,000,000 (the “Notes”). The Notes were due 50% on March 31, 2019, and October 31, 
2019, and provided for interest at 5% per annum. The note payments were collateralized by the pro rata 
number of shares of LVV common stock held by the Company that were purchased with the amount 
represented by the Notes. The Company paid $800,000 under the Notes during the year ended 
December 31, 2019. As at December 31, 2019, the Company had a promissory note payable to the LVV 
stockholders with $200,000 outstanding that was due March 31, 2019 and $1,000,000 that was due on 
October 31, 2019. The Company accrued interest of $69,349 as at December 31, 2019. See “Risk 
Factors – Risk Related to the Company’s Business” in the Company’s Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis. The Company reached a settlement in May 2020 with the shareholders of LVV and LVV 
regarding the late payments. See “Subsequent Events”. 
  
Summary of promissory notes payable were as follows: 
 

 
 

Unamortized license fee (i) $ 165,000                     
Remaining license fee under amended agreement (i) 87,500                       
Inventory impairment (i) 155,342                     
Uncollectible accounts receivable (ii) 12,888                       
Personnel costs (ii) 11,499                       
Total restructuring costs $ 432,229                     

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Note payable $ 1,200,000                      $ -                                    
Accrued interest- note payable 69,349                           -                                    

Total note payable $ 1,269,349                      $ -                                    
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Due to Former Officer and Director 

 
 
The loan represented advances from a former officer and director with no repayment terms. The 
advances accrued simple interest at a rate of 2% per annum starting January 1, 2015. On September 4, 
2018, the Company entered into a Promissory Note with the former officer and director for $941,600. The 
Note was due September 20, 2020, and provided for monthly payments of $26,155 plus interest. Interest 
accrues at 6% from September 4, 2018. The Company has repaid $210,000 during the year ended 
December 31, 2019, and recorded interest of $61,117 and $17,951 during the years ended December 31, 
2019, and 2018, respectively. The Company has stopped payments under the note payable and recorded 
interest at the note rate related to the legal action discussed above.  See “Legal Proceedings”.  
 
Financial Instruments  

 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company’s financial instruments are comprised of cash, accounts 
receivable, accounts payable, the investment in Riotus and the derivative liability. The fair values of the 
accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their carrying values due to their short-term 
maturity.  
 
The Company’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks, including price risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial and economic markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s 
financial performance. Risk management is carried out by financial management in conjunction with 
overall corporate governance. 
 
(a)  Credit Risk 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date is best represented by the carrying 
amount of the Company's cash and accounts receivables. 

 
The Company is not exposed to a credit risk with respect to cash from the potential default by 
counterparties that carry the Company's cash, and attempts to mitigate this risk by dealing only with large 
financial institutions with good credit ratings. All the financial institutions that the Company deals with 
meet these qualifications. The Company is exposed to normal credit risk with respect to the Company’s 
accounts receivables. To mitigate this credit risk, the Company evaluates the creditworthiness of its 
customers and establishes credit limits accordingly. The Company may require deposits or collateral 
(letters of credit or liens) from customers prior to shipping. The Company provides for anticipated credit 
losses based on incurred losses. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Note payable $ 701,600                         $ 911,600                         
Accrued interest- note payable 61,117                           17,951                           

Total note payable $ 762,717                         $ 929,551                         
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The aging of accounts receivables are as follows:  
 

 
 
(b)  Liquidity Risk 

 
The Company manages risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipated investing and 
financing activities. To maintain an optimum level of cash flow, the Company actively pursues the 
collection of its accounts receivables by closely monitoring and controlling the operation and capital 
expenditures.    
  
In addition, the Company may have financial obligations on its investments and proposed acquisitions. 
The Company has a working capital deficit of $3,351,962 as at December 31, 2019, and requires 
additional funding to meet its short-term obligations. 

 
(c)  Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market prices comprise several types of risk: interest rate risk, 
currency risk, commodity price risk, and other price risk, such as equity risk.  

 
(i)  Interest Rate Risk 

 
Debt and obligations under operating lease are subject to interest rate cash flow risk as the required cash 
flow to service the debt will fluctuate because of the changing prime interest rate. The interest rates on 
debentures are fixed. The Company did not arrange any interest rate swap or financial contracts to hedge 
the interest rate risk. The Company does not believe it is exposed to significant interest rate risk. 
 
(ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes 
in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Company’s operating activities when revenue or 
expense are denominated in a different currency from the Company’s functional currency. The 
Company’s functional currency is the United States Dollar. 
 
(iii)  Commodity price risk 

 
The Company is not subject to price risk from fluctuations in market prices of commodities.  

 
  (iv)  Equity price risk 

 
 The Company has no exposure to equity price risk. 
 

2019 2018
(a) Credit Risk (accounts receivable aging):
Current $ -                              $ 1,254                          
1-30 days 60,343                        -                              
31-60 days 1,900                          3,763                          
61-90 days 59,323                        4,865                          
More than 90 days -                              -                              

121,566                      9,882                          
Less: Provision for doubtful accounts (20,000)                       (5,000)                         

Total credit risk $ 101,566                      $ 4,882                          
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LEGAL PROCESSINGS 

 
Occasionally, the Company may be a party to legal claims or proceedings of which the outcomes are 
subject to significant uncertainty. In accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, the Company will assess the likelihood of an adverse judgment for any outstanding 
claim; as well as ranges of probable losses.  
 
The Company has launched an action in both California and Alberta against its former CEO and 
President seeking damages of CN$2 million for breaches of contract, fiduciary duties, good faith, and acts 
of negligence in connection with the above noted broker’s claim and other matters.  The Company is also 
a party to an action by the former CEO and President of the Company claiming remedies for alleged 
oppression and misrepresentation, including return of 757,217.52 preferred shares of the Company that 
he agreed to cancel, or alternatively $20,066,264 in damages as compensation for his cancelled preferred 
shares. He also seeks a direction to pay on a promissory note ($762,717 as at December 31, 2019), and 
indemnification for credit card payments of which he is guarantor, plus legal fees.  Management believes 
the suit by the former CEO and President is frivolous and vexatious and is vigorously defending the claim 
and pursuing remedy on the Company’s claims.  Apart from the promissory note in the amount of 
$762,717 which currently appears in the financial liabilities of the Company, the Company has not made 
any provision for any other amounts but will continue to monitor and assess these legal claims and 
proceedings in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.  

 

MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL 

 
The Company seeks the amount of capital it requires in proportion to risk. The Company manages its 
capital structure and adjusts it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics 
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue new shares 
when the time is appropriate.  

 
The Company monitors the return on capital, which is defined as stockholders’ (deficit) equity in the 
amount of $(1,991,975) as at December 31, 2019 (2018 – $1,433,483). 

 
The Company will continually assess the adequacy of its capital structure and capacity and make 
adjustments within the context of the Company’s strategy, economic conditions, and the risk 
characteristics of the business. 
 
The Company's objectives when managing capital are: to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern; and, to have sufficient capital to advance its business plan for the benefit of its shareholders. 

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.  

In order to maintain its capital structure, the Company is dependent on equity and/or debt funding and, 
when necessary, raises capital through the issuance of equity instruments, comprised of common shares, 
warrants, incentive stock options, and the issuance of debt instruments. The Company reviews its capital 
management methods and requirements on an ongoing basis and makes adjustments accordingly. 
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The payment of cash dividends does not form part of the Company’s current capital management 
program and, to date, the Company has not declared any cash dividends on the Company’s common 
shares. 

DISCLOSURE OF OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 

 
Authorized 

 
The authorized share capital of the Corporation consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares and 
1,836,628 Preferred Shares. 

  
Shares Outstanding 
 
The Company had 334,406,762 common shares outstanding at December 31, 2019. Each common 
shareholder is entitled to one vote for each common share held.  
 
The Company has stock option grants to purchase 15,933,613 common shares at an average exercise 
price of $0.067 per share. The Company expensed $19,522 during the year ended December 31, 2019 
(2018 – $1,410,571). The remaining life of the stock option grants is approximately 3.51 years. 
 
The Company had the following shares and securities convertible into shares as at December 31, 2019: 
 

 
 
 
Key Management Compensation and Related Party Transactions 
 
All related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. All 
amounts either due from or due to related parties other than specifically disclosed are non-interest 
bearing, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayments. 
 
Key Management Compensation  
 
Key management personnel are comprised of Company’s Executive Officers and the Board of Directors 
with compensation as follows:  

December 31, 2019
Common shares 334,406,762                         
Stock options, convertible into common shares 15,933,613                           
Warrants to purcahse common shares 177,759,267                         
Common shares - fully diluted 528,099,642                         
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In addition, the Company incurred $Nil in share-based payments issued to key management personnel in 
2019 (2018 - $881,111). 
 
Other related party transactions are summarized below and include transactions with the following 
individuals or entities: 
 

(a) As at December 30, 2019, $264,642 (2018 – $4,219) was owed to key management as described 
above for outstanding salaries, wages, and benefits, and consulting services, which is included in 
trade and other payables. 

 
(b) During the year, the Company purchased inventory from two companies where Bryce Berryessa 

and Eric Hara have a 20-30% interest in the amount of $1,571,267 (2018 – $Nil). 
 

(c) During the year, the Company earned sales revenues from a company where Bryce Berryessa 
has a 35% interest in the amount of $117,116 (2018 – $Nil). 

 
Due from Former Officer and Director 

 
On March 16, 2017, a former officer and director, was issued 536,522 shares in exchange for a $32,000 
note receivable. The note is due on March 15, 2020 with accrued interest of $1,792 at December 31, 
2019.  
  
Due to Former Officer and Director 

 
At December 31, 2019, the total loans from a former officer and director were as follow: 
 

 

Relationship
December 31, 

2019
December 31, 

2018

Zameneth Media Consulting
Company controlled by 
CEO and Director $471,149 $241,690

MES Advisory Services LLC
Company controlled by 
CFO and Director 206,451            126,419           

Travis Belcher Former Director 76,500              71,500             
Neal Pomroy Former Director 80,000              50,000             
Bryce Berryessa President of LVV 36,980              -                     

Eric Hara Former CEO of LVV 71,447              -                     
$942,527 $489,609

Salaries, fees and short-term 
benefits

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Note payable $ 701,600                         $ 911,600                         
Accrued interest- note payable 61,117                           17,951                           

Total note payable $ 762,717                         $ 929,551                         
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The loan represented advances from a former officer and director with no repayment terms. The 
advances accrued simple interest at a rate of 2% per annum starting January 1, 2015. On September 4, 
2018, the Company entered into a Promissory Note with the former officer and director for $941,600. The 
Note was due September 20, 2020 and provides for monthly payments of $26,155 plus interest. Interest 
accrues at 6% from September 4, 2018. The Company has repaid $210,000 during the year ended 
December 31, 2019 and recorded interest of $61,117 and $17,951 during the years ended December 31, 
2019, and 2018, respectively. The Company has stopped payments under the note payable and recorded 
interest at the note rate related to the legal action as discussed above in “Legal Proceedings”.  
 
Subsequent Events 
 
The Company has evaluated all subsequent events through June 18, 2020, which is the date the 
financials were available to be issued. Management has determined that, except as set out below, no 
events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date substantially affects the amounts, 
presentation, and disclosure of the accompanying financial statements. 
 
(a) During the period from January 1, 2020, to June 15, 2020, the Company raised an aggregate of 
Cdn$921,000 through the issuance of promissory notes (Cdn$327,000) and non-brokered private 
placements (Cdn$594,000). The Company also issued three promissory notes as follows:  (i) US$25,000 
bearing in interest at 15% per annum and due December 31, 2024; (ii) US$200,000 due July 6, 2020, and 
bearing interest at 15% per annum; (iii) Cdn$30,000 due December 31, 2021, and bearing interest at 
15%, with interest payable quarterly commencing  January 31, 2021.  The Company issued an aggregate 
of 11,880,000 units at a price of $0.05 consisting of 11,880,000 common shares and 11,880,000 share 
purchase warrants. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of $0.05 
per share for a period of 5 years from the date of issue.  In addition, the Company issued an aggregate of 
45,040,000 common shares and 1,260,000 share purchase warrants in a number of transactions for non-
cash consideration.  Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of $0.05 
per share for a period of 5 years from the date of issue.  See also details below regarding common shares 
issued in connection with acquisitions. 

 
(b) On April 13, 2020, the Company announced that it had unveiled a new name, new logo and new ticker 
symbol as part of a rebranding initiative. The Company announced it had commenced doing business as 
Radiko Holdings and expects to officially change its corporate name at the Company's next Annual 
General Meeting which it expects to hold in June. Additionally, the Company changed its ticker symbol on 
the Canadian Securities Exchange to “RDKO. 

 
(c) On April 22, 2020, the Company announced the settlement and withdrawal of the respective legal 
actions between the Company and its 51% subsidiary La Vida Verde, Inc. (see Note 11).   The settlement 
agreement dated April 21, 2020, provides for the rescission of the September 19, 2018 agreement and 
defines the path forward for the two companies. The Company’s 51% ownership interest of LVV was 
confirmed and the Company renewed its commitment to invest a total of US$700,000 in the capital of LVV 
(the “Capital Investment”) over the course of the next several months, with the final payment US$300,000 
to be made by September 30, 2020.  In lieu of the outstanding notes of US$1.2 million due to LVV 
shareholders, the shareholders of LVV have agreed to an earnout, and will obtain this compensation as a 
percentage of LVV's future earnings as cash flow permits.  As security for the payment of the Capital 
Investment, the Company has agreed to pledge approximately 16% of LVV. The Company’s 
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representation on the Board of LVV will remain the same as the original agreement, with two members on 
the LVV Board. 
 
(d)  On May 11, 2020, the Company announced it had completed the transaction formerly announced on 
February 13, 2020, with BioNeva Innovations of Carson City, LLC (“BioNeva”), Sierra Superfoods, LLC 
(“Sierra”) and DB3 Management, LLC (“DB3”).  The Company acquired Sierra and DB3, as well as the 
right to acquire BioNeva.  The Company issued an aggregate of 28,805,833 common shares and 
obtained a vendor take-back loan with a principal amount of US$3.25 million (the "VTB Loan"). The VTB 
Loan bears interest at the rate of 5% per annum and the principal amount is payable in a lump sum 
payment due on December 31, 2024. The VTB is secured by a pledge of the various LLC interests 
acquired, as well as over the assets of Sierra.  There are no principal or interest payments on the VTB 
Loan for the first two years, after which point interest only is payable quarterly through the issuance of 
common shares of the Company at a price equal to the volume-weighted average closing price of the 
common shares for the 20 trading days prior to each quarterly interest payment date.  The Nevada 
Department of Taxation, the entity that regulates the cannabis industry in Nevada, announced on October 
17, 2019, that it had implemented an extended review process and that it would not be processing any 
existing or new applications that relate to the transfer of licenses and change of ownership/interests while 
the extended review is in place.  The acquisition of BioNeva will be completed as soon as practicable 
following termination of the extended review period.    
 
(e) On May 19, 2020, the Company announced that its 51% subsidiary La Vida Verde, Inc. (“LVV”) had 
entered into an agreement with the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary DB3 Management, LLC relating 
to the operation of the Carson City, Nevada cultivation (the “Facility”) effective immediately.  The 
agreement provides for a phased approach with LVV initially being responsible for sales of cultivated 
products beginning with the first harvest (currently underway). After the LVV team becomes more familiar 
with the operation, they will provide management consulting services in order to optimize production and 
operations, as well as oversight of genetic selection, marketing and branding of products, and go-to-
market strategy. The final phase is expected to see LVV assume full responsibility for the Facility in all 
aspects.  Additionally, further to the press release dated May 11, 2020, the Company completed the final 
piece of its acquisition of the Carson City cultivation, namely the land leased by the cultivation operations.  
The Company entered into an agreement to purchase approximately one acre of land on which the 
cultivation operations reside, as well as a right of first refusal on an adjoining one acre parcel in Carson 
City, NV, that will provide the opportunity for further expansion of the operation as growth demands. The 
Company issued 17,727,866 common shares and agreed to pay US$150,000 in cash over six months 
starting July 15, 2020.  The common shares will remain in escrow until the final payment is received by 
the vendors. 
 
(f) On May 27, 2020, the Company announced its intention to commence a normal course Company bid 
(“NCIB”), under which the Company may purchase, from surplus cash flow anticipated by the Company’s 
recently acquired BioNeva asset, up to 21,793,023 of the Company’s common Shares, representing 
approximately 5% of its issued and outstanding common shares.  The Company intends to appoint Leede 
Jones Gable Inc. as its broker to conduct the NCIB on its behalf. The NCIB is expected to commence on 
May 29, 2020 and terminate on May 29, 2021, or an earlier date in the event that the number of Shares 
sought in the NCIB has been repurchased or if the Company feels that it is appropriate. All Shares 
purchased under the NCIB will be purchased on the open market through the facilities of the Canadian 
Securities Exchange. All purchases made under the NCIB will be at the prevailing CSE market price for 
the Shares at the time of purchase. Shares acquired by the Company under the NCIB are being 
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purchased for cancellation. 
 

(g)  On June 30, 2020, the Company issued 3,418,102 common shares to Julian Marley at a price of 
CDN0.05 to satisfy its contractual obligation to issue $125,000 in common shares to Mr. Marley. 
 
(h)  Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2019, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused significant 
and negative impact to the global financial markets. The Company’s manufacturing and distribution 
activities in California were temporarily suspended in April 2020 due to the pandemic, but are back to 
normal now. The distributions from Riotus have been affected as well and have declined compared to 
original expected amounts, but are expected to increase by end of 2020.  The Company continues to 
monitor and assess the impact of COVID-19 on its business activities. Currently the potential impact is 
uncertain, and it is difficult to reliably measure the extent of the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
future financial results. Procedures to protect the Company’s employees remain in place. The Company 
remains flexible both financially and operationally to adjust to the changing situation as appropriate and 
will continue to monitor the situation and provide updates accordingly. 
 
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to 
have, a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Company. 

Investor Relations 

Investor relations were performed by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

Segmented Information 

The management of the Company considers the business to have two operating segments: (i) US 
cannabis sales and (ii) head office.   
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The reporting for the year ended December 31, 2019 was as follows:  

 

The operating segments are managed on a worldwide basis, but operate facilities and sales functions are 
primarily in Canada and the United States. 

 
The geographic information analysis separates the group’s revenue and non-current assets by the 
Company’s country of domicile and other countries. In presenting the geographic information, segment 
revenue has been based on the geographic location of customers and segment assets were based on the 
geographic location of the assets. 
 

 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
Preparing the financial statements in conformity with applicable accounting standards requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses. These estimates, judgments and assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing 
basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe 
are reasonable at that time, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying 

ICL LVV

US Cannabis 
Products 

Manufacturing and 
Sale  Head Office Total

Revenue $ 69,518                      $ 5,111,238                 $ 5,180,756                $ -                    $ 5,180,756        
Cost of goods sold 318,251                    6,466,441                 6,784,692                -                    6,784,692        

Gross Margin (248,733)                   (1,355,203)                (1,603,936)               -                    (1,603,936)       
Operating expenses 2,214,514                 3,446,795                 5,661,309                3,253,437         8,914,746        

Loss before other expenses $ (2,463,247)                $ (4,801,998)                $ (7,265,245)               $ (3,253,437)        $ (10,518,682)    
Other expenses

Interest expense, net (16,685)                     49,699                      33,014                      (75,532)             (42,518)            
Impairment of goodwill - La Vida Verde, Inc. (7,271,974)                (7,271,974)               -                    (7,271,974)       
Unrealized fair value investment loss in Riotus (125,000)                   -                            (125,000)                  -                    (125,000)          
Foreign exchange (2,626)                       -                            (2,626)                       -                    (2,626)               
Change in fair value of derivative liability -                            -                            -                            897,478            897,478           

Loss before taxes $ (2,607,558)                $ (12,024,273)              $ (14,631,831)            $ (2,431,491)        $ (17,063,322)    

Income tax recovery -                            -                            -                            760,495            760,495           
Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (2,607,558)                $ (12,024,273)              $ (14,631,831)            $ (1,670,996)        $ (16,302,827)    

Total Assets $ 560,466                    $ 1,414,291                 $ 1,974,757                $ 1,280,118         $ 2,717,560        
Total Liabilities $ 1,309,739                 $ 615,277                    $ 1,925,016                $ 2,784,519         $ 4,709,535        

US Canada Total 
Total revenue $ 5,180,756     $ -            $ 5,180,756     

Non-current assets
Investment in Riotus SODO LLC 375,000        $ -            375,000        
Note receivable -                33,792       33,792          

Property, plant and equipment 220,973        4,220         225,193        
Intangible assets- La Vida Verde, Inc. 770,000        -            770,000        
Right of use asset 175,132        -            175,132        

$ 1,541,105     $ 38,012       $ 1,579,117     
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value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 
materially from those estimates. 
 
By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty, and changes in these estimates 
may affect the audited financial statements of future periods. Estimates and accounting judgments are 
based on historical experience, current trends and various other assumptions that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
The significant estimates, judgments and assumptions and which we believe are the most critical to aid in 
fully understanding and evaluating reported financial results are disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements.  
 

RECENT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
IFRS 16 – Leases 
 
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases, which will replace IAS 17 Leases. This standard 
introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for 
all leases with a term of more than twelve months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is 
required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease 
liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.  
 
The Company adopted IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019.  The adoption of IFRS 16 had no impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements as the Company did not have any leases with a lease term 
of over 12 months at January 1, 2019. 

 
The Company has applied the new standard using the modified retrospective approach with no 
restatement of comparative periods. There were no adjustments to retained earnings as a result of 
adoption. 

 
The Company has elected not to reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at the date of initial 
application. Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition date the Company relied on its 
previous assessment made under IAS 17 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease. The 
definition of a lease under IFRS 16 was applied only to contracts entered into or modified on or after 
January 1, 2019. 
 
See the Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, for a complete 
summary of our significant accounting policies. 
 
CAUTION REGARDING BUSINESS  
 

There are a number of risks associated with the business of the Company.  See section entitled “Risk 

Factors” below for a detailed list of all relevant risk factors. 
 
Canadian Companies with U.S. Marijuana-Related Assets 
 
In accordance with the Canadian Securities Administrators Staff Notice 51-352 (Revised) dated February 
8, 2018 – Issuers with U.S. Marijuana-Related Activities (“CSA Notice 51-352”), there are specific 
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disclosure expectations for issuers that currently have, or are in the process of developing, cannabis-
related activities in the United States as permitted within a particular state’s regulatory framework. All 
issuers with United States cannabis-related activities are expected to clearly and prominently disclose 
certain prescribed information in prospectus filings and other required disclosure documents.  
 
Below is a summary of the Company’s cannabis activity in the United States. In accordance with CSA 
Notice 51-352, the Company will evaluate, monitor, and reassess this disclosure and any related risks on 
an ongoing basis and will supplement, amend and communicate to investors in public filings, the event of 
government policy changes or the introduction of new or amended guidance, laws or regulations 
regarding cannabis.  For a complete discussion of the U.S. regulatory regime and relevant states, please 
refer to the Company’s Annual Listing Statement dated July 9, 2020, for the year ended December 31, 
2019, which has been filed on www.sedar.com and www.thecse.com under the Company’s profile. 
 
Summary of the Company’s United States Cannabis Activity 
 
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had direct involvement in U.S. cannabis-related activities 
through its 51% owned subsidiary LVV, a licensed manufacturer and distributor of flower, cannabis-
infused oils, tinctures and edibles in California, as well as a third party distributor licensed in Nevada.  The 
Company takes commercially reasonable steps to ensure that LVV and all third parties that provide 
services to the Company are in compliance with applicable licensing requirements and the regulatory 
framework enacted by the applicable U.S. State. 
 
In addition, commencing in January 2020, the Company had direct involvement in the sale of products 
containing cannabidiol (CBD) (a non-psychoactive chemical compound found in cannabis) in the U.S. 
through its product line “baseline”.   See “Risk Factors – Risks Associated with Numerous Laws and 
Regulations.” 
 
On May 11, 2020, the Company acquired an indirect interest in an indoor cannabis cultivation operation in 
Nevada.  See “Narrative Description of the Business – BioNeva Company Profile.”  
 
The table below summarizes the Company’s involvement in the United States: 
 

State  Company Type of Investment 
     
Various 
 
California, Nevada 

 Flora Wellness, LLC(1)

 
La Vida Verde, Inc.(2) 

 100% Equity Ownership 
 

51% Equity Ownership 
     
Nevada  RDKO Nevada, Inc.(3)  100% Equity Ownership 
     
Notes: 

(1) Flora Wellness, LLC sells the Company’s CBD Baseline products directly and through third parties. 

(2) La Vida Verde, Inc. is currently involved in Nevada solely through a license it has issued to a cultivator in 
Nevada. 

(3) RDKO Nevada, Inc. owns:  (a) 100% of Sierra Superfoods, LLC which holds assets including real estate leases, 
an 8,000 square foot facility and related equipment designed for indoor cultivation of cannabis; (b) 100% of DB3 
Management, LLC, which has a contract with the license holder to manage the indoor facility; and (c) a right to 
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acquire 100% of BioNeva Innovations of Carson City, LLC, which holds licenses to cultivate both medical and 
recreational marijuana. 

Previously, the Company had only ancillary involvement in the U.S. cannabis industry through its 
agreements with third party licensed cultivators, oil extractors, vape manufacturers, edible manufacturers 
and merchandise companies to produce and distribute products bearing the trademark Julian Marley JuJu 
Royal™, in the U.S. where cannabis has been legalized at the state level, as well as products containing 
cannabidiol (CBD) (a non-psychoactive chemical compound found in cannabis) in the U.S. and 
internationally; as well as the Company has entered into a number of distribution/license agreements in 
the U.S. and elsewhere.  The license for the Julian Marley JuJu Royal brand was terminated. 
 
The Company currently derives all of its revenue from U.S. cannabis-related activities and so 100% of its 
balance sheet and operating statement are exposed to U.S. cannabis related activities.  As a result of 
Company’s direct involvement in manufacture and distribution of LVV and its products, the Company is 
subject to CSA Notice 51-352 and accordingly provides the following disclosure. 
 
There are a number of risks associated with the business of the Company.  See also section entitled 
“Risk Factors” below for a detailed list of all relevant risk factors. 
 

RISK FACTORS 

Management of the Company consider the risks set forth below to be the most significant, but do not 
consider them to be all of the risks associated with an investment in securities the Company. If any of 
these risks materialize into actual events or circumstances or other possible additional risks and 
uncertainties of which Management is currently unaware or which they consider not to be material in 
connection with the Company’s business, actually occur, the Company’s assets, liabilities, financial 
condition, results of operations (including future results of operations), business and business prospects, 
are likely to be materially and adversely affected. In such circumstances, the price of the Company’s 
securities could decline and investors may lose all or part of their investment. 

Risks Related to the United States Statutory and Regulatory Framework 
 
U.S. cannabis operations are illegal under U.S. federal law and the enforcement of relevant laws is a 
significant risk. 
 
As a result of the conflicting views between state legislatures and the U.S. federal government regarding 
the legality of cannabis, cannabis-related businesses in the United States are subject to inconsistent 
legislation, regulation and enforcement.  Unless and until the United States Congress amends the Federal 
CSA with respect to cannabis or the Drug Enforcement Agency reschedules or de-schedules cannabis 
(and there can be no assurance as to the timing or scope of any such potential amendments), there is a 
risk that U.S. federal authorities may enforce current U.S. federal law, which would adversely affect the 
Company.  As a result of the inconsistency between state and federal law, there are a number of risks 
associated with the Company’s existing and proposed operations in the United States.  
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Laws will continue to change rapidly for the foreseeable future and local laws and ordinances could 
restrict the Company’s business operations. 
 
Local, state and federal laws and enforcement policies concerning cannabis-related conduct are changing 
rapidly and will continue to do so for the foreseeable future.  There can be no assurance that existing 
state laws that legalize and regulate the production, sale and use of cannabis will not be repealed, 
amended or overturned.  In addition, local governments have the ability to limit, restrict and ban cannabis-
related businesses from operating within their jurisdictions.  Land use, zoning, local ordinances, and 
similar laws could be adopted or changed in a manner that makes it extremely difficult or impossible to 
transact business in certain jurisdictions.  These potential changes in state and local laws are 
unpredictable and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.   
 
COVID-19 Pandemic  
 
The Company’s business could be materially and adversely affected by the outbreak of a widespread 
epidemic or pandemic or other public health crisis, including arising from the novel strain of the 
coronavirus known as “COVID- 19.” A local, regional, national or international outbreak of a contagious 
virus, including the novel coronavirus, COVID-19 could cause staff shortages, reduced customer demand, 
supply shortages, and increased government regulation all of which may negatively impact the business, 
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.    
 
In late 2019, COVID-19 was first detected in Wuhan, China. Since then, the virus has spread to over 100 
countries. During March 2020, many governments ordered all but certain essential businesses closed and 
imposed significant limitations on the circulation of the populace. Furthermore, certain illnesses may be 
transmitted through human or surface contact, and the risk of contracting such illnesses could cause 
employees and customers to avoid gathering in public places, as was the case in many places during the 
ensuing months due to concerns about the coronavirus. This could adversely affect the Company’s ability 
to adequately staff and supply its facilities. The Company could be adversely affected if governments 
under which it or its suppliers operate impose mandatory closures, seek voluntary closures, or impose 
restrictions on operations.    
 
On March 12, 2020, Governor Sisolak declared a state of emergency in Nevada. Retail cannabis stores 
and medical cannabis businesses were deemed essential and allowed to operate. Through additional 
emergency regulation issued on March 20, cannabis businesses could operate by delivery only and all in-
store sales were prohibited. The Governor's office released Directive 16 on April 29, allowing cannabis 
dispensaries to conduct curbside transactions beginning May 1, with pre-approval from the Department of 
Taxation after submission of a written plan. Further, on May 7, the Governor issued an updated 
emergency directive stating that the Department of Taxation in conjunction with the Cannabis Compliance 
Board will allow medical dispensaries and retail marijuana stores to re-open with limited instore access 
beginning Saturday, May 9, with pre-approval after submission of a written plan.   
 
The Company’s ability to successfully operate and sell its products will depend on the whether it and its 
customers and suppliers are able to continue to operate, and the nature of restrictions on such 
operations.  Depending on the duration and severity of the current COVID-19 pandemic, or if there is a 
resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic, different or additional operating restrictions may be imposed on 
the Company, its customers and suppliers, and consumers of marijuana products.  Such restrictions may 
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negatively impact the Company’s ability to maintain operations and the market for the Company’s 
products. 
 
Changes to State Laws Pertaining to Hemp   
 
The 2018 Farm Bill provides that each state must develop a plan regarding the cultivation and sale of 
Hemp and submit such plan to the USDA for approval.  If a state does not elect to devise a hemp 
regulatory program, the USDA will develop a program under which Hemp cultivators in such states can 
apply for licenses. Continued development of the Hemp industry will be dependent upon new legislative 
authorization of Hemp at the state level, and further amendment or supplementation of legislation at the 
federal level. Any number of events or occurrences could slow or halt progress all together in this space. 
While progress within the Hemp industry is currently encouraging, growth is not assured. While there 
appears to be ample public support for favorable legislative action at the state and federal levels, 
numerous factors may impact or negatively affect the legislative process(es) within the various states the 
Company intends to pursue its business interests  in.  Any one of these factors could slow or halt use of 
Hemp or CBD, which would negatively impact the Company's plans for business or growth, including 
possibly causing us to discontinue operations as a whole.  
 
Changes to Federal Laws Pertaining to Hemp   
 
Federal regulations under the 2018 Farm Bill have not yet been promulgated. There is no guarantee that 
such regulations will be on terms favourable to the Company's business. Should the regulations result in 
stricter requirements on the Company than those of the 2014 Farm Bill, such changes could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.  
 
Risks Associated with Numerous Laws and Regulations   
 
The production, labeling and distribution of the products that the Company distributes are regulated by 
various federal, state and local agencies. These governmental authorities may commence regulatory or 
legal proceedings, which could restrict the permissible scope of the Company's product claims or the 
ability to sell its products in the future. The FDA regulates the Company's products to ensure that the 
products are not adulterated or misbranded. 
 
The Company will be subject to regulation by various agencies as a result of the sale of its hemp-based 
CBD wellness products. The shifting compliance environment and the need to build and maintain robust 
systems to comply with different regulations in multiple jurisdictions increases the possibility that the 
Company may violate one or more of the requirements. If the Company's operations are found to be in 
violation of any of such laws or any other governmental regulations, or perceived to be in violation, the 
Company may be subject to penalties or other negative effects, including, without limitation, civil and 
criminal penalties, damages, fines, the curtailment or restructuring of the Company's operations or asset 
seizures and the denial of regulatory applications (including those regulatory regimes outside of the scope 
of FDA jurisdiction, but which may rely on the positions of the FDA in the application of its regulatory 
regime), any of which could adversely affect the Company's business and financial results.  
 
Failure to comply with FDA requirements may result in, among other things, injunctions, product 
withdrawals, recalls, product seizures, fines and criminal prosecutions. The Company's advertising is 
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subject to regulation by the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") under the Federal Trade Commission Act 
as well as subject to regulation by the FDA under the U.S. Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act 
of 1994 (DSHEA). In recent years, the FTC has initiated numerous investigations of dietary and nutritional 
supplement products and companies based on allegedly deceptive or misleading claims. At any point, 
enforcement strategies of a given agency can change as a result of other litigation in the space or 
changes in political landscapes, and could result in increased enforcement efforts, which would materially 
impact the Company's business. Additionally, some states also permit advertising and labeling laws to be 
enforced by state attorney generals, who may seek relief for consumers, class action certifications, class 
wide damages and product recalls of products sold by the Company. Private litigants may also seek relief 
for consumers, class action certifications, class wide damages and product recalls of products sold by the 
Company. Any actions against the Company by governmental authorities or private litigants could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The Company may be subject to heightened scrutiny by Canadian regulatory authorities. 
 
For the reasons set forth herein, the Company’s existing investments and operations in the United States, 
and any future investments and operations, may become the subject of heightened scrutiny by regulators, 
stock exchanges, third party service providers, financial institutions, depositories and other authorities in 
Canada and the U.S. As a result, the Company may be subject to significant direct and indirect interaction 
with public officials. There can be no assurance that this heightened scrutiny will not in turn lead to the 
imposition of certain restrictions on the Company’s ability to operate in the U.S., Canada and other 
jurisdictions.  
 
On February 8, 2018, following discussions with the Canadian Securities Administrators and recognized 
Canadian securities exchanges, the TMX Group announced the signing of a Memorandum of 
Understanding (“MOU”) with Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., the CSE, the Toronto Stock Exchange and the 
TSX Venture Exchange. The MOU outlines the parties’ understanding of Canada’s regulatory framework 
applicable to the rules, procedures and regulatory oversight of the exchanges and the Canadian 
Depository for Securities (“CDS”) as it relates to issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United 
States. The MOU confirms, with respect to the clearing of listed securities, that CDS relies on the stock 
exchanges to review the conduct of listed issuers. As a result, there is no CDS ban on the clearing of 
securities of issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States. However, there can be no 
guarantee that this approach to regulation will continue in the future. If such a ban were to be 
implemented at a time when the Company’s common shares are listed on a Canadian stock exchange, it 
would have a material adverse effect on the ability of holders of the Company’s common shares to make 
and settle trades. In particular, the Company’s common shares would become highly illiquid until an 
alternative was implemented, and investors would have no ability to effect a trade of the Company’s 
common shares through the facilities of the applicable stock exchange. 
 
Banking regulations in the cannabis industry may create significant challenges to the Company’s 
operations. 
 
The Company has experienced disruption to its banking services to date.  Because banks in the U.S. 
often refuse to provide banking services to businesses involved in the cannabis industry due to the 
present state of the laws and regulations governing financial institutions, the Company faces unique and 
significant challenges in operating its business. Canadian banks are likewise hesitant to deal with 
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cannabis companies due to the uncertain legal and regulatory framework of the industry. Therefore, the 
Company may face a potential lack of a secure place in which to deposit and store cash, the inability to 
pay creditors through the issuance of checks and the inability to secure traditional forms of operational 
financing, such as lines of credit. 
 
The Company’s investments in the United States may be subject to applicable U.S. anti-money 
laundering laws and regulations. 
 
Under U.S. federal law, it may be a violation of money laundering statutes for financial institutions to take 
any proceeds from the sale of cannabis or any other Schedule I controlled substance under the Federal 
CSA. Banks and other financial institutions, particularly those that are federally chartered in the United 
States, could be prosecuted and possibly convicted of money laundering for providing services to 
businesses with operations or a connection to cannabis. Therefore, investments held in U.S. banks are 
subject to seizure by the U.S. federal government.  
 
If any of the Company’s operations, or any proceeds thereof, any dividends or distributions therefrom, or 
any profits or revenues accruing from such operations in the United States were found to be in violation of 
money laundering legislation or otherwise, such transactions may be viewed as proceeds of crime. This 
could restrict or otherwise jeopardize the ability of the Company to declare or pay dividends and could 
affect other distributions, including the Company’s ability to transfer such funds into Canada. Furthermore, 
while the Company has no current intentions to declare or pay dividends in the foreseeable future, in the 
event that a determination was made that the Company’s proceeds from operations (or any future 
operations or investments in the United States) could reasonably be shown to constitute proceeds of 
crime, the Company may decide, or be required, to suspend declaring or paying dividends without 
advance notice and for an indefinite period of time. 
 
Third party service providers could suspend or withdraw services as a result of our cannabis business. 
 
As a result of any adverse change to the approach in enforcement of U.S. cannabis laws, adverse 
regulatory or political change, additional scrutiny by regulatory authorities, adverse changes in public 
perception in respect of the consumption of cannabis or otherwise, third party service providers to the 
Company could suspend or withdraw their services, which may have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, revenues, operating results, financial condition or prospects. 
Courts may not enforce the Company’s contracts. 
It is a fundamental principle of law that a contract will not be enforced if it involves a violation of law or 
public policy.  Because cannabis remains illegal in the United States at the federal level, judges in 
multiple U.S. states have on a number of occasions refused to enforce contracts for the repayment of 
money when the loan was used in connection with activities that violate U.S. federal law, even if there 
was no violation of state law. There remains doubt and uncertainty that the Company will be able to 
legally enforce contracts it enters into, if necessary. The Company cannot be assured that it will have a 
remedy for breach of contract, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company. 
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Public opinion, consumer perception or unfavorable publicity could influence the regulation of the 
cannabis industry. 
  
Public opinion may also significantly influence the regulation of the cannabis industry in Canada, the 
United States or elsewhere. Public opinion and support for medical and adult-use cannabis has 
traditionally been inconsistent and has varied from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. A negative shift in the 
public’s perception of cannabis in the United States or any other applicable jurisdiction could affect future 
legislation or regulation of cannabis. Among other things, such a shift could cause state jurisdictions to 
abandon initiatives or proposals to legalize medical and/or adult-use cannabis, thereby limiting the 
number of new jurisdictions into which the Company could expand. Any inability to fully implement the 
Company’s expansion strategy may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of 
operations or prospects. 
 
Results of future clinical research could influence the regulation of the cannabis industry and may have an 
adverse effect on the Company’s business. 
 
The Company believes the medical and adult-use cannabis industries are highly dependent upon 
consumer perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of cannabis. Consumer perception can be 
significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media 
attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of cannabis products. There can be no assurance 
that future scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention or other 
publicity will be favorable to the cannabis industry or any particular product, or consistent with earlier 
publicity. Future research reports, findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention or other 
publicity that are perceived as less favorable than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or 
other publicity could have a material adverse effect on the demand for medical or adult-use cannabis and 
on the business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows or prospects of the Company. 
Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of 
cannabis in general, or associating the consumption of medical and adult-use cannabis with illness or 
other negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect on the business, results of 
operations or prospects of the Company. There is no assurance that such adverse publicity reports or 
other media attention will not arise. 
 
United States Border Crossing and Travel Ban  
 
Investors in the Company and the Company’s directors and officers may be subject to travel and entry 
bans into the U.S. Media articles have reported that certain Canadian citizens have been rejected for 
entry into the U.S., due to their involvement in the cannabis sector. In at least one widely reported 
incident, an investor in companies operating in the cannabis sector in states where it is legal to do so, 
received a lifetime ban. 
 
The majority of persons travelling across the Canadian and U.S. border do so without incident, whereas 
some persons are simply barred entry one time. The U.S. Department of State and the Department of 
Homeland Security has indicated that the U.S. has not changed its admission requirements in response 
to the pending legalization in Canada of recreational cannabis, but anecdotal evidence indicates that the 
U.S. may be increasing its scrutiny of travelers and their cannabis related involvement. Admissibility to the 



 
 
 

Radiko Holdings Corp. (FDBA International Cannabrands Inc.) 
Management’s Discussion & Analysis 

YE December 31, 2019 

 

Page 44 

U.S. may be denied to any person working or ‘having involvement in’ the cannabis industry, including in 
U.S. states where it is deemed legal, according to United States Customs and Border Protection.  
 
Ability to Access Public and Private Capital 
 
The Company has historically, and continues to have, access to equity and debt financing from the 
prospectus exempt (private placement) markets in Canada and the United States. While the Company is 
not able to obtain bank financing in the U.S. or financing from other U.S. federally regulated entities, it 
currently has access to equity financing through the private markets in Canada and the U.S. The 
Company’s executive team and board also have extensive relationships with sources of private capital 
(such as funds and high net worth individuals), that could be investigated at a higher cost of capital.  
 
If such equity and/or debt financing was no longer available in the public markets in Canada due to 
changes in applicable law, then the Company expects that it would have access to raise equity and/or 
debt financing privately. Commercial banks, private equity firms and venture capital firms have 
approached the cannabis industry cautiously to date. However, there are increasing numbers of high net 
worth individuals and family offices that have made meaningful investments in companies and projects 
similar to the Company’s projects. Although there has been an increase in the amount of private financing 
available over the last several years, there is neither a broad nor deep pool of institutional capital that is 
available to cannabis license holders and license applicants. There can be no assurance that additional 
financing, if raised privately, will be available to the Company when needed or on terms which are 
acceptable. The Company’s inability to raise financing to fund capital expenditures or acquisitions could 
limit its growth and may have a material adverse effect upon future profitability. See “Risk Factors - The  
Company may require additional capital to finance its operations in the future, but that capital may not be 
available when it is needed and could be dilutive to existing shareholders”. 
 
Our business is dependent on laws pertaining to the marijuana industry.  
 
Continued development of the marijuana industry is dependent upon continued legislative authorization of 
the use and cultivation of marijuana at the state level.  Any number of factors could slow or halt progress 
in this area.  Further, progress, while encouraging, is not assured.  While there may be ample public 
support for legislative action, numerous factors impact the legislative process.  Any one of these factors 
could slow or halt use of marijuana, which would negatively impact our proposed business. 

Currently, there are thirty three states plus the District of Columbia that have laws and/or regulation that 
recognize in one form or another legitimate medical uses for cannabis and consumer use of cannabis in 
connection with medical treatment. There are currently ten states and the District of Columbia that allow 
recreational use of cannabis. Currently, the policy and regulations of the U.S. Federal government and its 
agencies is that cannabis has no medical benefit and a range of activities including cultivation and use of 
cannabis for personal use is prohibited on the basis of federal law and may or may not be permitted on 
the basis of state law. Active enforcement of the current federal regulatory position on cannabis on a 
regional or national basis may directly and adversely affect the willingness of our customers to invest in or 
buy products. Active enforcement of the current federal regulatory position on cannabis may thus 
indirectly and adversely affect our revenues. 

Further, while we do not harvest, distribute or sell marijuana, by branding products of growers of 
marijuana, we could be deemed to be participating in marijuana cultivation, which remains illegal under 
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federal law, and exposes us to potential criminal liability, with the additional risk that our business could 
be subject to civil forfeiture proceedings. 
 
The Company has a limited operating history and operates in a relatively new industry, and the Company 
may not succeed 
 
The Company has a limited operating history and may not succeed. The Company is subject to all risks 
inherent in a developing business enterprise. The Company’s likelihood of continued success must be 
considered in light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications, and delays frequently 
encountered in connection with the competitive and regulatory environment in which it operates. For 
example, the adult use marijuana industry is a relatively new industry which, as a whole may not succeed, 
particularly should the Federal government change course and decide to prosecute various parties under 
Federal law. If that happens there may not be an adequate market for the Company’s branded products. 
As a relatively new industry, there are not established players whose business model the Company can 
follow or build on the success of. Similarly, there is no information about comparable companies available 
for potential investors to review in making a decision about whether to invest in the Company.  
 
Shareholders and investors should further consider, among other factors, the Company’s prospects for 
success in light of the risks and uncertainties encountered by companies that, like the Company, are in 
their early stages. For example, unanticipated expenses and problems or technical difficulties may occur 
and they may result in material delays in the operation of the Company’s business. The Company may 
not successfully address these risks and uncertainties or successfully implement its operating strategies. 
If the Company fails to do so, it could materially harm the Company’s business to the point of having to 
cease operations and could impair the value of the Company securities to the point investors may lose 
their entire investment. 
 
The Company’s success is dependent on additional states legalizing marijuana 
 
Continued development of the recreational marijuana market is dependent upon continued legislative 
authorization of marijuana at the state level and, in certain states, on local governments authorizing a 
sufficient number of dispensaries. Any number of factors could slow or halt the progress. Further, 
progress, while encouraging, is not assured and the process normally encounters set-backs before 
achieving success. While there may be ample public support for legislative proposal, key support must be 
created in the legislative committee or a bill may never advance to a vote. Numerous factors impact the 
legislative process. Any one of these factors could slow or halt the progress and adoption of marijuana for 
medical and recreational purposes 
 
The success of the Company’s products and services is uncertain 
 
The Company has committed, and expects to continue to commit, significant resources and capital to 
develop and market existing products and new products and services. These products and services are 
relatively untested, and the Company cannot assure shareholders and investors that it will achieve market 
acceptance for these products and services, or other new products and services that the Company may 
offer in the future. Moreover, these and other new products and services may be subject to significant 
competition with offerings by new and existing competitors in the business. In addition, new products and 
services may pose a variety of challenges and require the Company to attract additional qualified 
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employees. The failure to successfully develop and market these new products and services could 
seriously harm the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The Company’s business is dependent upon continued market acceptance by consumers 
 
The Company is substantially dependent on continued market acceptance of its brands by dispensaries, 
consumers and industry participants. The Company cannot predict the future changes, growth rate and 
size of this market. 
 
Closing of bank accounts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and/or 
results of operations. 
 
As a result of the regulatory environment in the industry we operate, we have experienced the closing of 
several of our bank accounts since 2014. We have been able to open other bank accounts, however, we 
may be subject to further closures of bank accounts. These factors impact Management and could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and/or results of operations. 

Risks Related To The Company’s Business 
 
The Company currently depends primarily on a limited number of brands for its revenue 
 
While the Company expects to develop new products and add additional brands through its continued 
pursuit and expansion of its business, the Company currently primarily relies on its marketing and 
distribution of the LVV family of brands. The Company currently does not have a broad portfolio of other 
products or services that the Company could rely on to support its operations today if the Company were 
to experience any difficulty with the manufacture, marketing, sale, or distribution of the LVV products. 
Reliance on License 
 
LVV’s ability to manufacture and distribute cannabis products in California is dependent on maintaining its 
licenses in good standing with the California State regulator. Failure to comply with the requirements of 
any of its licenses or any failure to maintain any of its licenses would have a material adverse impact on 
the business, financial condition and operating results of the Company. LVV’s licenses in California are 
currently in good standing and LVV remains fully compliant with the state laws and regulations.  LVV 
currently relies upon a third party agreement to distribute cannabis products in Nevada.  A failure by the 
third party to comply with the various requirements of the state of Nevada could have a material adverse 
impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of the Company. 
 
The Company’s ability to manage growth is currently limited 
 
Anticipated growth in all areas of the Company’s business is expected to continue to place a significant 
strain on its managerial, operational and technical resources. The Company expects operating expenses 
and staffing levels to increase in the future. To manage such growth, the Company must expand its 
operational and technical capabilities and manage its employee base while effectively administering 
multiple relationships with various third parties. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able 
to manage its expanding operations effectively. Any failure to implement cohesive management and 



 
 
 

Radiko Holdings Corp. (FDBA International Cannabrands Inc.) 
Management’s Discussion & Analysis 

YE December 31, 2019 

 

Page 47 

operating systems, to add resources on a cost-effective basis or to properly manage the Company’s 
expansion could have a material adverse effect on its business and results of operations. 
 
The Company relies on key personnel 
 
The Company’s success will depend in large measure on certain key personnel. The Company does not 
have key personnel insurance, nor does the Company expect to obtain such insurance in the near future. 
The loss of the services of such key personnel may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The contributions of the existing 
management team to the immediate and near term operations of the Company are likely to be of central 
importance. In addition, there can be no assurance that The Company will be able to continue to attract 
and retain all personnel necessary for the development and operation of its business. Investors must rely 
upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion, integrity and good faith of the management of the 
Company. 
 
The Company has a history of operating losses 
 
The Company was formed in 2014 and has recorded fairly modest revenues to date. Since incorporation, 
the Company has accumulated net losses and expects such losses to continue through the initial stages 
of its operations. Management expects to continue to incur operating losses unless and until such time as 
product sales generate sufficient revenues to fund continuing operations. The Company has neither a 
history of earnings nor has it paid any dividends and it is unlikely to pay dividends or enjoy earnings in the 
immediate or foreseeable future. There is no assurance that the Company will produce a profit after the 
successful acquisition of the Company. 
 
The Company currently has a limited marketing capacity 
 
To be successful, the Company’s business must be successfully marketed. The market for the 
Company’s products and services has and is expected to grow significantly and may require substantial 
sales and marketing capability. At the present time, the Company has independent parties to market its 
products and services. There can be no assurance that the Company can continue to market, or can 
enter into satisfactory arrangements with third parties to continue to market its products and services in a 
manner that would assure its growth and acceptance in the market place. 
 
The Company’s Intellectual Property requires protection 
 
The Company’s success will depend to a significant degree upon its ability to develop, maintain and 
protect its brands, as well as the proprietary products it develops. The Company has not filed and does 
not intend to file patent applications in the United States as part of its strategy to protect its Intellectual 
Property. Therefore, third parties may be able to replicate the Company’s products and compete against 
it.   
 
The Company may have to engage in litigation to protect the Company’s Brands 
 
The Company’s future success and competitive position depends in part upon its ability to maintain its 
brands and related trademarks. The Company may be required to maintain registrations and filings 
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related to the intellectual property associated with its brands and take such action as is necessary to 
preserve, protect and advance the status of the brands, including taking such action as may be necessary 
to take enforcement against infringement or imitation of the brands.  Enforcement of the various 
trademarks in foreign jurisdictions will depend on the legal procedures in those jurisdictions. The 
Company’s involvement in intellectual property litigation could have a material adverse effect on its ability 
to distribute any products that are the subject of such litigation. In addition, the Company’s involvement in 
intellectual property litigation could result in significant expense, which could materially adversely affect 
the use responsibilities, whether or not such litigation is resolved in the Company’s favor. 
 
The Company will require additional capital to finance its operations in the future, but that capital may not 
be available when it is needed and could be dilutive to existing shareholders 
 
The Company may require additional capital for future operations and to fund investments. The Company 
plans to finance anticipated ongoing expenses and capital requirements with funds generated from the 
following sources: cash provided by operating activities; available cash and cash investments; and capital 
raised through debt and equity offerings. 
 
Current conditions in the capital markets are such that traditional sources of capital may not be available 
to the Company when needed or may be available only on unfavorable terms. The Company’s ability to 
raise additional capital, if needed, will depend on conditions in the capital markets, economic conditions 
and a number of other factors, many of which are outside its control, and on its financial performance. 
Accordingly, the Company cannot assure Shareholders that it will be able to successfully raise additional 
capital at all or on terms that are acceptable to it. If the Company cannot raise additional capital when 
needed, it may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity, financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects. Further, if the Company raises capital by issuing equity, the holdings of its 
existing shareholders will be diluted. 
 
If the Company raises capital by issuing debt securities, such debt securities would rank senior to its 
common shares upon its bankruptcy or liquidation. In addition, the Company may raise capital by issuing 
equity securities that may be senior to its common shares for the purposes of dividend and liquidating 
distributions, which may adversely affect the market price of its common shares. Finally, upon bankruptcy 
or liquidation, holders of its debt securities and preferred shares and lenders with respect to other 
borrowings will receive a distribution of the Company’s available assets prior to the common 
shareholders. Additional equity offerings may dilute the holdings of existing shareholders or reduce the 
market price of the Company’s common shares, or both. 
 
The Company does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future 
 
The Company intends to retain its future earnings, if any, in order to reinvest in the development and 
growth of its business and, therefore, does not intend to pay dividends on its common shares for the 
foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of its board of 
directors and will depend on its financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, and such 
other factors as its board of directors deems relevant. Accordingly, shareholders may need to sell their 
shares of the Company’s common shares to realize a return on their investment, and shareholders may 
not be able to sell their shares at or above the price they paid for them. 
 



 
 
 

Radiko Holdings Corp. (FDBA International Cannabrands Inc.) 
Management’s Discussion & Analysis 

YE December 31, 2019 

 

Page 49 

There is a limited market for the Company’s securities 
 
There can be no assurance that an active and liquid market for the Company’s securities will develop and 
an investor may find it difficult to resell any securities of the Company. 
 
We have limited insurance. 
 
We currently have limited directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and no limited commercial liability 
insurance policies. Any significant claims would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.   
The market price of our common stock may be volatile.  
 
The market price of our common stock has been and is likely in the future to be volatile. The Company’s 
common shares may fluctuate in response to factors such as:  
 
●     Halting of trading by the CSE, SEC or FINRA. 
 
● Announcements by us regarding liquidity, legal proceedings, significant acquisitions, equity

investments and divestitures, strategic relationships, addition or loss of significant customers and
contracts, capital expenditure commitments, loan, note payable and agreement defaults, loss of our 
subsidiaries and impairment of assets, 

      
● Issuance of convertible or equity securities for general or merger and acquisition purposes, 
      
● Issuance or repayment of debt, accounts payable or convertible debt for general or merger and

acquisition purposes, 
      
● Sale of a significant number of shares of our by shareholders, 
      
● General market and economic conditions, 
  
● Quarterly variations in our operating results, 
      
● Investor relation activities, 
      
● Announcements of technological innovations, 
      
● New product introductions by us or our competitors, 
      
● Competitive activities, and 
      
● Additions or departures of key personnel. 
  
These broad market and industry factors may have a material adverse effect on the market price of the 
Company’s shares, regardless of our actual operating performance. These factors could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and/or results of operations. 

Risks related to potential changes to determining Foreign Private Issuer status in the United States 

The Company is currently a Foreign Private Issuer as defined in Rule 405 under the U.S. Securities Act 
and Rule 3b-4 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).  The term 
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Foreign Private Issuer is defined as any non-U.S. corporation, other than a foreign government, except 
any issuer meeting the following conditions: 

(a)      more than 50 percent of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer are, directly or indirectly, 
held of record by residents of the United States; and 

(b)      any one of the following: 

(i)         the majority of the executive officers or directors are United States citizens or residents, or 

(ii)        more than 50 percent of the assets of the issuer are located in the United States, or 

(iii)       the business of the issuer is administered principally in the United States. 

A “holder of record” is defined by Rule 12g5-1 under the Exchange Act.  Generally speaking, the holder 
identified on the record of security holders is considered as the record holder. 

In December 2016, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued a Compliance and 
Disclosure Interpretation to clarify that issuers with multiple classes of voting stock carrying different 
voting rights may, for the purposes of calculating compliance with this threshold, examine either (i) the 
combined voting power of its share classes or (ii) the number of voting securities, in each case held of 
record by U.S. residents. Based on this interpretation, Based on this interpretation, each preferred share 
is counted as one and each common share is counted as one for the purposes of determining the 50 
percent U.S. resident threshold and the Company was a “foreign private issuer" upon closing of the 
Transaction.  The Company preferred share rights and preferences contain a limitation on conversion, 
which is designed to mitigation the risk that the Company will lose its “foreign private issuer" status. 
Should the SEC’s guidance and interpretation change, it is likely that the Company will lose its Foreign 
Private Issuer status.  

Risks related to the Company loss of foreign private issuer status in the United States 

The Company is currently a Foreign Private Issuer. If, as of the last business day of the Company’s 
second fiscal quarter for any year, more than 50% of the Company’s outstanding voting securities (as 
determined under Rule 405) are directly or indirectly held of record by residents of the United States, 
subject to certain exceptions, the Company may no longer meet the definition of a Foreign Private Issuer, 
which may have adverse consequences on the Company’s ability to raise capital in private placements or 
Canadian prospectus offerings.  In addition the loss of the Company’s Foreign Private Issuer status may 
likely result in increased reporting requirements and increased audit, legal and administration costs. 
These increased costs may significantly affect the Company’s results of operations and profitability. 

There are U.S. tax risks 

It is anticipated that Section 7874(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (“Code”) will apply to treat the 
Company as a U.S. domestic corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If, as anticipated, Section 
7874(b) were to apply, the Company would be subject to U.S. federal income tax as a U.S. domestic 
corporation on its worldwide income and any dividends paid by the Company to Non-U.S. holders may be 
subject to U.S. federal income tax withholding at a 30% rate or such lower rate as provided in an 
applicable treaty.  

Moreover, because the Company Shares will be treated as shares of a U.S. domestic corporation, the 
U.S. gift, estate and generation-skipping transfer tax rules generally apply to a “Non-U.S. Holder” of 
Company Shares. 

The transactions contemplated herein may result in an “ownership change” of Company within the 
meaning of the United States federal income tax laws addressing net operating loss carry-forwards, 
alternative minimum tax credits and other similar tax attributes. If an ownership change occurs, there will 
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be specific limitations on the ability to use net operating loss carry-forwards and other tax attributes from 
periods prior to the Business Combination. It is possible that such limitations could limit Company’s ability 
to utilize such tax attributes and, therefore, result in an increase in Company’s United States federal 
income tax liability. In addition, it is possible that all or a portion of Company’s net operating loss carry-
forwards may expire before they can be utilized. 

Prospective investors should discuss the tax consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of 
Company Shares with their own tax advisors.   

Potential Adverse Tax Consequences from the Payment of Dividends on the Company Shares 

The Company does not contemplate paying any dividends on the Company Shares in the foreseeable 
future. However, dividends received by shareholders who are residents of Canada for purpose of the ITA 
will be subject to U.S. withholding tax. Any such dividends may not qualify for a reduced rate of 
withholding tax under the Canada-United States Tax Convention. In addition, a foreign tax credit or a 
deduction in respect of foreign taxes may not be available. 

Dividends received by U.S. shareholders will not be subject to U.S. withholding tax but will be subject to 
Canadian withholding tax. After giving effect to the Transaction, it is anticipated that the Company will be 
considered to be a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As such, dividends paid by the 
Company will be characterized as U.S. source income for purposes of the foreign tax credit rules under 
the Code. Accordingly, U.S. shareholders generally would not be able to claim a credit for any Canadian 
tax withheld unless, depending on the circumstances, they have excess foreign tax credit limitation due to 
other foreign source income that is subject to a low or zero rate of foreign tax. 

Dividends received by shareholders that are neither Canadian nor U.S. shareholders will be subject to 
U.S. withholding tax and would also be subject to Canadian withholding tax. These dividends may not 
qualify for a reduced rate of U.S. withholding tax under any income tax treaty otherwise applicable to a 
shareholder of the Company, subject to examination of the relevant treaty.  

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 
Additional information relating to the Company including the audited financial statements for the years 
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, Annual Listing Statement for the year ended December 31, 2019, 
and press releases issued by the Company, are available under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. 



 

 

CERTIFICATE OF RADIKO HOLDINGS CORP. 

 

Dated: July 9, 2020 

The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to Radiko Holdings Corp.  
It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be 
stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the 
circumstances in which it was made. 

 

(Signed) "Steve Gormley"     (Signed) "Mark Scott"   
Steve Gormley      Mark Scott 
Chief Executive Officer and Director   Chief Financial Officer 
 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

(Signed) "Robert Yosaitis"     (Signed) "Scott Reeves"   
Robert Yosaitis      Scott Reeves 
Director       Director 
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